
Vestavia Hills 

City Council Agenda 

August 14, 2017 

6:00 PM 

1. Call to Order 

2. Roll Call 

3. Invocation – Dennis Anderson, Administrative Pastor – Vestavia Hills Baptist Church 

4. Pledge Of Allegiance 

5. Proclamation – National Senior Citizens Day 

6. Announcements and Guest Recognition 

7. City Manager’s Report 

8. Councilors’ Reports 

9. Approval of Minutes – June 19, 2017 (Work Session), July 17, 2017 (Work Session), and 

July 24, 2017 (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business 

10. Resolution Number 4964 – Annexation – 90-Day – 1644 Shades Crest Road; Michael 

Wedgworth, Owner (public hearing) 

11. Resolution Number 4968 – A Resolution Declaring A Weed And Other Vegetation 

Nuisance Pursuant To Ordinance Number 2567 And Directing The City Manager To 

Abate Said Nuisance (public hearing) 

12. Resolution Number 4969 – A Resolution Declaring A Weed And Other Vegetation 

Nuisance Pursuant To Ordinance Number 2567 And Directing The City Manager To 

Abate Said Nuisance (public hearing) 

13. Ordinance Number 2724 – An Ordinance Authorizing And Directing The Purchasing 

And Closing Of The Sale Of Real Estate (public hearing)  

New Business 

14. Resolution Number 4971 – A Resolution Accepting The 2015-2016 Audit For The City 

Of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

15. Resolution Number 4972 – A Resolution Determining That Certain Personal Property Is 

Not Needed For Public Or Municipal Purposes And Directing The Sale/Disposal Of Said 

Surplus Property 



16. Resolution Number 4973 – A Resolution Approving An Alcohol License For MD 

Alabama, LLC, D/B/A Metro Diner, Travis Anthony Grappo, Carl Walter Sahlsten, Jr. 

And Chris Thomas Sullivan, Executives (public hearing) 

New Business (Unanimous Consent Requested) 

First Reading (No Action Taken At This Meeting) 

17. Ordinance Number 2725 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 3308 Misty Lane, Lot 1, The 

Woods At Rocky Ridge; Jill And Will Smith, Owners (public hearing) 

18. Ordinance Number 2726 – Rezoning – 3308 Misty Lane, Lot 1, The Woods At Rocky 

Ridge; Rezone From Jefferson County E-2 (Residential) To Vestavia Hills R-1 

(Residential), Compatible Zoning For Annexation; Jill And Will Smith, Owners (public 

hearing) 

19. Ordinance Number 2727 – Rezoning – 3009 and 3017 Sunview Drive; Rezone From 

Vestavia Hills R-4 (Residential) To Vestavia Hills R-9 (Residential), Compatible Zoning 

For Annexation; DCR Group, LLC, Owners (public hearing) 

20. Ordinance Number 2728 – Rezoning – 3111 Pine Tree Drive; Rezone From Jefferson 

County R-1 (Residential) To Vestavia Hills O-1 (Office) with conditions, June Pryor, 

Owner (public hearing) 

21. Ordinance Number 2729 – Rezoning – 3118 Pine Tree Drive; Rezone From Vestavia 

Hills R-1 (Residential) To Vestavia Hills B-3 (Residential) with a conditional use and 

conditions, June Pryor ,Owner (public hearing) 

22. Resolution Number 4974 – A Resolution For Approval Of The Final 10% Of The 

Budget For The City Of Vestavia Hills, Alabama For The Fiscal Year 2016-2017 (public 

hearing) 

23. Resolution Number 4975 – A Resolution Approving And Adopting The General Fund 

Budget, A Special Revenue Fund Budget, A Capital Project Fund Budget, And A 

Sidewalk Project Fund Budget For The City Of Vestavia Hills For The Period Beginning 

October 1, 2017 Until September 30, 2018 (public hearing to be held September 11, 

2017 at 6:00 p.m.) 

24. Resolution Number 4976 – A Resolution Authorizing The Mayor To Execute And 

Deliver An Addendum To The Employment Contract For The City Manager (public 

hearing to be held August 16, 2017 at 6:00 p.m.) 

25. Citizen Comments  

26. Executive Session 

27. Motion For Adjournment 



City Council Minutes 

Page 1 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 

 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

MINUTES 
 

WORK SESSION 

 

JUNE 19, 2017 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in a regular work session on this date at 

6:00 PM following posting/publication as required by Alabama law.  The Mayor called 

the meeting to order and the roll with the following: 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry 

Kimberly Cook, Councilor 

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 

George Pierce, Councilor 

 

MEMBERS ABSENT:   Paul J. Head, Councilor 

 

OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  

      Patrick Boone, City Attorney 

      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 

Dan Rary, Police Chief 

Jason Hardin, Police Captain 

Marvin Green, Asst. Fire Chief 

 

 The Mayor indicated that he was putting together a Proclamation in Senator 

Waggoner’s honor as the longest serving member of the House and Senate, a total of 44 

years of service.  Being from Vestavia Hills, Senator Waggoner has always been very 

instrumental concerning legislative issues that affect the City. 

 

 The Mayor expressed concern over attendance of members of the various Boards, 

Commissions and Committees of the City.  He stated he has received reports of problems 

with attendance and stated that he intends to send a letter to members reminding them of 

the need for punctuality at meetings. 

 

 Kendall Carter, a high school student, has begun a club at the Vestavia Hills High 

School to get the area youth more involved in the Community.  The Mayor stated that he 

is very excited to have the opportunity to work with this new club on civic issues. 

 

 The Mayor expressed that the community has expressed concerns over the lack of 

regulation of drones within the city limits.  The police department has been searching 



City Council Minutes 

Page 2 

 

ordinances of other cities and will update the Council on a later date with 

recommendations. 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

 The Mayor indicated that the Council needed to go into executive session to 

discuss pending/existing litigation and the possible sale/purchase of real estate.  Mr. 

Boone concurred that the Council could go into executive session for this matter.  The 

Mayor estimated the session would last approximately 45 minutes and no other business 

would follow.  He then opened the floor for a motion 

 

MOTION Motion to enter into executive session for discussion of pending/existing 

litigation and the possible sale/purchase of real estate for an estimated 45 

minutes was by Mrs. Cook.  Second was by Mr. Weaver.  Roll Call vote 

as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Pierce – yes    

   Mr. Weaver – yes   Mayor Curry – yes  

         Motion carried. 

 

 The Council entered into Executive Session at 6:31 PM.  At 7:35 PM, the Council 

exited Executive Session and the Mayor called the work session back to order. 

 

 

 There being no further business, meeting adjourned at 7:36 PM. 

 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 

Page 1 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 

 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

MINUTES 
 

WORK SESSION 

 

JULY 17, 2017 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in a regular work session on this date at 

6:00 PM following posting/publication as required by Alabama law.  The Mayor called 

the meeting to order and the roll with the following: 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry 

Kimberly Cook, Councilor 

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 

George Pierce, Councilor 

 

MEMBERS ABSENT:   Paul J. Head, Councilor 

 

OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager  

      Patrick Boone, City Attorney 

      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 

Dan Rary, Police Chief 

Jason Hardin, Police Captain 

Marvin Green, Asst. Fire Chief 

Christopher Brady, City Engineer 

 

 Mr. Downes addressed local traffic concerns along Caldwell Mill Road which is a 

mix of both City and County developments.  He stated that they have been working with 

Jefferson County to study three individual intersections in an attempt to slow traffic that 

has begun using this route as “cut through” to get to the Camp Horner/Caldwell Mill 

intersection.  The City has agreed to survey two of the intersections in order to allow the 

County to determine funding for the needed improvements.  He stated that he hopes this 

will help to expedite the assistance needed by the residents of the area to slow and calm 

the traffic. 

 

 Lt. Johnny Evans addressed the council concerning some possible purchases of 

equipment by the Police Department.  He explained that these items needed to be 

purchased and invoiced prior to mid-August so the FBI would reimburse the City for the 

cost.  The items included a mobile analyzer that would help to open smart phones to 

obtain needed information during an investigation along with some “truck boxes” used in 

vehicles to store and secure weapons.  Because of the timing, this purchase was going to 



City Council Minutes 

Page 2 

 

be presented to the Council for unanimous consent and he asked the Council to support 

this purchase. 

 

 Mr. Downes addressed the Council concerning the past history of “thru road 

agreements” with Jefferson County and the City’s attempt to re-establish these 

agreements.  He indicated they are working with the County and suggested that 

Crosshaven Drive and GreenValley Road be added to the agreement but to remove Tyler 

and Massey Road.  He explained that the County would once again have maintenance 

responsibilities over these roadways and the City would continue to maintain sidewalks. 

 

 Mr. Downes updated the Council on needed street repairs and advised them of 

some emergency situations that are occurring due to the tremendous rainfall events that 

have come in recent months.  One situation has occurred at Morgan Drive in front of the 

shopping center that needs attention now and cannot wait on bidding.  He stated that the 

intent is to revise the resolution that was on as a first read at the last meeting and update it 

to declare this situation an emergency and increase the funding to allow these repairs. 

 

 Mr. Downes stated that there have been requests to livestream the City’s meetings 

and work sessions.  He indicated that it would take about $35,000 to update the Executive 

Council Room for the needed audio along with additional funding to equip the Council 

Chambers for livestreaming.  Discussion ensued as to the advantages and disadvantages 

of such an endeavor.  

 

 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 

 The Mayor indicated that the Council needed to go into executive session to 

discuss the possible sale/purchase of real estate.  The Mayor estimated the session would 

last approximately 45 minutes and no other business would follow.  He then opened the 

floor for a motion 

 

MOTION Motion to enter into executive session for discussion of the possible 

sale/purchase of real estate for an estimated 45 minutes was by Mrs. Cook.  

Second was by Mr. Pierce.  Roll Call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Pierce – yes    

   Mr. Weaver – yes   Mayor Curry – yes  

         Motion carried. 

 

 The Council entered into Executive Session at 7:35 PM.  At 8:15 PM, the Council 

exited Executive Session and the Mayor called the work session back to order. 

 

 

 

 

 

 There being no further business, meeting adjourned at 8:16 PM. 



City Council Minutes 

Page 3 

 

 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 



City Council Minutes 

July 24, 2017 

Page 1 

 

 CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 

 

CITY COUNCIL 

 

MINUTES 

 

JULY 24, 2017 
 

The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 6:00 PM.  The 

Mayor called the meeting to order and the City Clerk called the roll with the following: 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:   Mayor Ashley C. Curry  

Rusty Weaver, Mayor Pro-Tem 

Kimberly Cook, Councilor 

      Paul Head, Councilor 

      George Pierce, Councilor  

 

OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager 

      Patrick Boone, City Attorney 

      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 

      Dan Rary, Police Chief 

      Jason Hardin, Police Captain 

      Marvin Green, Interim Fire Chief 

      Keith Blanton, Building Safety Director 

      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 

      George Sawaya, Asst. Treasurer 

      Brian Davis, Public Services Director 

      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 

      Lori Beth Kearley, Asst. City Engineer 

      Cinnamon McCulley, Communications Specialist 

 

 

  Pastor Steve Blair, Church of the Highlands - Grants Mill Campus, provided the 

invocation, followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

 

PRESENTATION – VESTAVIA HILLS POLICE FOUNDATION 

 

 Mr. Ammons presented a Power Point presentation to introduce the creation of the new 

Vestavia Hills Police Foundation.  He stated the Foundation has obtained the 501c3 nonprofit 

designation.  He then introduced the new Board members:  Steve Ammons, President; Burke 

Swearengin, Vice President; Courtney Brown, Treasurer; Heather Pike, Secretary; Dave Horn, 

Captain Brian Gilliam, Ex-officio.  Mr. Ammons explained the mission of the Foundation 

which is “to support the Vestavia Hills Police Department, its officers, their families and the 



City Council Minutes 

July 24, 2017 

Page 2 

 

City of Vestavia Hills” along with several goals and objections including community outreach, 

benevolence and education/development. 

 

 Charlie Long, Chaplain, presented a check to the Multiple Sclerosis Society on behalf of 

the Police Foundation in honor of those suffering from the disease.   

 

Officer Curtis Peacock, introduced his wife, Regina, along with Jennifer Ely, the 

Chairperson of the MS Foundation.  He stated each of these ladies suffer from MS which has 

significantly their lives.  He stated that he is honored that the Foundation is working to better 

the lives of these individuals.   

 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION  

 

 Mrs. Cook announced that there will be a Board of Education meeting on July 31, 2017 .  

She noted that there is a bid for vendor services for online store of trademark items for 

the Board of Education and advised anyone interested to contact the Board for more 

information.  She also stated that VHLPMS is searching for a German teacher; contact 

the Principal if interested. 

 Mr. Pierce welcomed Chamber of Commerce members Scott Perry and Anna Hamiter to 

the meeting. 

 Mr. Pierce announced that the annual Back to School in the Hills is scheduled to begin 

at 6:30 PM on August 11, 2017 at the Cahaba Heights Sports Park.  He advised anyone 

with questions to contact Lisa Christopher at the Chamber. 

 Mr. Weaver stated that the Planning and Zoning Commission considered some rezoning 

requests at the last meeting and all of the requests received positive recommendations.  

These requests should come to Council soon. 

 Mayor Curry announced that August 21, 2017 is National Senior Citizens Day.  

Observance of the day will be here at the City Hall with special guests, Senator Jabo 

Waggoner and Gov. Kay Ivey coming to honor this day with our seniors. 

 

 

CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

 

 Mr. Downes stated that over the past several months there have been repeated heavy rain 

events throughout the City.  He explained that he has worked with Public Services and 

has developed the “Stormwater Infrastructure Issues in the City” which identifies several 

apparent needed repairs.  He described what the City has done up to this point, what’s 

happened and what’s needing to be done.  This detail was presented to the audience and 

explained.  Mr. Downes stated these are the improvements that are now “known” as 

needed, however, more deficiencies might manifest as time passes.  The recent rains 

have created many problems - one of the largest appears to be evolving on Morgan 

Drive in the right-of-way at the shopping center and requires immediate attention.  He 

gave a summation of the gas tax revenues and the use for said revenues. He explained 

the changes in personnel including the recent hiring of an assistant engineer, contracting 

grass cutting in order to allow Public Works personnel to focus on infrastructure 



City Council Minutes 

July 24, 2017 

Page 3 

 

maintenance.  Mr. Downes stated that the new budget will include the hiring of an 

employee specifically hired to study stormwater issues throughout the City.  He stated 

all of these steps are necessary to bring the City toward the MP4 specifications that’ll be 

required of the City within the next 12 months.  He stated that tonight, the Council will 

be presented a Resolution to use the remainder of the gas tax revenues along with an 

emergency allocation to replace/repair the pipe along Morgan Drive to be derived from 

Capital Reserves. 

o Mr. Weaver thanked the Engineering Department and stated that he knows they 

are overworked, especially during these trying times.  He also acknowledged the 

work of the City Manager to trying to work through private property issues that 

affect the public. 

o Mr. Pierce asked if the replacement of the pipe at Morgan Drive is top priority.  

Mr. Downes stated that it is because it’s blocking deliveries to the shopping 

center.  He stated that the magnitude of this project warrants these actions but 

they do need to put more dedicated resources to avoid this type of situation in the 

future. 

o Mrs. Cook asked if this will affect school traffic.  Mr. Brady stated the hope 

there’ll not be a problem but there might be some temporary lane closures and 

relocation of utilities. 

o Mr. Head asked for a clarification of the costs of the projects.  Mr. Downes 

explained. 

o Discussion ensued as to the repair of the parking lot, if Council approval is 

needed if the funds prove insufficient, utility relocations, legality of private 

property repairs by the City, etc.   

o Mr. Boone stated that if this is approved, Mr. Morgan will have to give a 

construction easement to complete this process.  He stated that the Council can 

give this if it serves a public purpose and explained why this does qualify. 

 

 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 

 

 Mr. Head announced that the Community Spaces meetings will begin again this week 

starting on Wednesday and be held at various times.  Details are posted on the City’s 

website. 

 Mrs. Cook stated that the City has been working with the vendor to livestream these 

Community Spaces meetings.  She stated if someone cannot make it, they can listen 

online and have the opportunity to use the Vestavia Listens portal to allow some 

participation from home. 

 The Mayor encouraged everyone to attend these meetings to give some opinions and to 

dialog with the vendor for a better product. 

 

 

FINANCIAL REPORTS 

 

 Mr. Turner presented the financial reports for month ending June 2017.  He read and 

explained the balances. 



City Council Minutes 

July 24, 2017 

Page 4 

 

 

 Mrs. Cook pointed out that the revenues are up this year which is a sign of positive 

growth in the City.   

 

 Mr. Pierce pointed out that this is a slow month, but overall for the year, the City is 

carrying a positive balance. 

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

The minutes of the July 10, 2017, regular meeting were presented for approval. 

 

MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of July 10, 2017, regular 

meeting and approve them as presented was by Mr. Pierce and second by Mr. 

Weaver.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  

   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes  

   Mayor Curry – yes   Motion carried. 

 

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4970 

 

Resolution Number 4970 – A Resolution Determining That Certain Personal Property Is 

Not Needed For Public Or Municipal Purposes And Directing The Sale/Disposal Of 

Said Surplus Property  

 

MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4970 was made by Mr. Weaver and 

second was by Mrs. Cook.  

 

 Mr. Downes explained that this Resolution surpluses an old 2000 Grand Marquis that 

was formerly Mayor Reynolds service vehicle and has served as a pool car for years.  The 

vehicle is no longer operable and has exceeded its expected usage in the City. 

 

 There being no one to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and 

called for the question. 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  

   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes  

   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 

 

 

 



City Council Minutes 

July 24, 2017 

Page 5 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4967 

 

Resolution Number 4967 – A Resolution Authorizing The Mayor And City Manager To 

Execute And Deliver Into A Second Amendment To The Remediation Agreement 

Regarding Property Located At 1756 Indian Creek Drive, Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

 

MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4967 was made by Mrs. Cook and second 

was by Mr. Weaver.  

 

 Mr. Downes stated that this Indian Creek Drive property has been on ongoing issue.  He 

stated that the process of abatement of a nuisance began a few months ago and a mediation 

agreement was initially reached.  The owner has partially complied with this agreement and the 

property has improved considerably, but still hasn’t fulfilled the terms of the agreement.  For 

instance, one of the requirements was for her to put forth a good effort to sell the property; 

another was not to inhabit the home during the overnight hours.  These issues have proved 

challenging and this amendment to the agreement reduces the maximum sales price to $725,000 

to make the property more marketable and further limits the ability to allow individuals to 

occupy the premises overnight in an effort to overcome these last two problems. 

 

 Mayor Curry asked if this Resolution sets forth the requirement for a new realtor.  Mr. 

Boone stated that Martha Turner is the realtor and this document sets forth her listing until next 

January.  He gave a brief background of this request which dates back to the previous Council.  

He explained that this amendment does not relinquish the City’s right to demolish this home if 

these agreements are not followed. 

 

 Discussion ensued as to further action of the Council, provisions in the agreement, 

repercussions of non-compliance, etc.  All of the City’s actions are led by Attorney Ben 

Goldman, Hand Arendall.  He has negotiated this second amendment. 

 

 There being no one to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and 

called for the question. 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  

   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes  

   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS (UNANIMOUS CONSENT REQUESTED) 

 

 The Mayor opened the floor for unanimous consent for the immediate consideration and 

action on Resolution Number 4962 and Resolution Number 4966. 

 

MOTION Motion for unanimous consent for the immediate consideration and action on 

Resolution Number 4962 and Resolution Number 4966 was by Mr. Weaver.  

Second was by Mr. Pierce.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  

   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes  



City Council Minutes 

July 24, 2017 

Page 6 

 

   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 

 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4962 

 

Resolution Number 4962 – A Resolution Authorizing the City Manager To Allocate 

Funding Within The Gas Tax Fund Budget And Capital Reserve Fund For Fiscal 

Year 2016-2017 For Street Resurfacing And Infrastructure Repair (public hearing) 

 

MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4962 was made by Mrs. Cook and second 

was by Mr. Weaver.  

 

 The Mayor stated that the City Manager had discussed his during his opening comments 

and an amendment was needed in order to insert the amount of funding being requested.  He 

opened the floor for a motion for an amendment to Resolution Number 4962.   

 

MOTION Motion to amend Resolution Number 4962 to insert $300,000 for the total cost as 

earlier described by Mr. Downes was by Mrs. Cook.  Mr. Pierce seconded the 

motion.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  

   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes  

   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 

 

 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing. 

 

 Mr. Boone stated that the City Council has the legal authority to declare this situation a 

public issue and an emergency situation that allows for the project to be completed without 

going through the competitive bid process and allows the City Manager to spend the requested 

funds. 

 

 There being no one to address the Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and 

called for the question. 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  

   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes  

   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 

 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4966 

 

Resolution Number 4966 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Purchase 

Certain Equipment For The Vestavia Hills Police Department To Be Reimbursed 

By The FBI(public hearing) 

 

MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4966 was made by Mrs. Cook and second 

was by Mr. Weaver.  

 



City Council Minutes 

July 24, 2017 

Page 7 

 

 Chief Rary explained that this purchase is equipment deemed needed by the Police 

Department the cost will be reimbursed by the FBI.  He indicated one of the items would allow 

the Police Department to unlock smartphones without going through the individual 

manufacturer.  He stated they are also requesting several ‘truck vaults’ which will allow storage 

of certain long guns in the police vehicles.  The purchases have to be made as soon as possible 

in order to have the invoices into the FBI for reimbursement by August 15, 2017.  

 

 The Mayor opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to address the 

Council, the Mayor closed the public hearing and called for the question. 

   Mrs. Cook – yes   Mr. Head – yes  

   Mr. Pierce – yes   Mr. Weaver – yes  

   Mayor Curry – yes    Motion carried. 

 

 

FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 

 The Mayor stated that the following resolutions and/or ordinances will be presented at a 

public hearing at the Council’s next regular meeting on August 14, 2017, at 6:00 PM. 

 Resolution Number 4964 – Annexation – 90-Day – 1644 Shades Crest Road; Michael 

Wedgworth, Owner (public hearing) 

 Resolution Number 4968 – A Resolution Declaring A Weed And Other Vegetation 

Nuisance Pursuant To Ordinance Number 2567 And Directing The City Manager To 

Abate Said Nuisance (public hearing) 

 Resolution Number 4969 – A Resolution Declaring A Weed And Other Vegetation 

Nuisance Pursuant To Ordinance Number 2567 And Directing The City Manager To 

Abate Said Nuisance (public hearing) 

 Ordinance Number 2724 – An Ordinance Authorizing And Directing The Purchasing 

And Closing Of The Sale Of Real Estate   (public hearing) 

  

CITIZEN COMMENTS 

 

 None. 

 

 Mr. Pierce recognized Cahaba Heights Foundation and the Cahaba Heights Merchants 

Association for the Meadowlawn Movies.  He stated he appreciates their efforts for Christmas 

in July and indicated this is a great use for this park. 

 

 Mrs. Cook thanked the Cahaba Heights Merchants Association which raised $1,800 to 

fund the cost of putting this movie event in place and it was very much appreciated. 

 

 

 

 

 



City Council Minutes 

July 24, 2017 

Page 8 

 

 

 At 7:19 PM, Mrs. Cook made a motion to adjourn.  The meeting adjourned at 7:20 PM. 

 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor  

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 



Resolution Number 4964 

Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4964 
 

 A RESOLUTION PROPOSING THE ANNEXATION 

OF CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE CORPORATE 

LIMITS OF THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 

ALABAMA. 

 

 WHEREAS, there has been a petition filed with the City Clerk of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and herein presented to the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, dated May 9, 2017, wherein all owners of certain property contiguous to 

the City Limits of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, ask that their property be annexed 

to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama; and 

 WHEREAS, said Petition has been presented to the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, on the 14th day of August, 2017; and 

 WHEREAS, it would be in the best interest of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, and to the citizens thereof to consider annexation of said territory and bringing 

it within the corporate limits of this Municipality; and 

 WHEREAS, said petitioners must comply with Act #604, 1970 Alabama 

Legislature regarding Fire Districts (property owners are to be responsible for fire dues if 

they are within another Fire District at the time of the annexation petition). 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the said Petition shall be published one (1) time in The Birmingham 

News, a newspaper of general circulation in Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, 

on the 2
nd

 day of August, 2017. 

 2.  That on the 27th day of November, 2017, in the Vestavia Hills City Hall, a 

public hearing will be held to determine the truths of the matter set forth in said petition 

and to consider any protests or objections filed in writing with the City Clerk prior to 

such hearing, to determine whether it is in the public interest or not that said property be 

annexed to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and to consider adoption of an Ordinance 

annexing the territory described in said petition to this Municipality. 

 3.  That this Resolution shall become known and referred to as Resolution 

Number 4964 by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, and as 



Resolution Number 4964 

Page 2 

 

annexation of the following described property by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

1644 Shades Crest Road 

Michael Wedgworth, Owner(s) 

 

Legal Description: 

 

Beginning 209 feet West of the Southeast corner of the Southwest ¼ of the 

Northwest ¼ of Secion 25, Township 18, Range 3 West; thence North 973.5 feet 

to Columbiana Road; thence Northwardly along the South side of said road 414 

feet; thence South 1,075.08 feet; thence East 281.82 feet to the point of beginning. 

 

Situated in Jefferson County, Alabama, Birmingham Division. 

 

Less and except any portion of subject property lying within a road right of way. 

 

Being more particularly described as follows: 

 

Begin at an iron pin found at the intersection of the West line of Overlook Crest 

as recorded in Map Book 210 on Page 43 in the Office of the Judge of Probate, 

Jefferson County, Alabama, Birmingham Division and the North Right-of-Way 

line of Shades Crest Road; thence run in a Westerly direction along said North 

Right-of-Way line for a distance of 281.21 feet to a concrete monument found; 

thence turn an interior counterclockwise angle to the left of 89°39’02” and run in 

a Northerly direction for a distance of 826.12 feet to a concrete monument found 

on the South Right-of-Way line of Green Springs Highway and also being on a 

curve to the right having a central angle of 26°34’00” and a radius of 644.50 feet; 

thence turn an interior counterclockwise angle to the left to the chord of said 

curve and run in a Southeasterly direction along the arc of said curve and also 

along said South Right-of-Way line for a distance of 298.84 feet to a ½” rebar 

found; then turn an interior counterclockwise angle to the left from the chord of 

said curve of 111°16’52” and run Southerly along the West line of Overlook Crest 

as recorded in Map Book 210 on Page 43 in the Office of the Judge of Probate, 

Jefferson County, Alabama, Birmingham Division for a distance of 718.68 feet to 

the Point of Beginning. 

 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

 

 



Resolution Number 4964 

Page 3 

 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

1644 Shades Crest Road 
Michael Wedgworth 

 
 



Property:

Owners:

Date:

Annexation Committee Petition Review

L^ SwLo CUsf ...

7/"Ai
l. The property irmuesTion is contiguous to the city limits.

Yes t -/No Comments:

2. The land use af-the'petitioned property is compatible with land use in the area.
Yes w""^ No Comments:

3. The property being petitioned is noted in the September 2006 Annexation Policy
Task Force Rejp&rTas an area of interest to the city for annexation.
Yes >-/ No Comments

4. Streets and drainage structures are in substantial compliance with city regulations
and building codes, and in good condition at the time of the annexation.
Yes . ^^ No Comments

5. Individual household has a Jefferson or Shelby County Tax Assessor minimum
market value of hiI /-j— Meets city criteria: Yes No
Comment:

6. This street has fewer than 100% of the individual properties within the limits of
the city
Yes No / a
Number of total homes A/jJ^J _Number in city

7. Fire dues pursuant to Act #604 of the State of Alabama, and any other
assessments on the property shall be the responsibility of the property owner, and
their payment proven to the city. ^S
Agreed to by petitioner: Yes *^ No Comment



Property: JW4 5iv<*Ao b^ Q*aJ
8. A non-refundable administrative fee of$100 has been paid tothe city.

Furthermore, voluntary contributions, including an application fee, of
$ will be paid to offset costs associated with the annexation.

CommentYes No

9. Property is fip^nd clear ofhazardous waste, debris and materials.
Yes \ X'Ho Comment

10. Are there any concerns fromj&itjrSepartments?
Yes No i^Comments:

11 .Information on children: Number in family ffi/Ar ;Plan to enroll in VH
schools Yes No Comment^:

12. Roard of Education comments/concerns: // 0/7 fc p&t f& &r
A^tfeeAhL* ys)

Other Comments:

Cfeorge Pierce
Chairman

4-1 H*h

£+-



   Unfiled Notes Page 19    









SHADES CREST RD

HOLLY

RD

ERWIN CIR

WOODBINE DR

VESTAVIEW LN

SH
AD

ES
 C

RE
ST

 R
D

JACOBS
RD

AR
BO

R 
LN

MOUNTAIN
GAP
CIR

OV
ER

LO
OK

C RS
T

GLENWOOD
RD

FLOWERW OODDR

WHITEWAY

OLD COLUMBIANA RD

CR
ES

TM
ON

T
DR

OLD
CO

LU
MBIA

NA
RD

CO
LU

MBIA
NA

RD

COLUMBIANA RD

WO
OD

VIE
W 

DR

Subject Property

Jefferson County
Homewood

Vestavia Hills
Hoover ®

Department of GIS
City of Vestavia Hills

May 23, 2017

1644 Shades Crest Road





















MOUNTAIN GAPCIR

SHADES CREST RD

HOLLY RD

WOODBINE DR

OL
D CO

LU
MBIA

NA
RDCAMDEN AVE

UN
NA

ME
D

RD
CO

LU
MBIA

NA
RD

BERRY RD COLUMBIANA RD

WOODMERE DR

JACOBS

RD

KE
NT

 W
AY

HICKORY KNLS

KENTWAY

AR
BO

R 
LN

OV
ER

LO
OK

C R
ST

UNNAM
ED

RD

OLD COLUMBIANA
RD

GLENWOOD RD

CR
ES

TM
ON

T
DRHI

GH
HIL

L AVE

WHITE WAY

CH
ES

TE
R 

ST

Subject Property

®Department of GIS
City of Vestavia Hills

June 1, 2017

1644 Shades Crest Road
Area Map of Houses/Buildings

Jefferson County
Homewood

Vestavia Hills
Hoover













SHADES CREST RD

HOLLY

RD

ERWIN CIR

WOODBINE DR

VESTAVIEW LN

SH
AD

ES
 C

RE
ST

 R
D

JACOBS
RD

AR
BO

R 
LN

MOUNTAIN
GAP
CIR

OV
ER

LO
OK

C RS
T

GLENWOOD
RD

FLOWERW OODDR

WHITEWAY

OLD COLUMBIANA RD

CR
ES

TM
ON

T
DR

OLD
CO

LU
MBIA

NA
RD

CO
LU

MBIA
NA

RD

COLUMBIANA RD

WO
OD

VIE
W 

DR

Subject Property

B-1
B-1*

B-2
B-3*

Inst-1
Inst-1*

R-2
R-2/PART

R-9

®Department of GIS
City of Vestavia Hills

May 23, 2017

1644 Shades Crest Road



Article 5 RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS 

p. 5-3 

§5.3. R-2 Medium Density Residential District 

This district is intended to accommodate 
detached, single-family dwellings on 
moderately-sized lots together with other 
uses, as may be permitted on appeal, which 
are compatible with such residential uses. 

5.3.1. Use Regulations: See Table 5 (at the end 
of this Article) for Permitted Uses, 
Special Exception Uses, and Conditional 
Uses.  

1. Only low intensity institutional uses shall 
be permitted and only by Special 
Exception per §12.3 or as Conditional 
Uses per §13.3, as indicated in Table 5. 

5.3.2. Area and Dimensional Regulations. The 
area and dimensional regulations set 
forth following and in Table 5.3 shall be 
observed (See also Article 4 General 
Regulations): 

1. Only one main structure and its 
accessory buildings may be built on any 
lot of record, which, at the time of 
enactment of this Ordinance, is 
separately owned. 

2. On no lot separately owned shall the 
aggregate width of required side yards be 
such that less than twenty-four (24) feet 
of the width of the lot be left to build 
upon after side yard requirements are 
observed. 

5.3.3. Development Standards. 

1. For accessory structures, see §4.4. 

2. For parking requirements, see Article 8. 

3. For landscaping requirements for 
permitted non-residential uses, see 
Article 9. 

4. For sign regulations, see Article 11. 

 
Table 5.3 R-2 District Area and Dimensional 

Regulations 
Min. Floor Area 1,600 sq. ft. 
Min. Yard Setbacks 

Front 50 ft 
Rear 30 ft 
Side 15 ft 

Min. Lot Area 15,000 sq. ft. 
Min. Lot Width 100 ft 

Max. Building Height 35 ft or 2 ½ stories, 
whichever is less 

Max. Building Area 
On percent of lot 30% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2331 
Vestavia Hills Zoning Code 

p. 7-2 

equipment and provided no clients or 
customers shall be allowed on premises. 

The Board of Zoning Adjustment may 
approve other home occupations per 
§12.3 Special Exceptions so long as they 
present no greater impact on the 
neighborhood than those listed above and 
provided conditions required by the BZA 
will be met to limit noise, traffic or other 
impacts that might otherwise disrupt the 
residential character of the neighborhood.  

§7.2. Gas and Service Stations 
7.2.1. Use Limitations  

1. The following uses shall be prohibited: 
painting, body work, major repair, 
dismantling for recovery of parts, and 
sales or rental of motor vehicles or 
trailers. 

2. Service stations shall not include more 
than three (3) service bays. 

7.2.2. Area and Dimensional Regulations 

1. All oil drainage pits and hydraulic lifts 
shall be located within an enclosed 
Structure and shall be located no closer 
than fifty (50) feet to an abutting 
residential lot line and no closer than 
twenty-five (25) feet to any other lot line. 

2. All permitted mechanical repair work 
shall be conducted within an enclosed 
structure and shall be located no closer 
than fifty (50) feet to any abutting 
residential lot line and no closer than 
twenty-five (25) feet to any other lot line. 

3. Fuel pumps, pump islands and other 
service facilities may occupy required 
yards; however, such shall be set back at 
least fifteen (15) feet from any lot line. 
Canopies shall not extend closer than 
five (5) feet to any lot line. 

7.2.3. No storage of vehicles shall be permitted 
for periods in excess of thirty (30) days. 
Vehicles shall not be permitted to remain 

on the property longer than forty-eight 
(48) hours unless such vehicles are stored 
within an enclosed building or within a 
rear or side yard screened in accordance 
with §9.4 Screening. 

§7.3. Conservation Subdivisions 

7.3.1. Intent 

1. To provide the flexibility to achieve the 
most effective development on lands that 
are constrained by natural hazards, 
environmentally sensitive areas or 
environmental regulations, which may 
limit the amount or type of development 
on such properties; 

2. To enhance quality of life by promoting 
the creation of accessible greenspace 
throughout the community; 

3. To protect sensitive, environmental land 
features to protect the health and safety 
of residents and neighboring property 
owners; 

4. To reduce erosion and sedimentation by 
minimizing land disturbance and removal 
of vegetation; 

5. To encourage interaction within the 
community by allowing clustering of 
homes and orienting them closer to the 
street, thereby providing gathering places 
and encouraging the use of parks as focal 
points within the community; 

6. To encourage street systems that tend to 
reduce traffic speeds and reliance on 
main arteries. 

7. To promote construction of convenient 
walking trails, bike paths, and greenways 
within new developments that are 
connected to Adjacent neighborhoods 
and activity centers to increase 
accessibility for pedestrians and 
bicyclists; and 



8. 

7.3.2. 

7.3.3. 

7.3.4. 

1. 

2. 

To reduce pe
a maximum n
access to and

Applicability
Subdivision o
by right in an
single-family
permitted. Th
with all other
Ordinance an
regulations, e
modified as s

Ownership of
tract of land t
developed ma
separate, and 
in multiple ow
developed ac
common auth
maintenance 
by the City A

Density Dete
number of lot
minimum lot 
District, the m
by City or Co
standards for 
density limita
the maximum
district, whic
Furthermore,
also take into
necessary for
subdivision r
calculation, th
included in th
Parcel: 

Bodies of ope
contiguous ar

Wetlands, as 
the Army Co
Section 404 o

rceived densit
number of lots
d views of ope

y. The Conserv
option is avail
ny zoning distr
y detached dw
he applicant sh
r provisions of
nd all other ap
except those w
specified with

f Developmen
to be subdivid
ay be held in 
multiple own

wnership, the 
cording to a s

hority and com
responsibility

Attorney. 

rmination. Th
ts shall be det
size of the Ap

minimum lot s
ounty Health D
septic tank u

ation where ap
m density of th
hever is most
 density deter

o account the a
r internal stree
equirements. 
he following 
he total acreag

en water over
rea; and 

defined by th
rps of Engine
of the Clean W

ty by providin
s with direct 

en space. 

vation 
lable as a use 
rict in which 

wellings may b
hall comply 
f this 

pplicable 
which may be 
hin this Section

nt Site. The 
ded and/or 
single, 

nership. If hel
site shall be 

single plan wi
mmon 
y as approved 

he maximum 
termined by th
pplicable 
size as require
Department 
se (or similar 
pplicable), or 
he applicable 
t restrictive. 
rmination shal
amount of lan
ets and other 
In making thi
shall not be 
ge of the 

r 5,000 sq. ft. o

he City or by 
eers pursuant t
Water Act.  

ng 

be 

n. 

d 

ith 

he 

ed 

ll 
nd 

is 

of 

to 

7.3

 

Artic

3.5. Applicati

1. Site Anal
with the s
the applic
site analy
analysis m
site featur
identified
design, an
will meet
Section. T
include th

a. Propert
b. All stre

flood h
hydrolo

c. All bou
buffer 
way; 

d. Topogr
interva

e. All Prim
Conser
describ

f. Genera
g. Genera
h. Planne

Space;
i. Existin
j. Potenti

greensp

cle 7 USE-SPEC

ion Requireme

lysis Map Req
submission of
cant shall prep
ysis map. The 
map is to ensu
res have been

d prior to the c
nd that the pro
t the requirem
The site analy
he following: 

ty boundaries
eams, rivers, l
hazard bounda
ogic features;
undaries of ap
areas, easeme

raphy at 5-fee
als; 
mary and Sec
rvation Areas 
bed in §7.3.6; 
al vegetation c
al soil types; 
d location of 

ng roads and s
ial connection
pace and trail

CIFIC REGULAT

ents 

quired. Concu
f a subdivision
pare and subm
purpose of th

ure that impor
n adequately 
creation of the
oposed open s

ments of this 
ysis map shall 

s; 
lakes, wetland
aries, and othe
 

pplicable regu
ents, and right

et or smaller 

condary 
labeled by ty

characteristics

protected Ope

structures; and
ns with existin
s. 

TIONS 

p. 7-3 

urrent 
n plat, 

mit a 
he site 
rtant 

e site 
space 

ds, 
er 

ulated 
ts-of-

ype, as 

s; 

en 

d 
ng 

 



p. 7-4 

2. 

3. 

4. 

7.3.6. 

Conservation
developer sha
subdivision p
lots than iden
conservation 
identify open
accord with §
which do not 
requirements 
The Conserva
include an Op
Plan, as descr
prepared and 
issuance of a 

Instrument of
Required. An
protection, su
easement or p
covenant and
shall be place
concurrent w
disturbance p

Other Requir
adhere to all 
requirements 
and the Subd

Open Space M
purposes of c
open space is
the conservat
subdivision th
permanent pr
the open spac

n Subdivision 
all prepare a c
plan which yie
ntified under §
subdivision p

n spaces to be 
§7.3.6 and ma

meet the size
of the applica

ation Subdivi
pen Space Ma
ribed in §7.3.6
submitted pri
land disturba

f Permanent P
n instrument o
uch as a conse
permanent res

d as described 
ed on the open

with the issuan
permit. 

rements. The a
other applicab
of the applica
ivision Regul

Management P
conservation s
s defined as th
tion developm
hat has been s
rotection. Acti
ce are restricte

Plan. The 
conservation 
elds no more 
§7.3.4. The 
plan shall 
protected in 

ay include lots
e and setback 
able district. 
sion Plan shal
anagement 
6 and shall be
ior to the 

ance permit. 

Protection 
of permanent 
ervation 
strictive 
in §7.3.6.5, 

n space 
ce of a land 

applicant shal
ble 
able district 
lations. 

Plan. For the 
subdivisions, 
he portion of 
ment or 
set aside for 
ivities within 
ed in perpetui

s 

ll 

e 

 

ll 

ity 

through th
approved

1. Standards

a. The mi
shall co
percent

b. The fol
Conser
be inclu
unless 
this pro
unusua
purpos
Subdiv

(1) The 10
(2) Ripari

width 
stream
Geolo
quadra

(3) Slopes
of at le
area; 

(4) Wetla
jurisdi
the Cl

(5) Existin
conne
and  

(6) Archa
burial 

c. The fol
Second
should 
space t

(1) Impor
(2) Existin

least o
(3) Indivi

greate
and 

O
Vesta

he use of a leg
d by the City A

s to Determin

inimum restri
omprise at lea
t of the gross 
llowing are co
rvation Areas 
uded within th
the applicant 
ovision would
al hardship an
es of the Con

vision: 
00-year flood
ian zones of a
along perenn

m shown on th
ogical Survey 
angle topogra
s above twent
east 10,000 sq

ands determine
ictional by the
lean Water Ac
ng and planne
ct the site to n

aeological site
grounds. 

llowing are co
dary Conserva
be included w

to the maximu
rtant historic s
ng healthy, na

one (1) acre co
idual existing 
er than eight (8

rdinance Numbe
avia Hills Zonin

gal instrumen
Attorney. 

ne Open Space

cted open spa
ast twenty-fiv
tract area. 

onsidered Prim
and are requi
he open space
demonstrates

d constitute an
nd be counter t
nservation 

dplain; 
at least 75 feet
nial and interm
he United Stat
(USGS) 

aphic maps.  
ty-five (25) pe
q. ft. contiguo

ed to be 
e Corps pursu
ct;  
ed trails that 
neighboring a

es, cemeteries 

onsidered 
ation Areas an
within the ope
um extent feas
sites  
ative forests o
ontiguous are
healthy trees 
8) inches calip

er 2331 
ng Code 

nt 

e 

ace 
e (25) 

mary 
ired to 
e, 
s that 
n 
to the 

t 
mittent 
tes 

ercent 
ous 

uant to 

areas; 

and 

nd 
en 
sible: 

of at 
a;  

per; 



Article 7 USE-SPECIFIC REGULATIONS 

p. 7-5 

(4) Other significant natural features and 
scenic viewsheds, particularly those 
that can be seen from public streets. 

d. Utility rights-of-way and small areas 
of impervious surface may be included 
within the protected open space but 
cannot be counted towards the twenty-
five (25) percent minimum area 
requirement (exception: historic 
Structures and existing trails may be 
counted). Large areas of impervious 
surface, such as streets and parking 
lots shall be excluded from the open 
space. 

e. At least thirty-three (33) percent of the 
open space shall be suitable for 
passive recreational use. 

f. At least seventy-five (75) percent of 
the open space shall be in a contiguous 
tract, which may be divided by a local 
Street whose area shall be excluded 
from the open space. The open space 
shall adjoin any neighboring areas of 
open space, other protected areas, and 
non-protected natural areas that would 
be candidates for inclusion as part of a 
future area of protected open space. 

g. The open space shall be directly 
accessible to the largest practicable 
number of lots and/or Buildings within 
the site. Non-abutting lots shall be 
provided with safe, convenient access 
to the open space. 

2. The following uses shall be permitted 
within the open space: 

a. Conservation of natural, archeological 
or historical resources;  

b. Meadows, woodlands, wetlands, 
wildlife corridors, game preserves, or 
similar conservation-oriented areas;  

c. Boardwalks or walking /bicycle trails 
constructed of porous paving 
materials; 

d. Passive recreation areas, such as open 
fields;  

e. Active recreation areas, provided that 
they are limited to no more than ten 
(10) percent of the total open space 
and are not located within Primary 
Conservation Areas. Active recreation 
areas may include impervious 
surfaces. Active recreation areas in 
excess of this limit must be located 
outside of the protected open space.  

f. Landscaped Stormwater Management 
facilities, community wastewater 
disposal systems and individual 
wastewater disposal systems located 
on soils particularly suited to such 
uses. Such facilities shall be located 
outside of Primary Conservation 
Areas;  

g. Easements for drainage, access, and 
underground utility lines;  

h. Other conservation-oriented uses 
compatible with the purposes of this 
Ordinance. 

3. The following uses shall be prohibited 
within the open space: 

a. Golf courses;  
b. Roads, parking lots and similar 

impervious surfaces, except as 
specifically authorized in the previous 
sections;  

c. Agricultural and forestry activities not 
conducted according to accepted best 
management practices;  

d. Impoundments; and 
e. Other activities as determined by the 

applicant and recorded on the legal 
instrument providing for permanent 
protection. 

4. Ownership and Management of Open 
Space. Ownership and maintenance of 
the common open space and any 
facilities thereon shall be as provided for 



Ordinance Number 2331 
Vestavia Hills Zoning Code 

p. 7-6 

in §4.6 Ownership and Management of 
Common Open Spaces. 

5. Legal Instrument for Protection of Open 
Space. The open space shall be protected 
in perpetuity by a binding legal 
instrument that is recorded with the deed. 
The instrument for permanent protection 
shall include clear restrictions on the use 
of the open space. These restrictions shall 
include all restrictions contained in this 
article, as well as any further restrictions 
the applicant chooses to place on the use 
of the open space. The instrument shall 
be one of the following: 

a. A permanent conservation easement in 
favor of either: 

(1) a land trust or similar conservation-
oriented non-profit organization with 
legal authority to accept such 
easements. The organization shall be 
bona fide and in perpetual existence 
and the conveyance instruments shall 
contain an appropriate provision for 
retransfer in the event the 
organization becomes unable to carry 
out its functions; or  

(2) a governmental entity with an interest 
in pursuing goals compatible with the 
purposes of this Ordinance, and if the 
entity accepting the easement is not 
the City, then a third right of 
enforcement favoring the City shall 
be included in the easement. 

b. A permanent restrictive covenant for 
conservation purposes in favor of a 
governmental entity. 

c. An equivalent legal tool that provides 
permanent protection, as approved by 
the City Attorney. 

6. Tax Assessment of Open Space. Once a 
legal instrument for permanent protection 
has been placed upon the open space, the 
applicant may request the County Tax 
Assessor to reassess the open space at a 

lower value to reflect its more limited 
use. 

§7.4. Bed and Breakfast 
7.4.1. Use Limitations 

1. Bed and Breakfasts are permitted only in 
detached single-family dwellings. 
Lodging located in a non-residential 
building is considered either a “hotel” or 
“motel” and is not subject to the 
requirements of this §7.4.  

2. The maximum number of allowable 
guest rooms shall be determined by 
dividing the gross interior floor area of 
the principal building (excluding 
garages) by 500 sq. ft. And, no more than 
fifty (50) percent of the GFA (excluding 
garages) of the principal building shall be 
utilized for guest accommodations. All 
guest rooms shall be located within the 
principal building. 

7.4.2. Parking. For each approved guest room, 
there shall be provided one (1) parking 
space, in addition to those required for 
the dwelling use. Such additional 
required parking spaces shall be properly 
situated on site and screened from 
adjacent properties. Such parking areas 
should not detract from the residential 
character of the neighborhood. 
Recreational vehicle parking shall be 
prohibited. 

7.4.3. Modifications to Dwelling. Aside from 
any alterations necessary to ensure the 
safety of the dwelling, no exterior 
modifications shall be allowed unless 
approved by the BZA as a part of the 
Special Exception approval process. 
Approved exterior modifications should 
not detract from the residential character 
of the dwelling or the neighborhood. 



Resolution Number 4968 

Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4968 
 

 A RESOLUTION DECLARING A WEED AND 

OTHER VEGETATION NUISANCE PURSUANT TO 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2567 AND DIRECTING THE 

CITY MANAGER TO ABATE SAID NUISANCE 

 

 WHEREAS, on May 11, 2015, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2567 to establish a procedure for the 

abatement of grass and weeds and for the prosecution and abatement of grass and weed 

violations; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s Compliance Officer has made a “First Demand” on the 

property located at 2600 Kingswood Road; a copy of which is marked as “Exhibit A,” 

attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4968 as if written fully therein; 

and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was conducted at the regularly scheduled City 

Council meeting of August 14, 2017 at 6:00 PM in which the facts of the matter were 

discussed; and  

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to 

declare the property a nuisance and direct the City Manager to abate said nuisance 

pursuant to the provisions set forth in Ordinance Number 2567; and 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

1. The property located at 2600 Kingswood Road is hereby declared a nuisance 

pursuant to the provisions of Ordinance Number 2567 and the City Manager is 

hereby authorized to abate said nuisance pursuant to the terms and provisions of 

said ordinance. 

2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its approval and 

adoption. 



Resolution Number 4968 

Page 2 

 

 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14
th

 day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 



















Resolution Number 4969 

Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4969 
 

 A RESOLUTION DECLARING A WEED AND 

OTHER VEGETATION NUISANCE PURSUANT TO 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2567 AND DIRECTING THE 

CITY MANAGER TO ABATE SAID NUISANCE 

 

 WHEREAS, on May 11, 2015, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted and approved Ordinance Number 2567 to establish a procedure for the 

abatement of grass and weeds and for the prosecution and abatement of grass and weed 

violations; and 

WHEREAS, the City’s Compliance Officer has made a “First Demand” on the 

property located at 1600 Gentilly Drive; a copy of which is marked as “Exhibit A,” 

attached to and incorporated into this Resolution Number 4969 as if written fully therein; 

and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing was conducted at the regularly scheduled City 

Council meeting of August 14, 2017 at 6:00 PM in which the facts of the matter were 

discussed; and  

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council feel it is in the best public interest to 

declare the property a nuisance and direct the City Manager to abate said nuisance 

pursuant to the provisions set forth in Ordinance Number 2567; and 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

1. The property located at 1600 Gentilly Drive is hereby declared a nuisance 

pursuant to the provisions of Ordinance Number 2567 and the City Manager is 

hereby authorized to abate said nuisance pursuant to the terms and provisions of 

said ordinance. 

2. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its approval and 

adoption. 



Resolution Number 4969 

Page 2 

 

 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14
th

 day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 





























Ordinance Number 2724 

Page 1 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER _2724 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE 

PURCHASING AND CLOSING OF THE SALE OF REAL ESTATE 

 

 THIS ORDINANCE NUMBER 2724 is considered, approved, enacted and 

adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on this the 14th day 

of August, 2017. 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, municipalities in Alabama have the legal authority to acquire real 

estate by purchase pursuant to Title 11-40-1, Code of Alabama, 1975; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council (the “City Council”) of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, a municipal corporation (the “City”) finds and determines that the 

consideration of the purchase by the City of the real estate and improvements for the 

property located at 1933 Merryvale Road hereinafter described in Section 1 below (the 

“Property”) will promote the health, safety and general welfare of the City; and 

 WHEREAS, the Ordinance Number 2724 will be introduced by a first reading at 

the regularly scheduled meeting of the City Council on July 24, 2017 and considered for 

approval by the City Council at its regularly scheduled meeting on August 14, 2017 

pursuant to the procedure for adoption of an ordinance set forth at Title 11-45-2(b), Code 

of Alabama, 1975; and 

 WHEREAS, a copy of an Agreement for the Purchase and Sale of Real Estate by 

and between Patricia Crim Dietlein, as “Seller,” and the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

a municipal corporation, as “Purchaser,” setting forth a purchase price of Three Hundred 

Ninety Thousand Dollar(s) ($390,000.00) is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit A and is 

incorporated into this Ordnance Number 2724 by reference as though set out fully herein; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the Alabama Open Meetings Act set forth at Title 36-25A-7(a)(7), 

Code of Alabama, 1975, provides that the material terms of a contract to purchase real 

property shall be disclosed in a public meeting prior to the execution of the contract; and 

 WHEREAS, only the City Council by the enactment of an ordinance or 

resolution can authorize and direct the execution and delivery of a contract for and on 

behalf of the municipality (Van Antwerp, et al v. Board of Commissions of City of 



Ordinance Number 2724 

Page 2 
 

Mobile, et al, 217 Ala. 201, 115 So. 239 (1928); and Town of Boligee v. Greene County 

Water and Sewer Authority, 77 So.3d 1166 (2011)); and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-47-5, Code of Alabama, 1975, reads as follows: 

 “Contracts entered into by a municipality shall be in 

writing, signed and executed in the name of the city or 

town by the officers authorized to make the same and by 

the party contracting.  In cases not otherwise directed by 

law or ordinance, such contracts shall be entered into and 

executed by the mayor in the name of the city or town and 

all obligations for the payment of money by the 

municipality, except for bonds and interest coupons, shall 

be attested by the clerk.  This section shall not be construed 

to cover purchases for ordinary needs of the municipality;” 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43-21(b)(7), Code of Alabama, 1975, requires the City 

Manager to sign all lawful contracts on behalf of the municipality and reads as follows: 

 “(b) The City Manager shall have the power and 

it shall be his duty:... 

  (7) To make and execute all lawful 

contracts on behalf of the municipality as to matters within 

the jurisdiction; provided, that no contract, purchase or 

obligation involving more than $100.00 shall be binding 

until after the approval by the governing body.” 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

 1. PROMOTION OF PUBLIC WELFARE:  The City Council of the City 

of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, finds and determines that the 

purchase by the City of the hereinafter-described real property and improvements (the 

“Property”) will promote the health, safety and general welfare of the City: 

 That certain real estate and improvements situated at 1933 Merryvale Road in the 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216, more particularly described as follows: 

Lot A, according to the Amended Map of a Resurvey of 

Lots 1,2,3, and 4 Block 6, Waldridge Terrace, as Recorded 

in Map Book 52, Page 18, in the Probate Office of 

Jefferson County, Alabama 

 

 The above-described property shall be hereinafter referred to as “the Property.” 



Ordinance Number 2724 

Page 3 
 

 2. PURCHASE PRICE:  The City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama hereby 

agrees to pay the sum of Three Hundred Ninety Thousand Dollar(s) ($390,000.00) to 

purchase the Property. 

 3. AGREEMENT FOR THE PURCHASE AND SALE OF REAL 

ESTATE:  The purchase and closing of the sale of the Property shall be completed all in 

accordance with the terms, provisions, conditions and limitations of an Agreement for the 

Purchase and Sale of Real Estate (“Agreement”) negotiated, submitted and recommended 

by the City Manager and City Attorney.  The Agreement is by and between Patricia Crim 

Dietlein (“Seller”) and the City of Vestavia Hills, a municipal corporation (“Purchaser”) 

for the purchase of the Property at a purchase price of Three Hundred Ninety Thousand 

Dollar(s) ($390,000.00).  A copy of said Agreement is attached hereto, marked as Exhibit 

A and is incorporated into this Ordinance Number 2724 by reference as though set out 

fully herein.  The City Council hereby accepts and approves the Agreement and the City 

Manager and Mayor are hereby authorized to execute and deliver said Agreement and 

any and all other documents necessary to close the purchase of this sale all in accordance 

with Exhibit A. 

 4. FUNDING:  The City Council authorized and directed the City Manager 

to borrow funds by way of Ordinance Number 2702 to be used for the purchase of the 

Property.   

5. ARTICLE AND SECTION HEADINGS:  The article and section 

headings and captions contained herein are included for convenience only, and shall not 

be considered a part hereof or affect in any manner the construction or interpretation 

hereof. 

 6. SEVERABILITY:  If any part, section or subdivision of this ordinance 

shall be held unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such holding shall not be 

construed to invalidate or impair the remainder of this ordinance which shall continue in 

full force and effect notwithstanding such holding. 

 7. POSTING OF ORDINANCE NUMBER 2724:  If the City Council 

approves, enacts and adopts Ordinance Number 2724, as written or as amended, then in 

such event, said Ordinance shall be posted in three (3) public places within the City as 

required by Title 11-45-8(b)(1), Code of Alabama, 1975. 



Ordinance Number 2724 

Page 4 
 

 8. EFFECTIVE DATE OF ORDINANCE NUMBER 2702:  Ordinance 

Number 2724 shall become effective five (5) days after posting in accordance with Title 

11-45-8(b), Code of Alabama, 1975. 

 DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of August, 

2017. 

      CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

 

 

      By_________________________________ 

       Ashley C. Curry 

       Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATION: 

 

 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance #2724 is a true and correct 

copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of Vestavia 

Hills on the _______ day of __________, 2017 as same appears in the official records of 

said City. 

 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills New Merkle House, 

Vestavia Hills Civic Center and Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest this the ____ day of 

_____________, 2017. 

 

    

      Rebecca Leavings 

      City Clerk 

 



 
 

STATE OF ALABAMA 
 
JEFFERSON COUNTY  

 
AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF REAL ESTATE 

 
 THIS AGREEMENT FOR PURCHASE AND SALE OF REAL ESTATE (“the 

Agreement”), is hereby made and entered into as of the ____ day of July, 2017 by and between 
Patricia Crim Dietlein, (hereinafter referred to as “Seller”), and the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
a municipal corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Purchaser”).   

   
 WITNESS THESE RECITALS: 
 
 WHEREAS, the Seller owns real estate and improvements situated at 1933 Merryvale Road 
in the City of Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama, more particularly described in Section 2 
below (hereinafter referred to as “Property”); and 
  
 WHEREAS, Purchaser wishes to purchase the Property for the purchase price set forth in 
Section 3 below subject to the terms, provisions and conditions set forth in this Agreement for 
Purchase and Sale of Real Estate (“Agreement”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, Seller is willing to sell the Property to Purchaser for the purchase price set forth 
in section 3 below subject to the terms, provisions and conditions set forth in this Agreement. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the mutual covenants hereinafter 
contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged by the parties hereto, Seller and Purchaser hereby mutually covenant and agree as 
follows: 
 
 1. PURCHASE AND SALE.  For and in consideration of One and No/100 Dollars 
($1.00) in hand paid by Purchaser to Seller and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt 
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged by Seller, Seller agrees to sell and Purchaser 
agrees to purchase the Property for the Purchase Price (as defined below) and on the terms, 
provisions and conditions hereinafter set forth. 
 
 2. PROPERTY.  The Property is situated at 1933 Merryvale Road in the City of 
Vestavia Hills, Jefferson County, Alabama (Parcel 2800303014001.000).  The legal description of 
the Property to be conveyed by Seller to Purchaser is set forth below: 
 

Lot A, according to the Amended Map of a Resurvey of Lots 1, 2, 3 
and 4, Block 6, Waldridge Terrace, as recorded in Map Book 52, 
Page 18, in the Probate Office of Jefferson County, Alabama. 

 
 The above described Property does not constitute the homeplace of the Seller. 

Ordinance Number 2724 

Exhibit A 

Page 1



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 2 
 
 3. PURCHASE PRICE.  The purchase price for the Property shall be Three Hundred 
Ninety Thousand Dollars ($390,000.00) (the “Purchase Price”).   
 
 4. PAYMENT OF PURCHASE PRICE.  The payment of the Purchase Price shall be 
paid by the Purchaser to the Seller as follows: 
 
  A. EARNEST MONEY (“THE EARNEST MONEY”):  Earnest Money in the amount 
of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000.00) shall be paid by Purchaser concurrently with the execution 
and delivery of this Agreement.  The Earnest Money shall be paid to Land Title Company of 
Alabama, Inc. (“title company”), 600 – 20th Street North in the City of Birmingham, Alabama 35203. 
The title company shall deposit said earnest money in an interest-bearing account and pay the same 
to the Seller at closing.  If Purchaser terminates the Purchase Agreement during the Inspection Period 
or Approval Period, the Earnest Money will be returned to Purchaser. 
 
  B. CASH ON CLOSING THIS SALE:  The entire remaining balance of the Purchase 
Price shall be paid to Seller by Purchaser in cash or immediately available funds at closing.   
 
 5. CLOSING AND CLOSING DATE.   Subject to the terms, provisions and 
conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the sale and purchase of the Property (the “Closing”) 

shall occur on or before November 26, 2017.  The date of closing, at the option of the Seller, may be 
extended to January 26, 2018, if Seller may receive more favorable tax consequences on this 
transaction by a change of law. 
 
 6. CONVEYANCE.   Seller agrees to convey the Property to Purchaser by statutory 
warranty deed (the “Deed”) at the Closing, subject to the Permitted Exceptions (as herein defined). 
 
 7. TITLE INSURANCE.   Purchaser shall, within thirty (30) days after the Effective 
Date, secure a title commitment (the “Title Commitment”) naming Purchaser as the proposed insured 

on a Chicago Title Insurance Company Standard Form Owners Policy issued by Land Title Company 
of Alabama, Inc. as agent for Chicago Title Insurance Company (the “Title Agent”) for the Property 

described in Section 2 hereof in the amount of the Purchase Price (the “Title Policy”) subject to the 
following permitted exceptions (a) easements, covenants and other encumbrances of record, (b) 
mineral and mining rights not owned by Seller, (c) matters that would be disclosed by a current 
survey of the Property.  The premium for the title policy shall be paid by Purchaser. 
 
 8. INSPECTIONS:  Purchaser, or Purchaser’s representatives, shall have the right to 

enter the Property for the purpose of inspection of the same, and/or making boundary line and 
topographical surveys of the same, and/or making soil tests thereon, and/or in general observing and 
investigating the condition of the Property.  Purchaser agrees to indemnify Seller from and against 
any liability that results from Purchaser performing any of its inspections as provided herein, and 
such indemnity shall survive any termination of this Agreement.  Seller or her designee shall be 
present at any and all inspections by Purchaser. 

Ordinance Number 2724 

Exhibit A 

Page 2



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 3 
 
 
 9. INSPECTION PERIOD:  Purchaser shall have a period of sixty (60) days following 
the effective date of this Agreement (“Inspection Period”) to determine, either personally or through 

or with a representative of Purchaser’s choosing, any and all conditions of the Property (including 
without limitation the condition of all improvements thereon) material to Purchaser’s decision to 

purchase the Property.  The determination shall include, without limitation, Purchaser satisfying 
itself as to title matters, soil testing, survey matters, structural matters, zoning matters, subdivision 
regulations, engineering and site planning, environmental matters, specifically including, but not 
limited to Phase I ESA, existing contracts and financial matters affecting the Property, all soil, 
landscaping and other physical conditions of the Property, availability and sufficient quantities of all 
utilities, and all additional matters that Purchaser believes relevant, in its sole and absolute 
discretion, in determining whether or not to purchase the Property.  Purchaser, at Purchaser’s sole 

discretion, for any reason or no reason, shall have the right and option to cancel this Agreement by 
giving written notice of termination to Seller no later than the last day of the Inspection Period, in 
which the right and option to cancel this Agreement by giving written notice of termination to Seller 
no later than the last day of the Inspection Period, in which event this Agreement shall be of no 
further force or affect except for any indemnity or other obligations that expressly survive, and the 
Earnest Money shall be refunded to Purchaser.  If Purchaser cancels and terminates this Agreement 
prior to the expiration of the Inspection Period, then in such event the Earnest Money shall be 
refunded by the Seller to Purchaser in full.  Should the Purchaser fail to cancel and terminate this 
Agreement prior to the expiration of the Inspection Period, then in such event the earnest money 
shall be non-refundable and kept by the Seller. 
 
 10. ENVIRONMENTAL CONCERNS:  Seller has no actual knowledge that the 
Property has in the past been used or is presently used for the handling, storage, manufacturing, 
refining, transportation or disposal of “toxic material”, “hazardous substances” or “hazardous 

waste”.   
 
 11. CONDITION OF PROPERTY:  Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that: 
 
  A. Seller has not made and does not make any covenant, representation of 
warranty, either expressed or implied, regarding the physical condition of the Property or any portion 
thereof, the suitability of the Property for any particular purpose or use whatsoever, utility 
availability for the Property, whether the Property is subject to surface or subsurface contamination 
by toxic or hazardous waste or with respect to any other matters affecting the Property or Purchaser’s 

contemplated use thereof; 
 
  B. Purchaser has been given the absolute and unfettered right during the 
Inspection Period to conduct such Inspections of the Property as Purchaser, in its sole discretion, may 
determine necessary in order to satisfy itself of all conditions and other aspects of the Property.  
Seller or her designee shall be present at any and all inspections by Purchaser; and 

Ordinance Number 2724 

Exhibit A 

Page 3



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 4 
 
  C. Purchaser has available to it such resources, expertise, consultants and 
advisors so that it can make a sound and reasonable judgment as to the condition of the Property as 
well as to all economic conditions, suitability requirements and all other matters affecting the use, 
development and ownership of the Property.  Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that the Property is 
to be sold and conveyed to, and accepted by, Purchaser in its present condition, “AS IS, WHERE IS 

AND WITH ALL FAULTS,” and Purchaser hereby assumes the risk that adverse physical 

characteristics and existing conditions may have not been revealed by the Inspections. 
 
 12. CLOSING COSTS:  The Closing shall be held at the Vestavia Hills Municipal 
Center located at 1032 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  The closing attorney shall 
be Patrick H. Boone. 
 
  A. CLOSING COSTS FOR SELLER:  The Seller shall pay the following costs: 
 
   (1) None. 
 
  B. CLOSING COSTS FOR PURCHASER:  The Purchaser shall pay the following 
closing costs: 
   (1) The fee for recording the deed, if any. 
   (2) Legal fee to Purchaser’s attorney. 
   (3) Cost of due diligence during Inspection Period. 
   (4) Cost of title insurance policy. 
 
 13. TAXES:  The ad valorem taxes shall be prorated between Seller and Purchaser.  For 
purposes of this Agreement, the municipal ad valorem taxes shall be deemed to be paid in advance, 
while the state and county ad valorem taxes shall be deemed to be paid in arrears. 
 
 14. ASSIGNMENT:  Purchaser may not assign this Agreement or any of its rights 
hereunder without the express written consent of Seller.  Any assignment in violation of the 
restriction on assignment in this Section 14 shall be void and of no force and effect.   
 
 15. POSSESSION:  Possession of the Property shall be given to Purchaser no later than 
April 30, 2018. 
 
 16. BROKER:  None. 
 
  A. PURCHASER:  The Purchaser is not represented in this contemplated 
transaction by any real estate broker/agent. 
 
  B. SELLER:  The Seller is not represented in this contemplated transaction by any 
real estate broker/agent. 
 

Ordinance Number 2724 

Exhibit A 

Page 4



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 5 
 
 17. NOTICES:  All notices and demands to be given or made hereunder shall be in 
writing and shall be given by (i) personal or hand delivery, (ii) nationally recognized express 
overnight delivery service (with charges therefor prepaid, or (iii) certified or registered mail, return 
receipt requested (with postage therefor prepaid).  Notices shall be deemed received upon (a) receipt, 
if hand or personally delivered, (b) the next business day after the notice has been deposited with a 
nationally recognized express overnight delivery service, or (the third business day after the notice 
has been deposited with the United States Postal Service.  Notices shall be provided to the parties at 
the follow addresses: 
 

IF TO SELLER:   Patricia Crim Dietlein 
    1108 Crown Drive 
    Birmingham, Alabama 35235 
    Telephone No. 205-853-0286 
    E-mail:  PDietlein@aol.com  
 
IF TO PURCHASER:  Jeffrey D. Downes, City Manager 
    Vestavia Hills Municipal Center 
    1032 Montgomery Highway 
    Vestavia Hills, Alabama 35216 
    Telephone No.  205-978-0195 
    E-Mail:  jdownes@vhal.org  

 
 Either party hereto may change the address to which it is to receive notice or the 
representative to whom notice is to be given by written notice to the other part in the manner set 
forth above. 
 
 18. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES: 
 
  A. In the event that Seller shall fail to consummate the transaction as 
contemplated herein for any reason other than Purchaser’s default, then Purchaser may, as its sole 

and exclusive remedy, either (i) enforce this Agreement and the purchase and sale transaction 
contemplated herein by specific performance or (ii) terminate this Agreement, whereupon the 
Earnest Money paid to Seller and accrued interest shall be promptly returned to Purchaser, this 
Agreement shall be deemed cancelled and terminated and, except for the indemnification obligations 
of Purchaser set forth in Section 9 above, neither party shall have any further obligation or liability to 
the other hereunder.  Purchaser hereby expressly waives any right to seek or obtain any monetary 
judgment or damages against Seller in the event of any default hereunder by Seller and acknowledges 
and agrees that no other damages, rights or remedies shall be collectible, enforceable or available to 
Purchaser. 

Ordinance Number 2724 

Exhibit A 

Page 5

mailto:PDietlein@aol.com
mailto:jdownes@vhal.org


Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 6 
 
  B. If, at any time after the expiration of the Inspection Period, Purchaser shall fail 
to perform its obligation to close the transaction contemplated herein for any reason other than 
Seller’s default, then the Earnest Money shall be non-refundable and kept by Seller as liquidated 
damages in which event this Agreement shall automatically be deemed terminated and cancelled and, 
except for the indemnification obligations of Purchaser set forth in Section 9 above, neither party 
shall have any further obligation or liability to the other hereunder.  Because of the difficulty, 
inconvenience and uncertainty of ascertaining actual damages, no other damages, rights or remedies 
shall in any case be collectible, enforceable or available to Seller and Seller agrees to accept and 
retain the Earnest Money as its total damages and relief hereunder in the event Purchaser fails to 
close the purchase and sale transaction contemplated herein. 
 
 19. EFFECTIVE DATE:  The “Effective Date” to be inserted on the first page of this 

Agreement is the date upon which this Agreement has been fully executed by Seller and Purchaser 
and each of Seller and Purchaser has received a fully executed original counterpart.   
 
 20. RISK OF LOSS:  Seller agrees to keep in force sufficient hazard insurance on the 
Property to protect all interests until this sale is closed and the deed delivered.  If the Property is 
destroyed or materially damaged between the date hereof and the closing, and Seller is unable or 
unwilling to restore it to its previous condition prior to closing.  Purchaser shall have the option of 
cancelling this contract and receiving the Earnest Money back or accepting the Property in its then 
condition.  If Purchaser elects to accept the Property in its damaged condition, any insurance 
proceeds otherwise payable to Seller by reason of such damage shall be applied to the balance of the 
purchase price or otherwise be payable to Purchaser. 
 
 21. REMOVAL OF ITEMS:  Seller and Purchaser acknowledge and agree, that if this 
sale closes, then in such event the Purchaser will raze the house on the Property.  Purchaser shall 
preserve as many dogwood trees and magnolia trees as is reasonably possible.  Therefore, the Seller 
shall have the right to remove any part of the structure or plantings on the Property prior to April 30, 
2018. 
 
 22. MEMORIUM:  Purchaser shall place and maintain a park bench with a small plaque 
“In Memory of Carmen R. Crim and Helen L. Crim” or other inscription agreed upon by Purchaser 
and Seller thereon at a location on the perimeter of the Property at the completion of the project.  
Purchaser shall pay the cost of the park bench and plaque and the Purchaser shall select the exact site 
for placement of said park bench and plaque. 
 
 23. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
  A. GOVERNING LAW:  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the 
parties hereto shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Alabama.  The jurisdiction and venue for the resolution of any dispute shall be in Jefferson County, 
Alabama. 

Ordinance Number 2724 

Exhibit A 

Page 6



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 7 
 
  B. BINDING AGREEMENT:  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors and assigns. 
 
  C. SURVIVAL:  All representations and warranties of this Agreement shall 
survive the Closing, as shall any covenants for performance after Closing. 
 
  D. TIME OF THE ESSENCE:  Time is of the essence of this Agreement. 
 
  E. NO WAIVER:  The failure of either party to exercise any rights under this 
Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of any right, nor excuse the other party’s full performance.  

No express waiver of any matter shall affect any other matter under this Agreement.  Express 
waivers are only effective if in writing. 
 
  F. CONSTRUCTION OF TERMS:  Descriptive headings are for convenience only 
and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of any provision.  Any ambiguities of this 
Agreement shall be construed fairly and equitably regardless of the participation of either party in 
drafting this Agreement.  The reference in terms to gender and number shall be modified as may be 
appropriate. 
 
  G. SEVERABILITY:  In case of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall for 
any reason be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction in any 
respect, the remaining provisions shall remain in effect and the Agreement be performed in a fair and 
equitable manner as to any uncertainties arising from the unenforceable provisions.   
 
  H. DATES:  If any date provided in this Agreement falls on a Saturday, Sunday or 
holiday, the date shall be the next business day. 
 
  I. EXECUTION IN COUNTERPARTS:  This Agreement may be executed 
simultaneously in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an original, but all of which 
shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 
  J. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This written Agreement contains the entire agreement 
between the parties, incorporating all prior agreements, and may only be amended in writing 
executed by both parties. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Seller and Purchaser have executed this Agreement to be 
executed as of the date first above written. 
 
WITNESSED:     SELLER: 
 
_______________________________ _________________________________________ 
       Patricia Crim Dietlein 

Ordinance Number 2724 

Exhibit A 

Page 7



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 8 
 
                      PURCHASER: 
      THE CITYOF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 
      A Municipal Corporation 
  
      By _____________________________________ 
       Ashley C. Curry 
       Mayor 
 
      By _____________________________________ 
       Jeffrey D. Downes 
       City Manager 
ATTESTED: 
                  
 
By___________________________________ 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 
                  

GENERAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Patricia Crim Dietlein, a married woman, whose name is signed to the foregoing 
Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate, and who is known to me, acknowledged before me 
on this day that being informed of the contents of the Agreement, she executed the same voluntarily 
on the day the same bears date. 
                  
 Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of July, 2017. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 

Ordinance Number 2724 

Exhibit A 

Page 8



Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate 
Page 9 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Ashley C. Curry, whose name as Mayor of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a 
municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate, 
and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of 
the Agreement, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for 
and as the act of said City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, on the day the same 
bears date. 
                  
 Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of July, 2017. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 
 
STATE OF ALABAMA 
JEFFERSON COUNTY 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
                  
 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 
certify that Jeffrey D. Downes, whose name as City Manager of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 
a municipal corporation, is signed to the foregoing Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Real Estate, 
and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of 
the Agreement, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for 
and as the act of said City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, a municipal corporation, on the day the same 
bears date. 
                  
 Given under my hand and official seal, this the _______ day of July, 2017. 
 
 
      __________________________________________ 
       Notary Public 
My Commission Expires: 
____________________ 
SEAL 
 

Ordinance Number 2724 

Exhibit A 

Page 9



RESOLUTION NUMBER 4971 
 

 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE 2015-2016 AUDIT 

FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

 WHEREAS, the audit for the fiscal year 2015-2016 has been submitted to the Mayor 

and the City Council for review; and 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and the City Council feel it is in the best public interest to 

accept the audit performed by Carr, Riggs, and Ingram, LLC. 

 THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the City Council wishes to accept the audit for the fiscal year 2015-2016; 

and 

2. That a copy of the submitted audit be affixed to this resolution marked “Exhibit 

A.” 

 ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 14
th

 day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
 

Financial Statements 
 

September 30, 2016 
 
 

WAppling
Typewritten Text



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Table of Contents 

September 30, 2016 
   

 

                             Page 
TAB: Independent Auditor’s Report              1 
                       
TAB: Basic Financial Statements   
     Management Discussion & Analysis                              4.1 
     Government‐wide Financial Statements:   
       Statement of Net Position                5 
       Statement of Activities                6 
     Fund Financial Statements:   
       Governmental Funds Balance Sheet            7 
       Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet   
        to the Statement of Net Position              8 
       Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances    
        Governmental Funds                9 
       Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in   
        Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Government‐wide   
        Statement of Activities                10 
     Notes to Financial Statements Index            11 
     Notes to Financial Statements              12 
 
Required Supplementary Information  
     Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances   
       Budget to Actual – General Fund              42 
     Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios    43 
     Schedule of Employer Contributions            44 
     Other Post‐Employment Benefits‐Funding Progress and Trend Information   45 
     Notes to Required Supplementary Information          46 
 
Supplementary Information   
     Combining Balance Sheet – Other Governmental Funds        47 
     Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in   
       Fund Balances – Other Governmental Funds          48 
   
TAB: Required Communications   
 
TAB: Thought  Leadership 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the Mayor and City Council 
  City of Vestavia Hills 
    Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each 
major  fund, and  the aggregate  remaining  fund  information of City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
(the  “City”) as of and  for  the year ended September 30, 2016, and  the  related notes  to  the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed 
in the table of contents.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  these  financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America;  this  includes  the  design,  implementation,  and  maintenance  of  internal  control 
relevant  to  the preparation  and  fair presentation of  financial  statements  that  are  free  from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit  in accordance with auditing  standards generally accepted  in  the United 
States of America  and  the  standards  applicable  to  financial audits  contained  in Government 
Auditing Standards,  issued by  the Comptroller General of  the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An  audit  involves  performing  procedures  to  obtain  audit  evidence  about  the  amounts  and 
disclosures  in  the  financial  statements.  The  procedures  selected  depend  on  the  auditor’s 
judgment,  including  the  assessment  of  the  risks  of material misstatement  of  the  financial 
statements, whether  due  to  fraud  or  error.  In making  those  risk  assessments,  the  auditor 
considers  internal  control  relevant  to  the  entity’s  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the 
financial  statements  in  order  to  design  audit  procedures  that  are  appropriate  in  the 
circumstances, but not  for  the purpose of expressing an opinion on  the effectiveness of  the 
entity’s  internal  control.  Accordingly,  we  express  no  such  opinion.  An  audit  also  includes 
evaluating  the  appropriateness  of  accounting  policies  used  and  the  reasonableness  of 
significant  accounting  estimates  made  by  management,  as  well  as  evaluating  the  overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 
 



 

 

 
Opinions 
In  our  opinion,  the  financial  statements  referred  to  above  present  fairly,  in  all  material 
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and 
the  aggregate  remaining  fund  information  of  the  City  of  Vestavia  Hills,  Alabama,  as  of 
September 30, 2016, and the respective changes in financial position, for the year then ended 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the  United  States  of  America  require  that  the 
management’s  discussion  and  analysis  and  the  schedules  listed  in  the  table  of  contents  as 
“required  supplementary  information”  be  presented  to  supplement  the  basic  financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required 
by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers  it to be an essential part of 
financial  reporting  for  placing  the  basic  financial  statements  in  an  appropriate  operational, 
economic, or historical  context. We have applied  certain  limited procedures  to  the  required 
supplementary  information  in  accordance with  auditing  standards  generally  accepted  in  the 
United States of America, which consisted of  inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses  to our  inquiries,  the basic  financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively  comprise  the  City’s  basic  financial  statements.  The  combining  nonmajor  fund 
financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the basic financial statements. 
 
The combining nonmajor fund financial statements are the responsibility of management and 
were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare  the basic  financial  statements. Such  information has been  subjected  to  the auditing 
procedures  applied  in  the  audit  of  the  basic  financial  statements  and  certain  additional 
procedures,  including  comparing  and  reconciling  such  information directly  to  the underlying 
accounting and other  records used  to prepare  the basic  financial  statements or  to  the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures  in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted  in  the United States of America.  In our opinion,  the combining 
nonmajor fund financial statements are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the 
basic financial statements as a whole. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
In  accordance with  Government  Auditing  Standards, we  have  also  issued  our  report  dated  
July 21, 2017, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on 



 

 

our  tests of  its  compliance with  certain provisions of  laws,  regulations,  contracts,  and  grant 
agreements  and  other matters.  The  purpose  of  that  report  is  to  describe  the  scope  of  our 
testing  of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  and  compliance  and  the  results  of  that 
testing,  and  not  to  provide  an  opinion  on  internal  control  over  financial  reporting  or  on 
compliance.  That  report  is  an  integral  part  of  an  audit  performed  in  accordance  with 
Government Auditing Standards  in considering City’s  internal control over  financial  reporting 
and compliance. 

 
Birmingham, Alabama 
July 21, 2017 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

-4.1- 

City of Vestavia Hills 
Management's Discussion & Analysis (MD&A) 

September 30, 2016 
 
The City of Vestavia Hills’ Management Discussion and Analysis report provides an overview of 
the City’s financial activities for fiscal year ended September 30, 2016.  Please read the report in 
conjunction with the City's financial statements and notes to the financial statements that 
immediately follow this analysis.   
 
Financial Highlights:  Significant Items to Note 
 The assets of the City exceeded the liabilities at the close of the 2016 fiscal year by $71.46 

million (net position). 

 The City’s net position decreased 2.4% ($1,780 million) in 2016. 

 The total cost of the City's programs for the 2016 fiscal year was $43.52 million.  The net 
cost was $35.98 million after subtracting grants and charges for services. 

 At the end of  the 2016 fiscal year, the general fund unassigned fund balance, excluding the 
City’s committed funds for economic stabilization fund balance of $9.8 million, was $2.8 
million, or 9.0% of the total general fund operating expenses before debt service.  

 Major capital expenditures for the 2016 fiscal year totaled $6.5 million including $3.1 million 
for projects in progress and $2.7 million for completed projects.                                                                                 

 The City decreased its outstanding General Obligation Warrants by $.710 million, inclusive 
of $.530 million held in QECB Debt Sinking Fund. 

 
Using the Annual Financial Report - An Overview for the User 
The annual financial report consists of five parts - management's discussion and analysis (this 
section), the independent auditor’s report, the basic financial statements, required supplementary 
information, and other supplementary information.  
 
The City's basic financial statements are comprised of three components:  1) government-wide 
financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the basic financial statements. 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements - The focus of these statements is to provide readers 
with a broad overview of the City's finances as a whole, similar to a private-sector business, 
instead of an individual fund basis.  
 
Government-wide statements report both long-term and short-term information about the City’s 
overall financial status including the capitalization of capital assets and depreciation of all 
exhaustible capital assets and the outstanding balances of long-term debt and other obligations.  
These statements report all assets and liabilities perpetuated by these activities using the accrual 
basis of accounting.  The accrual basis takes into account all of the City's current year revenues 
and expenses regardless of when cash is received or paid.  This approach moves the financial 
reporting method for governmental entities closer to the financial reporting methods used in the 
private sector. 
 
The following government-wide financial statements report is on all of the governmental 
activities of the City as a whole. 
  
The statement of net position (on page 5) is most closely related to a balance sheet.  It presents 
information on all of the City’s assets (what it owns) and liabilities (what it owes), with the 
difference between the two reported as net position.  The net position reported in this statement 
represents the accumulation of changes in net position for the current fiscal year and all fiscal 



 

-4.2- 

years in the past combined.  Over time, the increase or decrease in net position reported in this 
statement may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is 
improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities (on page 6) is most closely related to an income statement.  It presents 
information showing how the City's net position changed during the current fiscal year only.  All 
of the current year revenues and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities 
regardless of when cash is received or paid.  This statement shows gross expenses and offsetting 
program revenues to arrive at net cost information for each major expense function or activity of 
the City.  By showing the change in net position for the year, the reader may be able to determine 
whether the City's financial position has improved or deteriorated over the course of the current 
fiscal year.   
 
However, the reader will also need to consider non-financial factors, such as changes in the City’s 
property tax base and the condition of the City’s infrastructure assets, in order to assess the 
overall health of the City. 
 
Fund Financial Statements - A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain 
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The City 
uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal and 
internal requirements.  All of the funds of the City can be classified as governmental funds. 
 
Governmental Funds - Governmental fund financial statements begin on page 7.  These 
statements account for basically the same governmental activities reported in the government-
wide financial statements.  Fund financial statements presented herein display information on 
each of the City's most important governmental funds or major funds.  This is required in order to 
better assess the City's accountability for significant governmental programs or certain dedicated 
revenue.  The City's major funds are the General Fund, the Capital Projects Fund and Debt 
Service Fund. 
 
The Fund Financial Statements are measured on the modified-accrual basis of accounting.  As a 
result, the fund financial statements focus more on the near term use and availability of spendable 
resources.  The information provided in these statements is useful in determining the City's 
immediate financial needs.  This is in contrast to the accrual-based government-wide financial 
statements, which focus more on overall long-term availability of spendable resources.  The 
relationship between governmental activities reported in the government-wide financial 
statements and the governmental funds reported in the fund financial statements are reconciled on 
pages 8 and 10 of these financial statements.  These reconciliations are useful to readers in 
understanding the long-term impact of the City's short-term financing decisions. 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements - The notes to the basic financial statements provide 
additional information that is essential for the statements to fairly represent the City's financial 
position and its operations.  The notes contain important information that is not part of the basic 
financial statements.  However, the notes are an integral part of the statements, not an appendage 
to them.  The notes to the basic financial statements begin on page 12 in this section. 
 
After the presentation of the basic financial statements, the required supplementary information is 
presented following the notes to the basic financial statements.  The required supplementary 
information beginning on page 42 provides a comparison of the adopted budget of the City's 
General Fund to the actual operating results for the fiscal year.  The comparison of this data 
allows users to assess management's ability to project and plan for its operations throughout the 
year. Various information regarding changes in the City’s net pension liability and employer 
contributions to the pension plan are also presented in this section. 
 



 

-4.3- 

Analysis of the City of Vestavia Hills’ Overall Financial Position 
As indicated earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's 
financial position.  Refer to Table 1 when reading the following analysis of net position.   

Table 1:  Summary of Net Position 

  As of September 30, 
  (dollars in thousands) 
  2016  2015 
Assets:     
Current and other assets $      25,139 $   26,582 
Capital assets     133,836  132,102 
    Total Assets    158,975  158,684 
     
Deferred outflows      6,875     1,830 
     
Liabilities:     
Other liabilities     10,162       4,116 
Long-term liabilities     84,226     81,865 
    Total Liabilities     94,388     85,981 
     
Deferred inflows  -      1,289 
     
Net position:     
   Net invested in capital assets      77,269      76,917 
   Restricted      1,420          951 
   Unrestricted     (7,227)       (4,625) 
Total Net Position $   71,462 $     73,244 

The City's assets exceeded liabilities by $71.46 million at September 30, 2016. 
 
Net investment in capital assets of $77.27 million reflects the City's investment in capital assets 
(e.g., land, infrastructure, buildings, improvements other than buildings, fixtures, furniture, 
equipment and transportation equipment), less accumulated depreciation and debt related to the 
acquisition of the assets.  Since these capital assets are used in governmental activities, this 
portion of net position is not available for future spending or funding of operations. 
 
Restricted net position in the amount of $1,420,000 represents net position reserved for payment 
to the Debt Sinking fund, $532,000, prepayment of the 2017 debt service, $600,000, and road and 
maintenance, $288,000.  Unrestricted net position of ($7.23) million resulted principally from the 
employees’ net pension liability, $23.67 million (Employees’ Retirement System of Alabama), 
economic incentive program, $59,000 and “Other Post Employment Benefits” (OPEB) Actuarial 
Trust funds, $178,000 net of current liability, $27,000.   
 
Analysis of the City of Vestavia Hills’ Operating Results 
The results of this fiscal year's operations as a whole are reported in detail in the Statement of 
Activities on page 6.  Table 2 below condenses the results of operations for the fiscal year into a 
format where the reader can easily see the total revenues of the City for the year.  It also shows 
the impact that operations had on changes in net position as of September 30, 2016 and 2015. 
 

 

 

 



 

-4.4- 

Table 2:  Summary of Changes in Net Position 
 

  Fiscal Year Ended 
   September 30, 
   (dollars in thousands) 

   2016  2015 
Program Revenues:      
   Charges for services $    6,483 $    7,697 
   Operating grants/contributions        757        642 
   Capital grants/contributions        299        435 
General Revenues:      
   Taxes              29,773    28,066 
   Utility franchise fees      2,722      2,780 
   Investment earnings            141         148 
   Miscellaneous           328         215 
   Sale of assets    928  172 
   Donation         -          14 
   Donated infrastructure assets        311            2,068 
   Economic incentives        -          (3,320) 
        Total Revenues     41,742          38,917 
 
 
 
       
Program Expenses:      
   General government  10,562           9,339 
   Public safety   18,494         16,556 
   Public works/Public services     10,139    9,667 
   Library        2,442    2,623 
   Parks & recreation/Pubic services          -    1,184 
   Interest on long term debt      1,884    2,949 

       Total Expenses         43,521         42,318 
Change in net position    (1,779)    (3,401) 
Net Position, beginning of year originally stated 73,242  95,268 
Restatement (GASB 68-Note 13)                                           -  (18,625) 
Net Position Beginning of year restated                 -  76,643 
Net Position, ending  $ 71,463 $ 73,242 

 
The City’s revenues, excluding donated infrastructure assets, which do not provide spendable 
funds, and fiscal 2015 net economic incentive proceeds, focused on spurring future revenue 
growth, increased $1.26 million or 3.14%.   The increase resulted principally from taxes, $1.706 
million or 6.08% and sale of assets, $.756 million or 439%.  The revenue increase was principally 
offset by decreases in charges for services, $1.214 million or 15.77% and capital 
grants/contributions, $.136 million or 31.26%. 
 
The charges for services decrease resulted principally due to revenues received in fiscal 2015 
from the partnership agreement with Daniel Corporation for the development of Patchwork 
Farms, $1.050 million, in addition to decreases in fiscal 2016 in building permits/new 
construction, $.161 million or 13.04%, court fines and fees, $.77 million or 15.84% and utility 
franchise fees, $.63 million or 2.90%.   
 
The City’s program expenses increased slightly, $1.20 million or 2.84%. The slight increase 
resulted from offsetting increases and decreases within the following divisions:  increase of 



 

-4.5- 

expenses in public safety, $1.94 million or 11.71%, decrease of expenses in public works, $.472 
million or 4.88%, and decrease in interest on long term debt, $1.06 million or 36.11%. The 
increase of expenses in public safety resulted principally due to increased compensation and 
related taxes and benefit costs, and purchase of new E911 communication equipment.  The 
offsetting decrease of expenses resulted principally due to reduced street paving and a reduction 
in interest on long term debt due to refinancing of warrant issue 2009A.  
 
Table 3 is a condensed statement taken from the Statement of Activities on page 6 showing the 
total cost for providing services for six major City activities.  Total cost of services is compared 
to the net cost of providing these services.  The net cost of services is the remaining cost of 
services after subtracting grants and charges for services that the City used to offset the program's 
total cost.  In other words, the net cost shows the financial burden that was placed on all taxpayers 
for each of these activities.  This information allows citizens to consider the cost of each program 
in comparison to the benefits provided. 

 

Table 3:  Net Cost of Government-Wide Activities 

    Fiscal Year Ended 
    September 30, 2016 
    (dollars in thousands) 

    Total Cost  Net Cost 
    of Services  of Services 
General government administration $   10,562 $   6,654 
Public safety    18,494  17,117 
Public works/Public services     10,139    8,007 
Library        2,442     2,322 
Interest on long term debt      1,884     1,884 
Total   $   43,521 $  35,984 

 
Performance of City Funds 
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to control and manage resources in order to ensure 
compliance with finance-related legal and internal requirements.  Using funds to account for 
resources for particular purposes helps the reader to determine the City’s accountability for these 
resources whether provided by taxpayers and other entities, and to help to provide more insight 
into the City's overall financial health.  The following analysis of the City's funds should be read 
in reference to the fund financial statements that begin on page 7. 

Governmental Funds - The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on 
near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of available resources.  Such information is useful in 
assessing the City's financial requirements (Note: the reconciliation statement between the fund 
financial statements and the government-wide financial statements are presented on pages 8 and 
10).  At the end of the fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported a combined fund 
balance of $19.27 million, which includes a $9.82 million committed fund balance to be used for 
economic stabilization in the event of an unforeseen emergency and $2.81 million of unassigned 
general fund balance which is available for future needs. 
 
Budgetary Highlights of the General Fund 
On or before October 1 of each year, the City Manager prepares and submits an annual budget to 
be adopted by the City Council.  The fiscal 2016 budget was adopted September 14, 2015.  The 
comparison of the general fund budget to the actual results is detailed in the “Statement of 
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual” on page 42.  The 
City’s actual results as compared to the City’s budget can be briefly summarized as follows: 
 



 

-4.6- 

 Actual revenues exceeded budget by $.976 million or 2.65%.  Charges for services, fines and 
forfeitures and fees were under budget totaling $125,203; however, the decrease was offset 
due to taxes, licenses and permits, grants, proceeds from sale of assets, investment revenues 
and other revenues exceeding budget totaling $1.1 million.  

 Actual expenditures exceeded budget by $188,931 or .61%.  Public safety and library were 
under budget totaling $383,800; however, the decrease was offset due to expenditures 
exceeding budget in general government administration, public works, and capital outlay 
totaling $572,700.  The expenditures exceeding budget were principally within the following 
divisions: non-departmental (legal fees, property reappraisal fees, economic incentives and 
Personnel Board of Jefferson County fees) and public works (sanitation contract, utilities and 
maintenance expenses).  

 
Capital Assets and Debt Administration 
Capital Assets - The City's investment in capital assets for governmental activities for the year 
ended September 30, 2016, amounted to $77.27 million, net of accumulated depreciation and debt 
related to the acquisition of the assets.  The City's investment in capital assets, which includes 
land, land improvements, infrastructure, buildings and improvements, fixtures, equipment, 
vehicles and furniture at actual or estimated historical cost, equipment under capital lease, and 
construction in progress, is shown in Table 4. Assets are presented net of accumulated 
depreciation. 

 

Table 4:  Capital Assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 

    Fiscal Year Ended 
    September 30, 
    (dollars in thousands) 

       

    2016  2015 

Land   $     71,288  $  67,322 

Construction-in-progress        3,077      23,239 

Infrastructure-in-progress        -       1,334 

Buildings       27,506       9,415 

Improvements                            5,004        5,135 

Recreational facilities      11,261      12,248 

Vehicular equipment        3,490        3,648 

Equipment and fixtures        4,327     2,747 

Books and artwork              693          706 

Infrastructure         7,190        6,308 

Capital assets, net of depreciation $  133,836 $ 132,102 
 

Additions to capital assets during the current year included the following: 
 
Donated Infrastructure assets (streets) $         199 
Construction-in-progress projects (includes sidewalk design and 
construction)         3,535      

Buildings                                                         19,162      

Land           4,306   

Vehicles            505 

Equipment, furniture & fixtures         2,426      

Computer equipment and software            269 

Books & Artwork            185 

Infrastructure            994 

 $        31,581     



 

-4.7- 

Long-Term Debt - At year-end, the City had $62.1 million in general obligation warrants, capital 
leases and compensated absences.  This represents an increase of .47% in debt over last year 
fiscal year, as shown in Table 5 below.   
 

Table 5:  Outstanding Debt 
 

  As of September 30, 2016 
  (dollars in thousands) 
       
       
  Beginning  Net  Ending 
  Balance  Change  Balance 
       
Governmental activities:       
Warrants payable $ 57,340 $      (710) $ 56,630 
Capital leases     2,694        730    3,424 
Compensated absences    1,789        272    2,061 
       
     Totals $ 61,823 $  292 $ 62,115 

 
Long-term debt activity for the year consisted of the following: 

 The City reduced its General Obligation Warrants by $.710 million. The ending balance 
includes $530,058 held in the debt sinking fund for the “Qualified Energy Conservation 
Bonds” (QECB) payment. 

 The net increase in capital leases resulted from the purchase of vehicles, trucks and heavy 
equipment less current year principal payments. 

 The long-term liability in compensated absences increased principally due to accumulated 
compensatory time within the public safety division.       

 A favorable bond rating facilitates the City’s ability to meet financial obligations.  Moody’s 
Investors Service and Fitch Ratings assigned the City of Vestavia Hills a rating of Aa1 and 
AA+ in fiscal year 2016.   

Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget   
 
Ad Valorem Tax – The City’s ad valorem tax is based on an annual reassessment of real 
property.  Over the previous six years, ad valorem taxes have shown some volatility due to 
inclement weather and tornados which severely damaged and/or destroyed local residence and 
businesses.  The rebuilding of residential properties and businesses has resulted in increase 
collections of ad valorem taxes. The corresponding annual percentage changes are reflected 
below.  
 

Ad Valorem Taxes - Real 

Fiscal Year Collection Variance % Change 

2011        11,860,083  (205,023) -1.70% 

2012        12,246,789  386,706  3.26% 

2013        11,892,447       (354,342) -2.90% 

2014        12,284,147 391,700 3.30% 

2015        12,265,526 (18,621) -.15% 

2016        12,840,240   574,713 4.69% 
                              
  
Personnel Administration Costs – The City’s personnel administration is provided by the 
Personnel Board of Jefferson County (PBJC).  Participating municipalities pay an annual fee 



 

-4.8- 

based on the number of classified employees employed by the municipality times a percentage of 
the PBJC’s operating budget.  The City of Vestavia Hills paid $239,095 in fiscal 2016, $18,933 
less or a 7.34% decrease from fiscal 2015.   
 
Medical Costs – The City of Vestavia Hills’ health insurance is with the “State of Alabama Local 
Government Health Insurance Board”.  In fiscal 2016, Vestavia Hills retained its preferred 
insurance classification rating resulting from minimal medical claims and 80% or greater 
employee participation in the State of Alabama Wellness Screening Program.  The Alabama 
Local Government Health Insurance Board increased the annual insurance premium 7.8% in 
calendar year 2016, representing a budgeted contribution of $1.53 million for the City of Vestavia 
Hills. 
 
Retirement Costs –The City’s retirement program for employees is provided through the 
Retirement System of Alabama (RSA).  Less than favorable economic and market conditions in 
previous years have resulted in the City’s increased required contribution to the program plan.  
The pension plan is currently funded at 65.63%, reflecting an unfunded liability of $23.7 million. 
Vestavia Hills’ contribution factors for fiscal 2016 were as follows, 12.32% - Tier 1 and 10.38% - 
Tier 2, representing a budgeted contribution of $1.92 million.   
 
Cost-of-Living Raise – A 2% cost of living adjustment was included in the 2016 fiscal budget.    
 
Comments from City Manager:  
“Current Year Economic Growth and Anticipated Results for the Next Fiscal Year” 
 
During FY 2016, the City of Vestavia Hills experienced a second consecutive year of record 
growth in commercial new construction and kept a relatively rapid pace in new home 
construction. The nearly $40 million in new commercial construction that commenced in FY 
2016 resulted from an introduction of several new retail business to trade areas of the City as well 
as new to market headquarters and healthcare oriented business. 
 
New Business with significant capital investment and operational commencement in FY 2016 
include: 

 Sprouts Farmers Market 
 Chipotle 
 Jersey Mike’s 
 Papa Murphy’s  
 Zaxby’s 
 Chick-Fil-A 
 Aspire Rehabilitation 
 Rime-Med Jet Headquarters 

Anticipated and confirmed new business activity in 2017 includes: Publix Grocery, The Reserve 
at Patchwork Apartments, four new residential subdivisions. 
 
This level of construction and new retail sales activity contributed to an 8.4% growth in sales tax 
receipts comparing FY 2016 actual results to those in FY 2015. The growth was the result of the 
execution of the City’s economic development plan that relies upon public-private partnerships as 
the basis for its success. Given the City’s reliance upon the ad valorem tax and sales tax as its 
primary general fund revenue sources, the future looks bright for healthy revenue growth as the 
record construction will give way to a growth in taxable property values which are anticipated to 
grow greater than 5% in the next year and several noteworthy retail development projects 
beginning to generate a significant sales tax revenue increase for the City in FY 2017.  
 



 

-4.9- 

In addition to these positive revenue metrics, sustainability of our school system is a priority to 
our economic success. A joint effort of the Vestavia Hills School Board and the City of Vestavia 
Hills resulted in the acquisition of the old Berry School campus that will be converted to a junior 
high/middle school. This allows capacity growth for the schools thus ensuring an ability to 
manage the new construction growth that is expressed in the charts and in the previously 
mentioned comments. 
 
These positive general fund revenue results were matched with a careful expenditure of funds and 
resulted in a general fund surplus of $443,870 for FY 2016. As the City plans for its strategic 
priorities, the City leadership is putting the final touches on a master plan to improve recreational 
amenities in all parts of the City. The next several years will involve a focus in this area and 
capital improvements that will support those strategic goals. Finally, the FY 2016 financial results 
will foreshadow the City’s notification in 2017 that its credit rating will increase to AAA status 
from Moody’s Investors Service. We anticipate further strength in our financial condition as we 
address our community needs. 
 



 

-4.10- 

 
 
 
 
 
Contacting the City’s Financial Management 
This financial report is designed to provide citizens, taxpayers, investors, and creditors with a 
general overview of the City's finances and to show the City's accountability for the money it 
receives.  If you have any questions about this report or need additional financial information, 
contact Melvin Turner, III, Finance Director - City of Vestavia Hills, 513 Montgomery Highway, 
Vestavia Hills, AL 35216, or by calling (205) 978-0128, Monday through Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 
5:00 p.m., Central Standard Time.  

 $‐

 $10,000,000.00

 $20,000,000.00

 $30,000,000.00

 $40,000,000.00

 $50,000,000.00

 $60,000,000.00

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Approximate Value Commercial  New Construction

Approximate Value

16
6 2 5 4 2 4 7

21 22

86

35
26

36
50

78

99

114
95 91

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Total Building Permits 2007 to 2016 
New Construction

Commercial Residential



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Statement of Net Position 

 

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements. 
‐ 5 ‐ 

 

Governmental 

Activities

Assets

Cash and temporary investments 20,869,346$        

Cash ‐ restricted 2,216,911             

Receivables 1,973,722             

Inventory 38,768                   

Prepaid expenses 41,214                   

Land 71,288,103          

Construction in progress 3,077,438             

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 59,470,062          

Total assets 158,975,564        

Deferred Outflows of Resources

Deferred charges ‐ debt refunding 1,664,649             

Employer pension contributions subsequent to measurement date 1,911,298             

Differences between expected and actual experience 1,819,177             

1,479,820             

Total deferred outflows of resources 6,874,944             

Liabilities

Accounts payable 4,338,440             

Court and performance bonds payable 1,523,364             

Accrued interest payable 348,192                

Noncurrent liabilities

Due within one year:

Compensated absences 363,787                

Warrants payable, net 2,625,000             

Obligation due under long‐term capital leases 963,615                

Due in more than one year:

Compensated absences 2,061,462             

Warrants payable, net 56,032,929          

Obligation due under long‐term capital leases 2,460,352             

Net pension liability 23,670,732          

Total liabilities 94,387,873          

Net position

77,269,317          

1,420,389             

Unrestricted (deficit) (7,227,071)           

Total net position 71,462,635$        

Restricted

Net investment in capital assets

September 30, 2016

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan investments



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Statement of Activities 

   

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements. 
‐6‐ 

Year ended September 30, 2016

Primary 

Government

Program Activities Expenses

Fees, Fines 

and Charges 

for Services

Operating Grants 

and 

Contributions

Capital Grants 

and 

Contributions Total
Primary government
  Governmental activities:
  General government administration 10,562,037$     3,609,686$      ‐$                              298,425$                (6,653,926)$    
  Public safety 18,493,943       690,658            686,309                   ‐                                (17,116,976)    
  Public works 10,138,974       2,082,378        50,000                     ‐                                (8,006,596)       
  Library 2,442,566         100,193            20,293                     629                           (2,321,451)       
  Interest on long‐term debt 1,884,006         ‐                          ‐                                ‐                                (1,884,006)       

       Total primary government 43,521,526$     6,482,915$      756,602$                299,054$                (35,982,955)    

General revenues:
   Taxes:
     Ad Valorem (real and personal property) 14,528,727      
     Sales and use 13,058,992      
     Other taxes 2,184,779        
Utility franchise fees 2,721,544        
Investment earnings 141,220            
Donated infrastructure assets 311,241            
Miscellaneous 328,224            
Gain on sale of assets 928,181            

34,202,908      

Change in net position (1,780,047)       

Net position ‐ beginning of year  73,242,682      

Net position at end of year 71,462,635$    

Program Revenues

Net (Expense) 

Revenue and 

Changes in 

Net Assets

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Governmental Funds Balance Sheet 

 

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements. 
 

 
Debt Capital 

General Service Projects

Assets

Cash and temporary investments 13,138,835$        600,011$         6,127,910$         

Cash ‐ restricted 1,525,646             530,058           161,207               

Accounts receivable, 

net of allowance for uncollectibles 1,782,808             ‐                         46,658                 

Accrued interest ‐                              1,945                ‐                            

Inventory 38,768                   ‐                         ‐                            

Prepaid expenses 41,214                   ‐                         ‐                            

Interfund receivables 111,483                 ‐                         59,981                 

Total assets 16,638,754$        1,132,014$     6,395,756$         

Liabilities

Accounts payable 1,593,890$           ‐$                       2,544,795$         

Court and performance bonds payable 1,523,364             ‐                         ‐                            

Interfund payables 59,981                   ‐                         ‐                            

Total liabilities 3,177,235             ‐                         2,544,795           

Fund balance

Nonspendable 79,982                   ‐                         ‐                            

Restricted for:

Road maintenance ‐                              ‐                         ‐                            

Debt service requirement ‐                              1,132,014        ‐                            

Committed to:

  Capital projects ‐                              ‐                         1,748,128           

Emergency reserve 9,824,113             ‐                         ‐                            

Assigned 744,174                 ‐                         2,102,833           

Unassigned 2,813,250             ‐                         ‐                            

Total fund balance 13,461,519           1,132,014        3,850,961           

Total liabilities and fund balance 16,638,754$        1,132,014$     6,395,756$         

     

September 30, 2016

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

‐ 7 ‐ 

Other Total

Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

1,002,590$                  20,869,346$           

‐                                      2,216,911                

142,311                        1,971,777                

‐                                      1,945                        

‐                                      38,768                      

‐                                      41,214                      

27,644                           199,108                    

1,172,545$                  25,339,069$           

199,755$                      4,338,440$              

‐                                      1,523,364                

139,127                        199,108                    

338,882                        6,060,912                

‐                                      79,982                      

 

288,375                        288,375                    

‐                                      1,132,014                

 

‐                                      1,748,128                

‐                                      9,824,113                

545,288                        3,392,295                

‐                                      2,813,250                

833,663                        19,278,157              

1,172,545$                  25,339,069$           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds  

Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position 
 

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements. 
‐ 8 ‐ 

September 30, 2016

Fund balance ‐ total governmental funds 19,278,157$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the 

statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not

current financial resources and therefore are not reported

in the governmental funds balance sheet.

Governmental capital assets 176,529,467$    

Accumulated depreciation (42,693,864) 133,835,603     

Deferred outflows of resources related to debt refundings and pensions are 

applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the 

governmental funds balance sheet. 6,874,944

Long‐term liabilities are not due and payable in the current

period and therefore, they are not reported in the 

governmental funds balance sheet.

Warrants payable, net (58,657,929)       

Net pension liability (23,670,732)       

Compensated absences (2,425,249)          

Accrued interest payable (348,192)             

Capital lease payable (3,423,967)           (88,526,069)     

Net position of governmental activities 71,462,635$     

   
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds 
 

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements. 
‐ 9 ‐ 

Other Total

Debt Capital  Governmental Governmental

General Service Projects Funds Funds

Revenues

Taxes 27,645,092$        ‐$                           ‐$                           1,467,177$                    29,112,269$          

Licenses and permits 4,228,918             ‐                             ‐                              113,021                          4,341,939               

Intergovernmental   ‐                              ‐                             ‐                              660,230                          660,230                   

Charges for services 362,092                 ‐                             ‐                              ‐                                       362,092                   

Fines and forfeitures 410,475                 ‐                             ‐                              488,968                          899,443                   

Fees 2,774,763             ‐                             ‐                              ‐                                       2,774,763               

Grants 547,717                 ‐                             487,017                19,004                            1,053,738               

Proceeds from sale of assets 42,483                   ‐                             1,253,941            ‐                                       1,296,424               

Interest revenues 99,568                   11,556                  29,636                  460                                  141,220                   

Library revenues ‐                              ‐                             ‐                              102,112                          102,112                   

Other revenues 664,333                 213,913                176,005                ‐                                       1,054,251               

Total revenues 36,775,441           225,469                1,946,599            2,850,972                      41,798,481             

Expenditures

 Current (operating):

General government

  administration 5,988,377             155,389                101,304                526,449                          6,771,519               

Public safety 16,415,405           ‐                             267,972                845,481                          17,528,858             

Public works 6,957,917             ‐                             381,784                914,774                          8,254,475               

Library 1,643,715             ‐                             ‐                              73,067                            1,716,782               

Debt service ‐                              4,421,060            914,089                108,446                          5,443,595               

Capital outlay 206,850                 ‐                             5,581,510            756,711                          6,545,071               

Total expenditures 31,212,264           4,576,449            7,246,659            3,224,928                      46,260,300             

Excess of revenues

  over (under) 

  expenditures 5,563,177             (4,350,980)          (5,300,060)           (373,956)                        (4,461,819)             

Other financing sources (uses)

Operating transfers in ‐                              4,386,706            2,710,059            27,128                            7,123,893               

Operating transfers out (5,119,307)           (2,004,586)          ‐                              ‐                                       (7,123,893)             

Other financing sources ‐

  proceeds of capital lease ‐                              ‐                             1,240,566            448,305                          1,688,871               

Other financing uses‐          

  transfer to Board of Education ‐                              ‐                             (2,000,000)           ‐                                       (2,000,000)             

Other financing uses‐

  payment to refunded bond escrow agent ‐                              (10,923,875)        ‐                              ‐                                       (10,923,875)           

Other financing sources ‐

  proceeds of refunding bonds ‐                              11,810,000          ‐                              ‐                                       11,810,000             

Other financing sources ‐ 

  original issuance premium ‐                              1,265,051            ‐                              ‐                                       1,265,051               

Total other financing

  sources (uses) (5,119,307)           4,533,296            1,950,625            475,433                          1,840,047               

Excess of revenues and 

  other financing sources over 

  (under) expenditures 

  and other financing uses 443,870                 182,316                (3,349,435)           101,477                          (2,621,772)             

Fund balance, beginning of year 13,017,649           949,698                7,200,396            732,186                          21,899,929             

Fund balance, end of year 13,461,519$        1,132,014$          3,850,961$          833,663$                       19,278,157$          

Year ended September 30, 2016

 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and  

Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the 
Government‐wide Statement of Activities 

 

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements. 
‐ 10 ‐ 

Net change in fund balances ‐ total governmental funds (2,621,772)$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement

of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures.

However, in the government‐wide statement of activities,

the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated

useful lives as depreciation expense.

Expenditures for capital assets 6,545,071$              

Less current year depreciation (4,448,281)               2,096,790         

Some revenues reported in the government‐wide statement

of activities do not provide current financial resources and 

therefore are not reported as revenues in the governmental funds.

The net effect of transactions involving the disposal of capital

assets is to decrease net position. (674,173)           

The effect of donated infrastructure and other assets is to increase net position. 311,241             

The issuance of long‐term debt provides current financial resources

to governmental funds, but increases long‐term liabilities

in the government‐wide statement of net position.

Proceeds of refunding warrants (11,810,000)     

Proceeds of capital leases (1,688,871)        

Bond issuance premium (1,265,051)        

Repayment of long‐term debt principal (including capital leases)

are expenditures in the governmental funds, but reduce

long‐term liabilities in the statement of net position. 3,524,046         

The amount paid in order to refund old debt ("reacquisition price") is reported

as an other financing use in the governmental funds. However, the principal 

amount of refunded debt is reported as a reduction of long‐term liabilities in 

the government‐wide statement of net position. 9,955,000         

Furthermore, the difference between the reacquisition price and the carrying  

amount of the old debt is deferred and amortized in the government‐wide 

statement of net position. 968,875             

Some expenses reported in the government‐wide statement

of activities do not require the use of current financial 

resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures

in governmental funds.

Difference in pension expense related to deferred

outflows of resources and net pension liability (290,587)$                

Change in long‐term compensated absences (321,089)                  

Change in accrued interest payable (3,731)                       

Amortization of bond premiums/discounts, net 118,687                    

Amortization of loss on refunding (79,412)                     (576,132)           

Change in net position of governmental activities (1,780,047)$     

September 30, 2016

 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statement Index 

 

 

                        Page 
   
Note 1 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies            12 
   
Note 2 – Cash and Investments                21 
   
Note 3 – Capital Assets                   23 
   
Note 4 – Capitalized Leases                  24 
   
Note 5 – Accounts Receivable                  25 
   
Note 6 – Long‐term Debt                  25 
   
Note 7 – Pension Plan                    27 
   
Note 8 – Accumulated Compensated Absences            34 
   
Note 9 – Post‐Employment Benefits                35 
   
Note 10 – Deferred Compensation Plan              40 
   
Note 11 – Contingencies and Commitments              40 
   
Note 12 – Future Accounting Pronouncements            40 
   
Note 13 – Subsequent Event                  41 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 12 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama  (the “City”) was  incorporated on November 8, 1950.   The City 
operates under a Council‐Manager form of government organized to comply with the provisions of 
Title 11, Chapter 43, Sections 20‐22 of the Code of Alabama 1975, as amended.  The City Council is 
composed of five officials (four Councilors and the Mayor who serves as President of the Council) 
elected at‐large for concurrent four year terms.  The City Manager is appointed by the City Council.  
The terms of the current administration are scheduled to expire October 31, 2016. 
 
The accounting policies of the City conform to generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as 
applicable  to  the  governmental  units.  This  report,  the  accounting  systems  and  classification  of 
accounts  conform  to  standards  of  the  Governemental  Accounting  Standards  Board  (GASB)  or, 
where applicable, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB).  The accounting and reporting 
framework and the more significant accounting policies are discussed in subsequent subsections of 
this note.   
 
A. Related Organization 

The  City  Council  is  responsible  for  appointing  the members  of  the  Vestavia  Hills  Board  of 
Education  (the Board).   However,  the City has no  control or  influence  in  the presentation or 
adoption of  the Board's  annual operating budget;  the City  is not  responsible  for  any budget 
deficits  incurred by the Board; and the Board has the authority to  issue debt securities, which 
are neither secured by the City's revenues or obligations of the City.  Accordingly, the financial 
statements of the Board are not presented  in the accompanying financial statements because 
the City is not considered to be financially accountable for the Board. 
 
The City currently receives advalorem taxes from the Jefferson County Tax Collector based on a 
total millage rate of 49.30 mills.   Of the 49.30 mills received  from the County, 20.55 mills are 
kept  by  the  City  to  fund  general  government  operations  and  the  balance  of  28.75 mills  is 
remitted by the City to the Vestavia Hills Board of Education.  During the year ended September 
30, 2016,  the  total advalorem  taxes  remitted  to  the Board amounted  to approximately $18.6 
million and $445,500 was due the Board of Education at September 30, 2016. 
 

B. Government‐Wide Financial Statements 
The  Statement  of  Net  Position  and  Statement  of  Activities  display  information  about  the 
reporting  government  as  a  whole.    They  include  funds  of  the  reporting  entity  except  for 
fiduciary  funds and component units that are  fiduciary  in nature  (at year end the City had no 
fiduciary type activity). 
 
Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and 
other nonexchange revenues. 
 
The Statement of Activities demonstrates  the degree  to which  the direct expenses of a given 
function or segment are offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to  



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 13 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
customers  or  applicants  who  purchase,  use,  or  directly  benefit  from  goods,  services,  or 
privileges provided by  a  given  function or  segment  and  2)  grants  and  contributions  that  are 
restricted  to  meeting  the  operational  or  capital  requirements  of  a  particular  function  or 
segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 
instead as general revenues. 

 
C. Fund Financial Statements 

Fund  financial  statements  of  the  reporting  entity  are  organized  into  funds,  each  of which  is 
considered  to  be  a  separate  accounting  entity.    Each  fund  is  accounted  for  by  providing  a 
separate  set  of  self‐balancing  accounts  that  constitute  its  assets,  liabilities,  fund  equity, 
revenues,  and  expenditure/expenses.    Funds  are  organized  into  three  major  categories: 
governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary (the City has no proprietary or fiduciary funds at year 
end).    An  emphasis  is  placed  on  major  funds  within  the  governmental  categories.    At  a 
minimum, governmental funds other than the general fund must be reported as major funds if 
they meet both of the following criteria: 
 
a. Ten percent criterion.  An individual governmental fund reports at least 10 percent of any of 

the  following: a)  total governmental  fund assets, b)  total governmental  fund  liabilities,  c) 
total governmental fund revenues, or d) total governmental fund expenditures. 
 

b. Five  percent  criterion. An  individual  governmental  fund  reports  at  least  5  percent  of  the 
aggregated total for both governmental funds and proprietary funds of any one of the items 
for which it met the 10 percent criterion. 

 
The funds of the financial reporting entity are described below: 

 
Governmental funds 
1. General Fund 

The General Fund is the principal fund of the City and is always classified as a major fund.  It 
is used to account for all revenues and expenditures applicable to the general operations of 
City  government  which  are  not  properly  accounted  for  in  another  fund.    All  general 
operating revenues which are not restricted or designated as to their use by outside sources 
are recorded in the General Fund. 

 
2. Special Revenue Funds 

Special Revenue  Funds  are used  to  account  for  the proceeds of  specific  revenue  sources 
that are restricted to expenditures for specified purposes. 

 
3. Debt Service Funds 

The Debt Service Fund  is used to account  for  financial resources related to the City's debt 
service and debt defeasances. The City elects to report this fund as a major fund to enhance 
consistency from year to year. 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 14 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

4. Capital Project Funds 
Capital Projects Funds are used to account for financial resources that are received and used 
for the acquisition, construction, or improvement of capital assets. 

 
5. Major and Nonmajor Funds 

The General Fund, Capital Projects Fund, and Debt Service Fund are classified as major funds 
and are described above. 
 
The  remaining  Other  Governmental  Funds  (Special  Revenue  Funds)  are  classified  as 
nonmajor funds and are described above. 

 
D. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 

Measurement  focus  is a  term used  to describe  "which"  transactions are  recorded within  the 
various  financial  statements.   Basis of accounting  refers  to  "when"  transactions are  recorded 
regardless of the measurement focus applied. 

 
Measurement focus 
On  the  Government‐Wide  Statement  of  Net  Position  and  the  Statement  of  Activities, 
governmental activities are presented using the "economic resources" measurement focus.  The 
accounting objectives of  this measurement  focus are  the determination of operating  income, 
changes  in net position  (or  cost  recovery),  financial position,  and  cash  flows.   All  assets  and 
liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) associated with their activities are reported. 

 
In  the  fund  financial  statements,  the  "current  financial  resources" measurement  focus or  the 
"economic  resources" measurement  focus  is  used  as  appropriate.    All  governmental  funds 
utilize  a  "current  financial  resources" measurement  focus.   Only  current  financial  assets  and 
liabilities are generally  included on  their balance  sheets.   Their operating  statements present 
sources and uses of available spendable financial resources during a given period.  These funds 
use fund balance as their measure of available spendable financial resources at the end of the 
period. 
 
Basis of accounting 
In the Government‐Wide Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, governmental 
activities  are  presented  using  the  accrual  basis  of  accounting.    Under  the  accrual  basis  of 
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability 
is  incurred  or  economic  asset  used.  Revenues,  expenses,  gains,  losses,  assets  and  liabilities 
resulting  from  exchange  and  exchange‐like  transactions  are  recognized when  the  exchange 
takes place. 
 
In  the  fund  financial  statements,  governmental  funds  are presented on  the modified  accrual 
basis of accounting. Under  the modified accrual basis of accounting,  revenues are  recognized  
  



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 15 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
when  "measurable  and  available”.   Measurable means  knowing  or  being  able  to  reasonably 
estimate the amount.  Available means collectible within the current period or within sixty days 
after  year  end.    Expenditures  (including  capital  outlay)  are  recorded when  the  related  fund 
liability is incurred, except for general obligation bond principal and interest which are reported 
when due. 
 

E. Receivables 
In the Government‐Wide statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year‐end and 
not  yet  received.   Allowances  for uncollectible accounts  receivable are based upon historical 
trends  and  the  periodic  aging  of  accounts  receivable.    Major  receivable  balances  for  the 
governmental activities include sales and use taxes, advalorem taxes, and other taxes. 

 
In  the  fund  financial  statements,  receivables  in  governmental  funds  include  the  receivables 
mentioned in the preceding paragraph and other similar intergovernmental revenues since they 
are  usually  both  measurable  and  available.    Nonexchange  transactions  collectible  but  not 
available are deferred in the fund financial statements in accordance with modified accrual, but 
not deferred in the government‐wide financial statements in accordance with the accrual basis.  
Interest and  investment earnings are  recorded when earned only  if paid within 60 days since 
they would be considered both measurable and available. 

 
F.   Equity Classifications 

Government‐wide statements 
Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components: 

a. Net  investment  in  capital  assets  ‐  Consists  of  capital  assets  including  restricted  capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation, construction in progress, land, and reduced by the 
outstanding  balances  of  any  bonds,  mortgages,  notes,  or  other  borrowings  that  are 
attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 
 

b. Restricted  ‐ Constraints placed on  the use either by  (1) external groups  such as creditors, 
grantors,  contributors,  or  laws  or  regulations  of  other  governments;  or  (2)  law  through 
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
c. Unrestricted ‐ All other net position that do not meet the definition of "restricted" or "net 

investment in capital assets". 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 16 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Fund statements 
In  the  fund  financial  statements,  governmental  funds  report  aggregate  amounts  for  five 
classifications of fund balances based on the constraints imposed on the use of these resources. 
The nonspendable  fund balance classification  includes amounts that cannot be spent because 
they  are  either  (a)  not  in  spendable  form  –  prepaid  items  or  inventories;  or  (b)  legally  or 
contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 
The  spendable  portion  of  the  fund  balance  comprises  the  remaining  four  classifications: 
restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned. 
 

Restricted  fund  balance.  This  classification  reflects  the  constraints  imposed  on  resources 
either  (a)  externally  by  creditors,  grantors,  contributors,  or  laws  or  regulations  of  other 
governments;  or  (b)  imposed  by  law  through  constitutional  provisions  or  enabling 
legislation. 
 
Committed fund balance. These amounts can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to 
constraints  imposed by  formal  resolutions of  the City Council –  the government’s highest 
level of decision making authority.  Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other 
purpose unless the City Council removes the specified use by taking the same type of action 
imposing  the commitment.   This classification also  includes contractual obligations  to  the 
extent  that  existing  resources  in  the  fund  have  been  specifically  committed  for  use  in 
satisfying those contractual requirements. 
 
Assigned  fund  balance.  The  classification  reflects  the  amounts  constrained  by  the  City’s 
“intent” to be used for specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed.  The City 
Council  and management  have  the  authority  to  assign  amounts  to  be  used  for  specific 
purposes.  Assigned fund balances include all remaining amounts (except negative balances) 
that  are  reported  in  governmental  funds,  other  than  the  General  Fund,  that  are  not 
classified as nonspendable and are neither restricted nor committed. 
 
Unassigned  fund  balance.  This  fund  balance  is  the  residual  classification  for  the General 
Fund.  It is also used to report negative fund balances in all governmental funds. 
 
The City has assigned $500,000 of  the General Fund  fund balance  for  the City’s unfunded 
pension liability and $244,174 for encumbrances. 
 
The  City  has  assigned  $2,102,833  of  the  Capital  Projects  Fund  fund  balance  for 
encumbrances. 
 
 

 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 17 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

The  City  has  assigned  $545,288  of  the  Other  Governmental  Funds  fund  balance  for  use  as 
follows: $277,753 for the City’s Emergency 911 Fund, $1,018 for the Court & Corrections Fund, 
$237,848 for the Library and $28,669 for Vehicle Tags. 

 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use,  it  is the City’s policy to 
use restricted resources first, then committed, assigned, and unassigned – in order as needed. 
 
The City Council has adopted an Emergency Reserve Fund Balance Policy. Under this policy, it is 
the  City’s  intent  to  develop  and maintain  a  General  Fund  Emergency  Reserve  fund  balance 
representing  at  least  25%  of  prior  year  actual General  Fund  expenditures  (modified  accrual 
basis)  plus  operating  transfers  out.  The  City  Council  has  currently  committed  $9,824,113  of 
General Fund fund balance for economic stabilization  in case of an emergency. An emergency 
that would warrant  use  of  their  committed  fund  balance  is  defined  as  an  unforeseen  non‐
routine event that generally represents an economic impact to the City greater than 5% of the 
previous 5 year average of sales tax collections by the City and this event cost can’t be absorbed 
by reducing the current year budgeted expenses, increasing current year budgeted revenue, or 
the event occurred too late in the year to overcome the impact by adjusting the budget in the 
normal course of the City’s business. 

 
G.   Long‐term Debt 

In  the government‐wide  financial  statements  long‐term debt and other  long‐term obligations 
are  reported as  liabilities  in  the applicable governmental activities  statement of net position. 
Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over  the  life of  the bonds.  Losses 
resulting from the refunding of bonds are deferred and amortized over the remaining life of the 
old  debt  or  the  life  of  the  new  debt, whichever  is  shorter.   Debt  issuance  costs  (except  for 
prepaid insurance costs) are recognized as an expense in the period incurred. 
 

In  the  fund  financial  statements,  governmental  fund  types  recognize  bond  premiums  and 
discounts, as well as bond  issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt 
issued  is  reported  as  other  financing  sources.  Premiums  received  on  debt  issuances  are 
reported as other  financing  sources while discounts on debt  issuances are  reported as other 
financing uses. Issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures except as noted above. 
 

H.    Expenditures/Expenses 
In  the  government‐wide  financial  statements,  expenses  are  classified  by  function  for  the 
governmental activities. 
 

In the fund financial statements, expenditures are classified as follows: 

Governmental Funds – By Character:  Current (further classified by function) 
  Debt Service 

  Capital Outlay 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expenditures of financial resources. 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 18 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
I.    Fixed Assets 

The  accounting  treatment  for  property,  plant,  and  equipment  (fixed  assets)  depends  on 
whether the assets are reported in the government‐wide or fund financial statements. 
 
In  the government‐wide  financial statements,  fixed assets with  initial  individual costs of more 
than  $5,000  and  an  estimated  useful  life  in  excess  of  one  year  are  accounted  for  as  capital 
assets.    All  fixed  assets  are  valued  at  historical  cost,  or  estimated  historical  cost  if  actual  is 
unavailable, except for donated fixed assets which are recorded at their estimated fair value at 
the date of donation.  Historical cost was used to value the majority of the assets. 

 
Depreciation of all exhaustible fixed assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the Statement 
of  Activities,  with  accumulated  depreciation  reflected  in  the  Statement  of  Net  Assets.  
Depreciation is provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight‐line method of 
depreciation.  The range of estimated useful lives by type of assets is as follows:  

Buildings  20‐50 years 
Improvements  10‐50 years 
Machinery and equipment  3‐20 years 
Infrastructure  25‐50 years 
 
Fund financial statements 
In  the  fund  financial  statements,  fixed  assets  used  in  governmental  fund  operations  are 
accounted for as expenditures of the government upon acquisition. 

 
J.   Encumbrances 

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for 
the  expenditure  of monies  are  recorded  in  order  to  reserve  that  portion  of  the  applicable 
appropriation, is employed as an extension of formal budgetary integration.  Any encumbrances 
outstanding  at  year‐end  are  reported  as  assigned,  restricted,  or  committed  fund  balance  as 
applicable and do not  constitute expenditures or  liabilities because  the  commitments will be 
honored during the subsequent year. 

 
K.   Inventory 

Inventory  items, which consist mainly of garage parts, are valued at cost which approximates 
market.  The cost of inventory is recorded as an expenditure when consumed rather than when 
purchased. 
 

L.   Pension 
The  Employees’ Retirement  System of Alabama  (the  Plan)  financial  statements  are  prepared 
using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting.  
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 19 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Contributions are recognized when due and payable  in accordance with the terms of the plan. 
Expenses are  recognized when  the  corresponding  liability  is uncured,  regardless of when  the 
payment is made. Investments are reported at fair value. Financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with requirements of the Governmental Accounting Standard Board (GASB). Under 
these  requirements,  the Plan  is considered a component unit of  the State of Alabama and  is 
included in the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 

 
M.   Interfund Transactions 

During the course of normal operations, the City  incurs numerous transactions between funds 
to  provide  services,  construct  assets,  service  debt,  etc.    These  transactions  are  generally 
reported  as  operating  transfers  except  in  instances  where  the  transfer  represents  the 
reimbursement to a fund for expenditures incurred for the benefit of another fund.  Remaining 
fund balances in discontinued funds and non‐recurring, non‐routine transfers are accounted for 
as residual equity transfers. 

 
Details of current interfund receivables and payables are as follows: 

Payable from    Payable to    Amount 

General Fund    Capital Projects Fund  $  59,981 
Other Governmental Funds    General Fund    111,483 
Other Governmental Funds    Other Governmental Funds    27,644 

      $  199,108 

 
The purpose of the interfund receivable balance to the Capital Projects Fund from the General  
Fund is for the sales tax capital reserve transfer. 
 
The  purpose  of  the  interfund  receivable  balance  to  the  General  Fund  from  the  Other 
Governmental Funds is for the motor vehicle tag fees due to the General Fund. 
 
The purpose of  the  interfund  receivable balance  to  the Other Governmental  Funds  from  the 
Other Governmental  Funds  is  for  reimbursement of paving expenses paid  from one  fund on 
behalf of the other. 
 
Interfund receivables and payables and transfers between funds within governmental activities 
are eliminated in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 20 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Transfers for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016 consisted of the following: 
 

Debt  

General Service

Transfer to Fund Fund Total

   Debt Service Fund $         4,386,706  $                               ‐  $           4,386,706 

   Other Governmental Funds                 27,128                                  ‐                  27,128 

   Capital Projects Fund            705,473               2,004,586            2,710,059 

   Total $         5,119,307  $              2,004,586  $           7,123,893 

Transfer From

 
The  purpose  of  the  transfer  from  the  General  Fund  to  the  Debt  Service  Fund  is  for  the 
reimbursement of debt service paid from the Debt Service Fund. 
 
The purpose of  the  transfer  from  the General  Fund  to  the Other Governmental  Funds  is  for 
operations of the Municipal Court. 
 

The purpose of the transfer from the General Fund to the Capital Projects Fund is for the capital 
reserve allocation from the General Fund. 
 

The  purpose  of  the  transfer  from  the  Debt  Service  Fund  to  the  Capital  Projects  Fund  is  to 
transfer proceeds of debt to be used for capital purchases. 
 

O.   Property Taxes 
All  ad  valorem  real property  taxes  levied by municipalities  in  Jefferson County, Alabama  are 
assessed  by  the  Jefferson  County  Tax  Assessor  and  collected  by  the  Jefferson  County  Tax 
Collector.  The Jefferson County Tax Assessor attaches taxes as enforceable liens on property as 
of September 30 and taxes become due October 1 through December 31.   Property taxes not 
paid by January 1 are considered delinquent.  Personal property taxes are also collected by the 
Jefferson  County  Tax  Collector  and  are  due  throughout  the  year.    After  collecting  property 
taxes, the Jefferson County Tax Collector remits the City’s portion by check on a monthly basis. 
Taxes collected by the Jefferson County Tax Collector prior to fiscal year end but remitted to the 
City after September 30 are accrued in the General Fund.  

 

P.    Management Estimates 
The  preparation  of  financial  statements  in  conformity  with  generally  accepted  accounting 
principles  requires management  to make estimates and assumptions  that affect  the  reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, contingent liabilities and the reported amount of revenues and 
expenditures/expenses  during  the  reporting  period.    Actual  results  could  differ  from  those 
estimates. 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 21 ‐ 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Q. Deferred outflows/inflows 
In addition to assets, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred  outflows  of  resources.  This  separate  financial  statement  element  represents  a 
consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as 
an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City currently has four items that 
qualify for reporting  in this category. The first  is the deferred charge on refunding reported  in 
the government‐wide statement of net position. A deferred charge on  refunding  results  from 
the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is 
deferred  and  amortized  over  the  shorter  of  the  life  of  the  refunded  or  refunding  debt.  The 
second  one  is  related  to  pensions  resulting  from  City  contributions  subsequent  to  the 
measurement date that will be recognized as a reduction of net pension  liability  in 2017. The 
third one is the difference between expected and actual experience of the pension plan and the 
fourth  one  is  the  difference  between  projected  and  actual  earnngs  on  plan  investments.  In 
addition to liabilities, the Statement of Net Position will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred  inflows of  resources. This  separate  financial  statement element, deferred  inflows of 
resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will 
not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. At this time, the City has 
no transactions that meets the definition of deferred inflows of resources.  
 

R. Subsequent Events 
The  City  has  evaluated  subsequent  events  through  the  date  of  issuance  of  these  financial 
statements. 

 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
The City maintains several checking accounts that are separately held by several of the City's funds. 
In addition, investments may also be held by an individual City fund.  Deposits and investments are 
stated at market values.   At year‐end, the City’s only  investments are certificates of deposits that 
are amortized at cost in accordance with GASB 72. 
 
At year‐end, the carrying amount and bank balance of the City's deposit accounts were as follows: 
 

Carrying Bank

Amount Balance

All funds $ 23,086,257 $ 22,626,959

 
 
At September 30, 2016, all of  the bank balance of  the City's  funds was either covered by  federal 
depository  insurance  or  secured  by  collateral  through  the Alabama  State  Treasury's  Security  for 
Alabama  Funds  Enhancement  (SAFE)  Program.    Under  the  SAFE  program,  the  City's  funds  are 
protected through a collateral pool administered by the Alabama State Treasury. 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 22 ‐ 

NOTE 2 – CASH AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Certain banks holding deposits belonging to the state, counties, cities, or agencies of any of these 
entities must pledge securities as collateral against these deposits.  In the event of the failure of a 
bank,  securities pledged by  that bank would be  liquidated by  the  State Treasurer  to  replace  the 
public deposits.  If the securities pledged failed to produce adequate funds for that purpose, every 
bank participating in the pool would share the liability for the remaining balance.  At September 30, 
2016, all of the City's depositories are participating in the SAFE program. 
 
Included  in  the  carrying  amount  above  are  restricted  assets  totaling  $2,216,911 which  included 
deposits  of  $1,523,364  related  to  construction,  land  disturbance,  and  court  appearance  bonds.  
These  deposits  consist  of  cash  equivalents  and  are  considered  restricted  as  they  are payable  to 
various  third parties upon  completion of a  future event.   Accordingly, a corresponding  liability  is 
recorded for this amount. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 23 ‐ 

NOTE 3 – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Following is a summary of the changes in the City's capital assets for the year ended September 30, 
2016: 

Disposals/

Balance at Retirements/ Balance at

9/30/2015 Additions Completed 9/30/2016

$ 67,321,602  $ 3,966,501  $                             ‐  $ 71,288,103 

23,239,441  3,535,084        (23,697,087) 3,077,438 

       1,334,085                         ‐          (1,334,085)                         ‐ 

Total capital assets not

  being depreciated 91,895,128  7,501,585        (25,031,172) 74,365,541 

8,997,140           338,515                              ‐  9,335,655 

12,788,888     19,043,381              (883,840) 30,948,429 

404,735           119,514              (171,261) 352,988 

7,400,122  505,280              (409,045) 7,496,357 

5,803,034  958,533              (151,652) 6,609,915 

1,593,764  268,521                (13,385) 1,848,900 

2,058,753  66,565                              ‐  2,125,318 

980,402       1,396,704                              ‐  2,377,106 

129,759                3,956                              ‐  133,715 

22,960,832                         ‐                              ‐  22,960,832 

1,411,860  185,385                              ‐  1,597,245 

15,183,851  1,193,615                              ‐  16,377,466 

Total capital assets being

  depreciated 79,713,140  24,079,969          (1,629,183) 102,163,926 

3,861,626  469,959                              ‐  4,331,585 

3,374,132  888,481              (600,207) 3,662,406 

187,934  32,501                (87,786) 132,649 

3,752,176  662,838              (409,045) 4,005,969 

4,294,230  401,550              (150,517) 4,545,263 

1,238,853  208,008                (13,385) 1,433,476 

1,618,927  111,739                              ‐  1,730,666 

787,781  169,428                              ‐  957,209 

96,149  6,894                              ‐  103,043 

10,713,156  986,850                              ‐  11,700,006 

705,799  198,653                              ‐  904,452 

8,875,760  311,380                              ‐  9,187,140 

39,506,523  4,448,281          (1,260,940) 42,693,864 

Total capital assets being

  depreciated, net 40,206,617  19,631,688              (368,243) 59,470,062 

Governmental activities

  capital assets, net

Capital assets not being depreciated:

  Land 

  Construction in progress

Capital assets being depreciated:

  Infrastructure in progress

  Land improvements

  Buildings

  Building equipment and fixtures

  Vehicles

  Equipment

  Computer equipment

  Recreational equipment

  Office furniture and fixtures

  Office equipment

  Recreational facilities

  Books and artwork

  Infrastructure

Less accumulated depreciation for:

  Land improvements

  Buildings

  Building equipment and fixtures

  Vehicles

  Equipment

  Computer equipment

  Recreational equipment

  Office furniture and fixtures

  Office equipment

  Recreational facilities

  Books and artwork

  Infrastructure

$             (368,243) $ 133,835,603 

  Total accumulated depreciation

$ 132,101,745  $ 27,133,273 

 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 24 ‐ 

NOTE 3 – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 
Depreciation expense was charged to functions of the primary government as follows: 

Governmental activities:

General government administration $ 872,913           

Public safety 965,085           

Public works 1,884,499        

Library 725,784           

Total depreciation expense $ 4,448,281        

 
 
NOTE 4 – CAPITALIZED LEASES 
 
At September 30, 2016, approximately $3,107,893 in accumulated depreciation has been recorded 
in the government‐wide financial statements related to assets costing $7,014,065 purchased under 
capital  leases.    The  current portion of  the outstanding  liability  related  to  these  capital  leases  at 
September 30, 2016 reported in the government‐wide financial statements totaled $963,615.  The 
remaining  long‐term portion  of  these  capital  lease  obligations  reported  in  the  government‐wide 
financial statements totaled $2,460,352 at September 30, 2016. 
 
The following schedule shows the future minimum lease payments at September 30, 2016: 

Total Lease

Fiscal year Interest Principal Payment

2017 $ 57,145 $ 963,615 $ 1,020,760

2018 41,202 838,309 879,511

2019 26,393 780,430 806,823

2020 13,087 595,510 608,597

2021 3,416 154,700 158,116

2022 and thereafter 1,513 91,403 92,916

     Total $ 142,756 $ 3,423,967 $ 3,566,723

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 25 ‐ 

NOTE 5 – ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 
The following details the description and amounts of accounts receivable for the City: 

Sales taxes $ 1,064,449

Property taxes 324,573

Franchise fees 140,000

Transport receivable 108,589

Intergovernmental  197,739

Other receivables 136,427

     Total  $ 1,971,777

 
NOTE 6 – LONG‐TERM DEBT 
 
The  following  is  a  summary  of  the  changes  in  long‐term  debt  of  the  City  for  the  year  ended 
September 30, 2016: 
 

$ 57,340,000 

(2,565,000)

Refunded warrants (9,955,000)

11,810,000 

56,630,000 

2,061,462 

Bond issuance discount (127,093)

2,155,022 

$ 60,719,391 

Warrant obligations at September 30, 2015

Unamortized bond premium

     Total long‐term debt at September 30, 2016

Long‐term portion of accumulated compensated absences

     Total warrants outstanding

Debt issuance

Principal payments

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 26 ‐ 

NOTE 6 – LONG‐TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
Outstanding warrant obligations of the City at September 30, 2016 consist of the following: 
 
General Obligation Warrants, Series 2008 were issued in the principal amount of $9,615,000 in

February 2009. The warrants bear interest at an average of 4.38%, payable semiannually on

February 1 and August 1. The warrants mature serial ly with a final maturity in 2028 and are

callable on or after February 1, 2019 without premium or penalty, and at which time the

warrants  are callable at 100% plus  accrued interest. $ 1,195,000

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2009‐A were issued in the principal amount of

$10,940,000 in December 2009. The warrants bear interest at an average of 3.56%, payable

semiannually on February 1 and August 1. The warrants mature serially with a final maturity in

2028 and are callable at any time without penalty. 935,000

Taxable General Obligation Warrants, Series 2009‐B were issued in the principal amount of

$6,070,000 in December 2009. The warrants bear interest at an average of 4.8%, payable

semiannually on February 1 and August 1. The warrants mature serially with a final maturity in

2028 and are callable at any time without penalty. 5,765,000

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2012 were issued in the principal amount of $11,000,000

in June 2012. The warrants bear interest at an average of 3.5%, payable semiannually on

February 1 and August 1. The warrants mature serial ly with a final maturity in 2022 and are

callable at any time without penalty. 3,755,000

General Obligation Warrants, Qualified Energy Conservation Bonds (QECB) Series 2013 were

issued in the principal amount of $4,245,000 in May 2013. The warrants bear interest at an

average of 2.20%, payable semiannually on February 1 and August 1. The warrants mature

serially with a final maturity in 2033 and are callable at any time without penalty. (Net of

$530,058 held in sinking fund for repayment) 3,714,942

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2013A were issued in the principal amount of $10,000,000

in December 2013. The warrants bear interest at an average of 4.00%, payable semiannually on

February 1 and August 1. The warrants mature serial ly with a final maturity in 2033 and are

callable at any time without penalty. 10,000,000

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2014 were issued in the principal amount of $9,605,000 in

January 2014. The warrants bear interest at an average of 3.00%, payable semiannually on

February 1 and August 1. The warrants mature serial ly with a final maturity in 2031 and are

callable at any time without penalty. 9,010,000

General  Obligation Warrants, Series  2014 (CWSRF‐DL) were issued in the principal  amount of 

$960,000 in September 2014.  The warrants  bear interest at an average of 2.00%, payable 

semiannually on February 1 and August 1. The warrants  mature serial ly with a final  maturity in 

2034 and are callable at any time without penalty. 880,000

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2015 were issued in the principal amount of $9,205,000 in

August 2015. The warrants bear interest at an average of 2.00%, payable semiannually on

February 1 and August 1. The warrants mature serial ly with a final maturity in 2028 and are

callable at any time without penalty.
9,035,000

General Obligation Warrants, Series 2016 were issued in the principal amount of $11,810,000

in June 2016. The warrants bear interest at an average of 3.00%, payable semiannually on

February 1 and August 1. The warrants mature serial ly with a final maturity in 2028 and are

callable at any time without penalty. 11,810,000

Total  outstanding 56,099,942
Amount held in sinking fund for QECB payment 530,058

     Total obligation warrants $ 56,630,000

 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 27 ‐ 

NOTE 6 – LONG‐TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
The following schedule shows the debt service requirements at September 30, 2016: 

Debt Service Debt Service

Related to  Related to Total
Fiscal year Principal Interest Debt Service

2017 $ 2,625,000 $ 2,023,938 $ 4,648,938

2018 2,710,000 1,916,579 4,626,579

2019 2,700,000 1,825,342 4,525,342

2020 2,805,000 1,725,011 4,530,011

2021 2,900,000 1,614,324 4,514,324

2022‐2026 15,405,000 6,544,701 21,949,701

2027‐2031 16,185,000 3,761,045 19,946,045

2032‐2034 11,300,000 525,045 11,825,045

       $ 56,630,000 $ 19,935,985 $ 76,565,985

 
The total interest paid by the City during 2016 relative to the above warrants was $1,856,060. 
 
The City makes annual contributions into an invested sinking fund in the amount of $171,051 each 
fiscal year to pay the principal payment on the QECB warrants. This amount is included in the table 
above as debt service requirements. These amounts shall be held in the sinking fund and applied to 
the payment of the principal of the Warrants at maturity on February 1, 2033. The balance  in the 
sinking fund is $530,058 as of September 30, 2016. 
 
The City  issued  its General Obligation Warrants, Series 2016, dated  July 14, 2016,  in  the principal 
amount of $11,810,000. The Warrant proceeds were used to currently refund the remaining Series 
2009‐A Warrants and  to  finance certain capital  improvement projects as outlined  in  the Warrant 
indenture. Interest is payable semiannually on February 1st and August 1st of each year. 
 
As a  result of  the  refunding  the City  recorded deferred  charges of $968,875  in  the Government‐
wide Statement of Net Position.  These charges represent the difference between the reacquisition 
price and the net carrying amounts of the refunded warrants.  These costs are being amortized over 
the average remaining life of the refunded warrants.  The unamortized portion of these costs as of 
September 30, 2016 was $967,193. The transaction resulted in an economic gain of $669,040. 
 
 
NOTE 7 – PENSION PLAN 
 
Plan description 
The City  contributes  to  the Employees' Retirement  System of Alabama  (ERS),  an  agent multiple‐
employee retirement system, which acts as a common investment and administrative agent for the 
various state agencies and departments. 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 28 ‐ 

NOTE 7 – PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The Employees’ Retirement System of Alabama (ERS), an agent multiple‐employer public employee 
retirement  plan, was  established  as of October  1,  1945,  under  the  provisions  of Act  515  of  the 
Legislature of 1945. The purpose of the ERS is to provide retirement allowances and other specified 
benefits  for state employees, State Police, and on an elective basis,  to all cities, counties,  towns, 
and quasi‐public organizations. The  responsibility  for  the general administration and operation of 
ERS  is vested  in  its Board of Control. The ERS Board of Control consists of 13 trustees. The Plan  is 
administered  by  the  Retirement  Systems  of  Alabama  (RSA).  Title  36‐Chapter  27  of  the  Code  of 
Alabama grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to the ERS Board of Control. 
The Plan issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at www.rsa‐al.gov. 
 
The ERS Board of Control consists of 13 trustees as follows: 

 
1) The Governor, ex officio. 
2) The State Treasurer, ex officio. 
3) The State Personnel Director, ex officio. 
4) The State Director of Finance, ex officio. 
5) Three vested members of ERS appointed by the Governor for a term of four years, no two of 

whom  are  from  the  same department of  state  government nor  from  any department of 

which an ex officio trustee is the head. 

6) Six members of ERS who are elected by members from the same category of ERS for a term 

of four years as follows: 

a. Two retired members with one from the ranks of retired state employees and one 

from  the  ranks of  retired employees of a  city,  county, or a public agency each of 

whom is an active beneficiary of ERS. 

b. Two vested active state employees. 

c. Two vested active employees of an employer participating in ERS pursuant to § 36‐

27‐6. 

 
Benefits provided 
State  law establishes  retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits and any ad hoc 
increase  in postretirement benefits  for  the ERS. Benefits  for ERS members vest after 10 years of 
creditable service. State employees who  retire after age 60  (52  for State Police) with 10 years or 
more of creditable service or with 25 years of service (regardless of age) are entitled to an annual 
retirement benefit, payable monthly for life. Local employees who retire after age 60 with 10 years 
or more of creditable service or with 25 or 30 years of service (regardless of age), depending on the 
particular entity’s election, are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life. 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 29 ‐ 

NOTE 7 – PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
Benefits provided (continued) 
Service  and  disability  retirement  benefits  are  based  on  a  guaranteed  minimum  or  a  formula 
method, with  the member  receiving payment under  the method  that yields  the highest monthly 
benefit. Under the formula method, members of the ERS (except State Police) are allowed 2.0125% 
of their average final compensation (highest 3 of the  last 10 years) for each year of service. State 
Police are allowed 2.875% for each year of State Police service in computing the formula method.  
 
Act 377 of the Legislature of 2012 established a new tier of benefits (Tier 2) for members hired on 
or after January 1, 2013. Tier 2 ERS members are eligible for retirement after age 62 (56 for State 
Police) with 10 years or more of creditable service and are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, 
payable monthly  for  life.  Service  and  disability  retirement  benefits  are  based  on  a  guaranteed 
minimum or a formula method, with the member receiving payment under the method that yields 
the highest monthly benefit. Under the formula method, Tier 2 members of the ERS (except State 
Police) are allowed 1.65% of  their average  final compensation  (highest 5 of  the  last 10 years)  for 
each  year  of  service.  State  Police  are  allowed  2.375%  for  each  year  of  state  police  service  in 
computing the formula method. 
 

Members are eligible for disability retirement if they have 10 years of credible service, are currently 
in‐service, and determined by the RSA Medical Board to be permanently incapacitated from further 
performance  of  duty.  Preretirement  death  benefits  are  calculated  and  paid  to  the 
beneficiary on the member’s age, service credit, employment status and eligibility for retirement. 
 

The  ERS  serves  approximately  876  local  participating  employers.  These  participating  employers 
include  294  cities,  65  counties,  and  517  other  public  entities.  The  ERS  membership  includes 
approximately 84,393 participants. As of September 30, 2015, membership consisted of: 
 

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits           22,211   
Terminated employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits          1,353   
Terminated employees not entitled to a benefit              5,451   
Active Members                    55,378   
Total                                    84,393 
 

Contributions 
Covered members of the ERS contributed 5% of earnable compensation to the ERS as required by 
statute until September 30, 2011. From October 1, 2011, to September 30, 2012, covered members 
of  the  ERS  were  required  by  statute  to  contribute  7.25%  of  earnable  compensation.  Effective 
October  1,  2012,  covered members  of  the  ERS  are  required  by  statute  to  contribute  7.50%  of 
earnable compensation. Certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the ERS 
contributed 6% of earnable compensation as required by statute until September 30, 2011. From 
October  1,  2011,  to  September  30,  2012,  certified  law  enforcement,  correctional  officers,  and 
firefighters of  the  ERS were  required  by  statute  to  contribute  8.25%  of  earnable  compensation. 
Effective October 1, 2012, certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the  
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 30 ‐ 

NOTE 7 – PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
Contributions (continued) 
ERS are required by statute to contribute 8.50% of earnable compensation. State Police of the ERS 
contribute 10% of earnable  compensation. ERS  local participating employers are not  required by 
statute to increase contribution rates for their members.  
 

Tier 2 covered members of the ERS contribute 6% of earnable compensation to the ERS as required 
by  statute. Tier 2  certified  law enforcement,  correctional officers, and  firefighters of  the ERS are 
required by statute to contribute 7% of earnable compensation. Tier 2 State Police members of the 
ERS contribute 10% of earnable compensation. These contributions  rates are  the same  for Tier 2 
covered members of ERS local participating employers.  
 

The  ERS  establishes  rates  based  upon  an  actuarially  determined  rate  recommended  by  an 
independent actuary. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance 
the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with additional amounts to finance any 
unfunded  accrued  liability,  the  pre‐retirement  death  benefit  and  administrative 
expenses  of  the  Plan.  For  the  year  ended  September  30,  2016,  the  City’s  active  employee 
contribution rate was 12.07% of covered employee payroll and the City’s average contribution rate 
to fund the normal and accrued liability costs was 11.47%. 
 
The  City’s  contractually  required  contribution  rate  for  the  year  ended  September  30,  2016 was 
12.32%  of  pensionable  pay  for  Tier  1  employees  and  10.38%  of  pensionable  pay  for  Tier  2 
employees.  These  required  contribution  rates  are  based  upon  the  actuarial  valuation  dated 
September  30,  2013,  a  percent  of  annual  pensionable  payroll,  and  actuarially  determined  as  an 
amount  that,  when  combined  with member  contributions,  is  expected  to  finance  the  costs  of 
benefits earned by members during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded 
accrued  liability. Total employer  contributions  to  the pension plan were $1,911,298  for  the  year 
ended September 30, 2016.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 31 ‐ 

NOTE 7 – PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
Net Pension Liability 
The  City’s  net  pension  liability was measured  as  of  September  30,  2015,  and  the  total  pension 
liability  used  to  calculate  the  net  pension  liability was  determined  by  an  actuarial  valuation  as 
September 30, 2014 rolled forward to September 30, 2015 using standard roll‐forward techniques 
as shown in the following table: 
 

Total Pension Liability Roll Forward    

Total Pension Liability  Expected  Actual 

         as of September 30, 2014 (a)   $   63,831,684    $    65,806,525  

Entry Age Normal Cost for       

         October 1, 2014 – September 30, 2015 (b)           1,319,081             1,319,081  

Actual Benefit Payment and Refunds for    

         October 1, 2014 – September 30, 2015 (c)         (3,390,895)          (3,390,895) 

Total Pension Liability    

        as of September 30, 2015    

        [(a) x (1.08)] + (b) – [(c) x (1.04)]   $   66,730,769    $    68,863,597  

    
Difference between Expected and Actual 

Experience (Gain)/Loss   $      2,132,828  
 

 
Actuarial assumptions 
The total pension liability in the September 30, 2014 actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:  
 

Inflation                                         3.00% 
Salary increases                                3.75%‐7.25% 
Investment rate of return                     8.00%* 
 
     *Net of pension plan investment expense 

 

Mortality rates for ERS were based on the RP‐2000 Combined Mortality Table Projected with Scale 
AA to 2015 set forward three years for males and two years for females. The rates of mortality for 
the period after disability retirement are according to the sex distinct RP‐2000 Disability Mortality 
Table.  
 

The actuarial assumptions used  in the September 30, 2014 valuation were based on the results of 
an  investigation of the economic and demographic experience for the ERS based upon participant 
data  as of  September 30, 2010.  The Board of Control  accepted  and  approved  these  changes on 
January 27, 2012, which became effective at the beginning of fiscal year 2012. 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 32 ‐ 

NOTE 7 – PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
The  long‐term expected  rate of  return on pension plan  investments was determined using a  log‐
normal distribution analysis  in which best‐estimate ranges of expected  future real rates of return 
(expected  returns, net of pension plan  investment expense and  inflation) are developed  for each 
major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long‐term expected rate of return by 
weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by 
adding expected inflation. The target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of 
return for each major asset class are as follows: 

 

Target 

Allocation

Long‐Term 

Expected Rate of 

Return *

Fixed Income 25.00% 5.00%

U. S. Large Stocks 34.00% 9.00%

U. S. Mid Stocks 8.00% 12.00%

U. S. Small Stocks 3.00% 15.00%

International Developed Market Stocks 15.00% 11.00%

International Emerging Market Stocks 3.00% 16.00%

Real Estate 10.00% 7.50%

Cash 2.00% 1.50%

Total 100.00%

* Included assumed rate of Inflation of 2.50%

 
Discount rate  
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was the long‐term rate of return, 8%. 
The  projection  of  cash  flows  used  to  determine  the  discount  rate  assumed  that  plan member 
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that the employer contributions will 
be made  in  accordance with  the  funding policy  adopted by  the  ERS Board of Control. Based on 
those assumptions, components of the pension plan’s fiduciary net position were projected to be 
available  to make all projected  future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore,  the 
long‐term  expected  rate  of  return  on  pension  plan  investments  was  applied  to  all  periods  of 
projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 33 ‐ 

NOTE 7 – PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in Net Pension Liability 

Total Pension

Plan Fiduciary 

Net

Net Pension 

Liability

Liability Position (Asset)

(a) (b) (a)‐(b)

Balances at September 30, 2014  $   63,831,684   $   45,121,543   $   18,710,141 

Changes for the year:

Service cost          1,319,081                          ‐             1,319,081 

Interest          4,970,899                          ‐             4,970,899 

Changes in assumptions                         ‐                            ‐                            ‐  

Difference between expected and actual experience          2,132,828                          ‐             2,132,828 

Contributions – employer                         ‐             1,777,403        (1,777,403)

Contributions – employee                         ‐                916,651            (916,651)

Net investment income                         ‐                532,576            (532,576)

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee 

     contributions       (3,390,895)       (3,390,895)                         ‐  

Administrative expense                         ‐                            ‐                            ‐  

Transfers among employers                         ‐                235,587            (235,587)

          Net changes          5,031,913                 71,322           4,960,591 

Balances at September 30, 2015  $   68,863,597   $   45,192,865   $   23,670,732 

                  
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate  
The following table presents the City’s net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 8%, 
as well  as what  the  City’s  proportionate  share  of  the  net  pension  liability would  be  if  it were 
calculated using a discount rate that is 1‐percentage point lower (7%) or 1‐percentage‐point higher 
(9%) than the current rate: 

1% Current 1%

Decrease Discount Rate Increase

7.00% 8.00% 9.00%

Plan’s Net Pension Liability   $   31,797,410   $      23,670,732   $      16,789,258 

 
Pension plan fiduciary net position  
Detailed  information about  the pension plan’s  fiduciary net position  is available  in  the separately 
issued  RSA  Comprehensive  Annual  Report  for  the  fiscal  year  ended  September  30,  2015.  The 
supporting  actuarial  information  is  included  in  the  GASB  Statement  No.  68  Report  for  the  ERS 
prepared as of September 30, 2015.  The auditor’s report dated October 17, 2016 on the Schedule 
of Changes  in Fiduciary Net Position by Employer and accompanying notes are also available. The 
additional financial and actuarial information is available at www.rsa‐al.gov. 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 34 ‐ 

NOTE 7 – PENSION PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related 
to Pensions  
For  the  year ended  September 30, 2016,  the City  recognized pension expense of $2,201,884. At 
September 30, 2016, the reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions of the following sources: 

 

Deferred 

Outflows of 

Resources

Deferred 

Inflows of 

Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience  $       1,819,177   $                  ‐  

Changes of assumptions                           ‐                         ‐  

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on plan 

investments           1,479,820                       ‐  

Employer contributions subsequent to the measure date           1,911,298                       ‐  

Total  $       5,210,295   $                  ‐  

 
The City reported $1,911,298 as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from 
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date which will be recognized as a reducation of 
the  net  pension  liability  in  the  year  ended  September  30,  2017.  Other  amounts  reported  as 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources to pensions will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows: 

 

Year Ended September 30:

2017  $             603,010 

2018 603,010

2019 603,012

2020                 925,392 

2021                 313,651 

Thereafter                 250,922 

Total 3,298,997$         

 
 

NOTE 8 – ACCUMULATED COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 

For vacation  leave and other compensated absences with similar characteristics, GASB Statement 
No. 16 requires the accrual of a liability as the benefits are earned by the employees if both of these 
conditions are met: 
 

a. The employee's right to receive compensation is attributable to services already rendered. 
 

b. It  is probable that the employer will compensate the employees for the benefits through paid 
time off or some other means, such as cash payments at termination or retirement. 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 35 ‐ 

NOTE 8 – ACCUMULATED COMPENSATED ABSENCES (CONTINUED) 
 
A  City  employee  receives  twelve  days  of  annual  vacation  for  the  first  twelve  years  of  service; 
eighteen  days  of  annual  vacation  during  years  twelve  to  twenty‐five;  and  twenty‐four  days  of 
annual vacation  leave after  twenty‐five years of satisfactory employment.   Annual vacation  leave 
can accumulate up to forty days or 320 hours and an employee cannot be paid for annual leave in 
lieu of time off.  At year end, any annual vacation leave over 320 hours is converted hour for hour 
to sick  leave.   Employees also earn other compensatory time off for working on city holidays, and 
other approved circumstances over their normal work week.  This compensatory time off accrues in 
the same manner as overtime pay at a rate of time and a half.  There is no annual maximum limit 
for  this  compensatory  time  off  and  an  employee  can  use  it  as  other  time  off  or  is  paid  for  the 
balance upon separation from the City.   Sick  leave can be accumulated, but upon separation from 
service all sick leave is canceled and is not transferable to annual leave.  Sick leave can be converted 
as years of service upon retirement in the Retirement Systems of Alabama. 
 
A liability for vacation pay is reported in the governmental funds only if the obligation has matured, 
for example, as a  result of an employee's  resignation or  retirement.   All vacation pay  is accrued 
when  incurred  in  the  government‐wide  statements.    The  current portion of  accrued  vacation  at 
September  30,  2016  reported  in  the  government‐wide  financial  statements  is  $363,787.  The 
remaining  long‐term  incurred  portion  of  the  accrued  vacation  of  the  governmental  activities  at 
September 30, 2016 totaled $2,061,462. 
 
 
NOTE 9 – POST‐EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 
 
Plan description 
The City of Vestavia Hills’ medical benefits are provided through a comprehensive medical plan and 
are made available to employees upon actual retirement.  

 
The retirement eligibility provisions are as follows: 10 years of consecutive service and attainment 
of age 60; or, 25 years of service and attainment of age 55. Complete plan provisions are included in 
the official plan documents. 
 
Contribution rates 
Employees do not contribute  to  their post‐employment benefits costs until  they become  retirees 
and begin receiving those benefits. The plan provisions and contribution rates are contained in the 
official plan documents. 
 
Funding policy 
Until  fiscal  year  ending  September  30,  2008,  the  City  of  Vestavia  Hills  recognized  the  cost  of 
providing  post‐employment  medical  benefits  (the  City  of  Vestavia  Hills’  portion  of  the  retiree 
medical benefit premiums) as an expense when the benefit premiums were due and thus financed 
the cost of  the post‐employment benefits on a pay‐as‐you‐go basis. Effective with  the Fiscal Year 
beginning October 1, 2008, the City of Vestavia Hills implemented Government Accounting  



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 36 ‐ 

NOTE 9 – POST‐EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 
Standards Board Statement Number 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post‐
employment Benefits Other  than Pensions  (GASB 45).   The  funding policy  is not  to  fund  the ARC 
except to the extent of the current year’s retiree funding costs.   

 
In fiscal year ending September 30, 2016, the City of Vestavia Hills’ portion of health care funding 
cost  for  retired  employees  totaled  $80,000.  These  amounts were  applied  toward  the Net OPEB 
Benefit Obligation as shown in the table on the following page. 
 
Annual required contribution 
The City’s annual  required contribution  (ARC)  is an amount actuarially determined  in accordance 
with GASB 45.  The ARC is the sum of the normal cost plus the contribution to amortize the actuarial 
accrued  liability  (AAL).  A  level  dollar,  open  amortization  period  of  30  years  (the  maximum 
amortization period allowed by GASB 43/45) has been used for the post‐employment benefits. The 
total ARC for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 2015 is $81,000, as set forth below:  
 

Medical

Normal cost $ 38,000

30‐year UAL amortization amount 43,000

     Annual required contribution (ARC) $ 81,000

 
Net post‐employment benefit obligation (asset) 
The table below shows the City’s net other post‐employment benefit (OPEB) obligation (asset) for 
fiscal year ending September 30, 2016: 
 

Medical

Annual required contribution $ 81,000

Interest on net OPEB obligation  (2,700)

ARC adjustment 4,000

Annual OPEB cost 82,300

Contributions            ‐

Current year retiree premium (80,000)

Change in net OPEB obligation 2,300

Beginning net OPEB obligation 10/01/15 (64,682)

     Ending net OPEB obligation (asset) 09/30/16 $ (62,382)

 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 37 ‐ 

NOTE 9 – POST‐EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 
Funded status and funding progress 
In  the  fiscal  year  ending  September  30,  2016,  the  City  made  no  contributions  to  its  post‐
employment benefits plan.  The plan was not funded at all, has no assets, and hence has a funded 
ratio of zero.   As of October 1, 2015,  the most recent actuarial valuation,  the AAL was $774,095, 
which is defined as that portion, as determined by a particular actuarial cost method (the City uses 
the  projected  unit  credit  cost method),  of  the  actuarial  present  value  of  post‐employment  plan 
benefits and expenses which  is not provided by normal cost.   Since no plan  funding has occurred 
through fiscal year 2015, the entire actuarial accrued liability of $774,095 was unfunded.   
 
At September 30, 2016, the City has $158,136  in the General Fund  for  future funding of benefits. 
The City intends to transfer these funds to its post‐employment benefits plan at a future date. This 
$158,136 will not reduce the AAL until it is transferred to the City’s post‐employment benefits plan. 
 

Medical

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL) $ 774,095

Actuarial Value of Plan Assets ‐

Unfunded Act. Accrued Liability (UAAL) $ 774,095

Funded Ratio (Act. Val. Assets/AAL) 0%

Covered Payroll (active plan members) $ 15,839,133

UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 4.89%
 

The  required  schedule  of  funding  progress  immediately  following  the  notes  to  the  financial 
statements presents multiyear trend information about whether the actual value of plan assets are 
increasing  or  decreasing  over  time  relative  to  the  actuarial  accrued  liability  for  benefits.  The 
projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential 
effects of legal or contractual funding limitations. 
 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the 
probability  of  events  far  into  the  future.  The  actuarial  valuation  for  post‐employment  benefits 
includes estimates and assumptions regarding (1) turnover rate; (2) retirement rate; (3) health care 
cost  trend  rate;  (4) mortality  rate;  (5) discount  rate  (investment  return assumption); and  (6)  the 
period to which the costs apply (past, current, or future years of service by employees).  Actuarially 
determined  amounts  are  subject  to  continual  revision  as  actual  results  are  compared  to  past 
expectations and new estimates are made about the future. 
 

The  actuarial  calculations  are  based  on  the  types  of  benefits  provided  under  the  terms  of  the 
substantive plan (the plan as understood by the City and its employee plan members) at the time of 
the valuation and on  the pattern of sharing costs between  the City and  its plan members  to  that 
point.  The projection of benefits for financial reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the 
potential effects of legal or contractual funding limitations on the pattern of cost sharing between  
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 38 ‐ 

NOTE 9 – POST‐EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions (continued) 
the City  and plan members  in  the  future. Consistent with  the  long‐term perspective of  actuarial 
calculations, the actuarial methods and assumptions used  include techniques that are designed to 
reduce short‐term volatility in actuarial liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. 
 
Actuarial cost method 
The ARC  is determined using  the projected unit credit cost method. The employer portion of  the 
cost for retiree medical care in each future year is determined by projecting the current cost levels  
using  the healthcare cost  trend rate and discounting  this projected amount  to  the valuation date 
using  the  other  described  pertinent  actuarial  assumptions,  including  the  investment  return 
assumption (discount rate), mortality, and turnover. 
 
Actuarial value of plan assets 
Since the OPEB obligation has not as yet been funded, there are not any assets. It is anticipated that 
in future valuations, should funding take place, a smoothed market value consistent with Actuarial 
Standards  Board  Actuarial  Standards  of  Practice  Number  6  (ASOP  6),  as  provided  in  paragraph 
number 125 of GASB Statement 45 will be used. 
 
Turnover rate 
An age‐related turnover scale based on actual experience as described by administrative staff has 
been used. The rates, when applied to the active employee census, produce a composite average 
annual  turnover of approximately 10%.  It has  further been assumed  that 43% of  retirees decline 
medical  coverage  at  retirement  and  that  an  additional  27%  defer  retirement  until  Medicare 
eligibility. 

 
Post‐employment benefit plan eligibility requirements 
Based on past experience,  it has been assumed that entitlement to benefits will commence three 
years  after  initial  eligibility  to  retire.   Medical  benefits  are  provided  to  employees  upon  actual 
retirement. The retirement eligibility provisions are as follows: 10 years of consecutive service and 
attainment  of  age  60;  or,  25  years  of  service  and  attainment  of  age  55.  In  addition,  "Tier  II" 
retirement plan members (those hired on and after January 1, 2013) would not be eligible to retire 
before age 62.  Medical benefits are provided to employees upon actual retirement. 
 
Investment return assumption (discount rate) 
GASB Statement 45  states  that  the  investment  return assumption  should be  the estimated  long‐
term investment yield on the investments that are expected to be used to finance the payment of 
benefits.  As of September 30, 2016, the City has allocated $158,136 in the General Fund for future 
funding of benefits.  Since the City intends to transfer these funds to its post‐employment benefits 
plan  at  a  future  date,  the  valuation  has  been  calculated  using  a  4%  annual  investment  return 
assumption. 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 39 ‐ 

NOTE 9 – POST‐EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 
 

Health care cost trend rate 
The expected  rate of  increase  in medical  cost  is based on a graded  schedule beginning with 8% 
annually, down to an ultimate annual rate of 5.0% for ten years out and later. 
 

Mortality rate 
The 1994 Group Annuity Reserving (94GAR) table, projected to 2002, based on a fixed blend of 50% 
of the unloaded male mortality rate and 50% of the unloaded female mortality rates, is used. This is 
a published mortality  table which was designed  to be used  in determining  the  value of  accrued 
benefits in defined benefit pension plans.   
 

Method of determining value of benefits 
The "value of benefits" has been assumed to be the portion of the premium after retirement date 
expected to be paid by the employer for each retiree and has been used as the basis for calculating 
the actuarial present value of OPEB benefits to be paid. The employer pays a portion of the medical 
insurance premiums which are  "unblended" as  required by GASB 45  for valuation purposes. The 
portion of  the  total  retiree medical premium  (single or  family  coverage) paid by  the employer  is 
2.5%  times  the  total years of  service at  retirement,  subject  to a maximum of 87.5%, a minimum 
dollar amount of $240 per month, and a maximum dollar amount of $600 per month. The employer 
does not pay for coverage after Medicare eligibility (age 65). 
 

Inflation rate 
Included  in both the  Investment Return Assumption and the Healthcare Cost Trend rates above  is 
an implicit inflation assumption of 2.50% annually. 
 
Projected salary increases  
This assumption is not applicable since neither the benefit structure nor the valuation methodology 
involves salary. 
 
Post‐retirement benefit increases  
The plan benefit provisions in effect for retirees as of the valuation date have been used and it has 
been assumed for valuation purposes that there will not be any changes in the future. 
 

Below is a summary of OPEB cost and contributions for the last three fiscal calendar years: 
 

FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016

OPEB Cost $ 85,967 $ 89,492 $ 81,669 $ 82,300

Contribution ‐ ‐ ‐                   ‐               

Retiree premium 92,854 100,282 78,996 80,000

Total contribution and premium 92,854 100,282 78,996 80,000

Change in net OPEB obligation $ (6,887) $ (10,790) $ 2,673 $ 2,300

OPEB Costs and Contributions

 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 40 ‐ 

NOTE 10 – DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
The  City  offers  its  employees  deferred  compensation  plans  created  in  accordance with  Internal 
Revenue Code (IRC) Section 457. The plans, available to all City employees, permit them to defer a 
portion of their salary until future years. The deferred compensation is payable to employees upon 
termination, retirement, death, or unforeseen emergency. 
 
It  is the opinion of the City's  legal counsel that the City has no  liability for  losses under the plans. 
Under  the  plans,  participants  select  investments  from  alternatives  offered  by  the  plan 
administrators, who are under contract with the City to manage the plans. Investment selection by 
a  participant  may  be  changed  from  time  to  time.  The  City  manages  none  of  the  investment 
selections.  By  making  the  selection,  enrollees  accept  and  assume  all  risks  that  pertain  to  the 
particular plan and its administration. 
 
The City placed the deferred compensation plans’ assets  into trust for the exclusive benefit of the 
plans participants' and beneficiaries' in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) Statement No. 32, Accounting and Financial Reporting  for  Internal Revenue Code Section 
457 Deferred Compensation Plans. 
 
The City has  little administrative  involvement and does not perform the  investing function for the 
plans.    The  City  does  not  hold  the  assets  in  a  trustee  capacity  and  does  not  perform  fiduciary 
accountability for the plans. Therefore, the City employees' deferred compensation plans created in 
accordance with IRC 457 are not reported in the financial statements of the City. 
 
 

NOTE 11 – CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS 
 
A. Litigation 

Several suits have been  filed and are pending against the City.    In the opinion of management 
and  the  City's  attorney,  these matters  are  either without merit,  are  covered  by  insurance  or 
involve amounts that would not have a material adverse effect on the City's financial statements. 

 
B. Project commitments 

As of September 30, 2016, the City had executed contracts for various project commitments  in 
the amount of $8,493,490. At year end, $3,077,438 had been expended on  these construction 
contracts with $1,114,992 assigned in the Fund financial statements. 
 

 
NOTE 12 – FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
 

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board has issued statements that will become effective 
in subsequent fiscal years. The statements address: 
 

 Amendments to accounting and financial reporting for pensions; 

 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

‐ 41 ‐ 

NOTE 12 – FUTURE ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

 GAAP hierarchy;  

 Tax abatement disclosures;  

 Financial reporting and accounting related to other post‐employment benefits and 

 Certain asset retirement obligations. 

 Certain debt extinguishment issues 

 
The  City  is  currently  evaluating  the  effects  that  these  statements  will  have  on  its  financial 
statements for subsequent fiscal years. 
 
 
NOTE 13 – SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
On May 31, 2017 the City issued General Obligation Warrants Series 2017 to purchase property in 

the amount of $9,100,000. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Required Supplementary Information 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 

Budget to Actual—General Fund 
 

‐ 42 ‐ 

 
Year ended September 30, 2016

Budget ‐ Original General Fund  
and Final Actual Variance

Revenues    

Taxes 26,730,262$              27,645,092$     914,830$       

Licenses and permits 4,193,148                   4,228,918          35,770           

Charges for services 384,650                       362,092              (22,558)          

Fines and forfeitures 419,628                       410,475              (9,153)            

Fees 2,868,255                   2,774,763          (93,492)          

Grants 514,392                       547,717              33,325           

Proceeds from sale of assets 12,000                         42,483                30,483           

Investment revenues 71,778                         99,568                27,790           

Other revenues 604,771                       664,333              59,562           

Total revenues 35,798,884                 36,775,441        976,557         

Expenditures

General government administration 5,737,131                   5,988,377          (251,246)       

Public safety 16,722,288                 16,415,405        306,883         

Public works 6,655,245                   6,957,917          (302,672)       

Library 1,720,669                   1,643,715          76,954           

Capital outlay 188,000                       206,850              (18,850)          

Total expenditures 31,023,333                 31,212,264        (188,931)       

Excess of revenues over expenditures 4,775,551                   5,563,177          787,626         
    

Other financing sources (uses)

Operating transfers out (4,774,151)                 (5,119,307)        (345,156)       

Total other financing sources (uses) (4,774,151)                 (5,119,307)        (345,156)       

Excess of revenues and other

financing sources over (under) expenditures 1,400                           443,870              442,470         

Fund balances, beginning of year 9,063,351                   13,017,649        3,954,298     

Fund balances, end of year 9,064,751$                 13,461,519$     4,396,768$   

 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

and Related Ratios 
(As of Measuremenet Date) 

‐ 43 ‐ 
 

 

2015 2014

Total pension liability

Service Cost 1,319,081$         1,277,907$    

Interest 4,970,899            4,747,042      

Changes in benefit terms ‐                        ‐                   

Differences between expected and actual experience 2,132,828            ‐                   

Changes of assumptions ‐                        ‐                   

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (3,390,895)          (3,062,574)    

Net change in total pension liability 5,031,913            2,962,375      

Total pension liability ‐ beginning 63,831,684         60,869,309    

Total pension liability ‐ ending (a) 68,863,597$       63,831,684$ 

Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Contributions ‐ employer 1,777,403$         1,750,292$    

Contributions ‐ employee 916,651               851,524          

Net investment income 532,576               4,842,808      

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (3,390,895)          (3,062,574)    

Transfers among employers 235,587               245,477          

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 71,322                  4,627,527      

Plan net position ‐ beginning 45,121,543         40,494,016    

Plan net position ‐ ending (b) 45,192,865$       45,121,543$ 

Net pension liability ‐ ending (a) ‐ (b) 23,670,732$       18,710,141$ 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability 65.63% 70.69%

Covered employee payroll* 15,248,055$       14,710,190$ 

Net pension liabilty as a percentage of covered employee payroll 155.24% 127.19%

*Employer's covered payroll during the measurement period is the total covered payroll. For FY 2016 

the measurement period is October 1, 2014‐September 30, 2015.
 
. 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Schedule of Employer Contributions 

(As of Fiscal Year End) 
 

‐ 44 ‐ 
 

 

2016 2015

Actuarially Determined Contribution 1,911,298$       1,829,808$          

Employer Contributions to Pension Plan 1,911,298         1,829,808             

Annual Contribution Deficiency (Excess) ‐$                        ‐$                            

Covered Employee Payroll* 15,839,133$     15,248,055$        

12.07% 12.00%

Employer Contributions to Pension Plan as a % of Covered 

Employee Payroll

*Employer’s covered payroll for the year ending 2016 is the total covered payroll for the 12 month 

period underlying the financial statement.
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Other Post‐Employment Benefits 

Funding Progress and Trend Information 
 

‐ 45 ‐ 
 

Post‐employment benefits (See Note 9) 
 
The  following  table  shows  the  City’s  annual  other  post‐employment  benefits  (OPEB)  cost, 
percentage of the cost contributed, and the net unfunded OPEB liability (asset): 
 

Post 

Employment 

Benefit Fiscal Year Ended

Annual 

OPEB 

Cost

Percentage 

of Annual 

Cost 

Contributed

Net OPEB 

Obligation (Asset)

Medical September 30, 2013 85,967     108.01% (56,565)                    

Medical September 30, 2014 89,492     112.06% (67,355)                    

Medical September 30, 2015 81,669     96.73% (64,682)                    
Medical September 30, 2016 82,300     98.42% (62,382)                      

 
Funded status and funding progress 
In  the  fiscal  year  ending  September  30,  2016,  the  City  made  no  contributions  to  its  post‐
employment benefits plan.  The plan was not funded at all, has no assets, and hence has a funded 
ratio of zero.   As of October 1, 2015,  the most recent actuarial valuation,  the AAL was $774,095, 
which is defined as that portion, as determined by a particular actuarial cost method (the City uses 
the  projected  unit  credit  cost method),  of  the  actuarial  present  value  of  post‐employment  plan 
benefits and expenses which  is not provided by normal cost.   Since no plan  funding has occurred 
through fiscal year 2014, the entire actuarial accrued liability of $774,095 was unfunded.   
 
The following is the schedule of funding progress obtained from the actuarial valuations: 
 

Actuarial Actuarial Liability Unfunded UAAL to 
Valuation Value of (AAL) AAL Funded Covered Covered 

Date Assets -Entry age (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
September 30 (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) (b-a)/c)

2009 -            980,657$  980,657$  0.00% 13,981,608$    7.01%
2010 -            980,657    980,657    0.00% 14,000,000      7.00%
2011 -            933,115    933,115    0.00% 11,006,562      8.48%
2012 -            970,440    970,440    0.00% 13,597,707      7.14%
2013 -            875,360    875,360    0.00% 14,200,951      6.16%
2014 -            910,374    910,374    0.00% 14,046,113      6.48%
2015 -            774,095    774,095    0.00% 15,248,055      5.08%
2016 -            774,095    774,095    0.00% 15,839,133      4.89%

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

 

‐ 46 ‐ 
 

NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
a. Budgets and budgetary accounting 

The City adopts annual budgets for the general fund, capital projects fund, and special revenue 
funds and such budgets are prepared on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting 
principles.  Any revisions that alter the total expenditures must be approved by the City Council.  
The budget of the General  fund  is presented  in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
Changes  in Fund Balance  ‐ Budget and Actual.   Revenues  collected  for and  submitted  to  the 
Board of Education were not budgeted since they were remitted to the Board as received. 
 
The City does not adopt budgets for the Debt Service Fund. 
 
Budget  information presented  in  the  financial  statements  is based on  the original budget  as 
adopted by the City Council on September 14, 2015. 

 
 
NOTE 2 – SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY  
 
The total pension liabilities presented in these schedules were provided by the Retirement Systems 
of Alabama’s actuarial consultants, Cavanaugh Macdonald Consulting, LLC. The net pension liability 
is measured as the total pension  liability  less the components of the plan net position reserved to 
fund the total pension  liability. Those components are annuity savings and pension accumulation.  
The related ratios show plan net position as a percentage of the total pension liability and the net 
pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll. 
 
 
NOTE 3 – SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
Contributions were made  in  accordance with  actuarially  determined  contribution  requirements. 
The  employer  contribution  rate  expressed  as  a  percent  of  payroll  is  determined  annually  by 
reviewing  a  variety  of  factors  including  benefits  promised,  member  contributions,  investment 
earnings, mortality,  and withdrawal  experience.  The City’s  employer  contribution  rates  for  fiscal 
year ended September 30, 2015 were 12.32% for tier 1 employees (hired before January 1, 2013) 
and 10.38% for tier 2 employees (hired after January 1, 2013).   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Supplementary Information 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Combining Balance Sheet—Other Governmental Funds 

 

 

Four Five  Seven Emergency

Cent Cent Cent 911

Assets

Cash and temporary investments ‐$                           ‐$                         249,743$         211,372$        

Accounts receivable, 

net of allowance for uncollectibles 19,520                  9,526                  39,982              73,283             

Interfund receivables ‐                             ‐                           27,644              ‐                        

Total assets 19,520$               9,526$                317,369$         284,655$        

Liabilities

Accounts payable ‐$                           ‐$                         30,396$            6,902$             

Interfund payable 18,583                  9,061                  ‐                         ‐                        

Total liabilities 18,583                  9,061                  30,396              6,902               

Fund equity

Fund balance:

Restricted for road maintenance 937                        465                      286,973            ‐                        

Assigned ‐                             ‐                           ‐                         277,753          

Total fund equity 937                        465                      286,973            277,753          

Total liabilities and fund equity 19,520$               9,526$                317,369$         284,655$        

State Shared Gasoline Tax Funds

Year ended September 30, 2016

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

‐ 47 ‐ 

 

Court & Vehicle

Corrections Library Tags Totals 

2,870$                    239,268$          299,337$          1,002,590$      

‐                               ‐                          ‐                          142,311            

‐                               ‐                          ‐                          27,644              

2,870$                    239,268$          299,337$          1,172,545$      

1,852$                    1,420$               159,185$          199,755$         

‐                               ‐                          111,483            139,127            

1,852                      1,420                 270,668            338,882            

‐                               ‐                          ‐                          288,375            

1,018                      237,848            28,669               545,288            

1,018                      237,848            28,669               833,663            

2,870$                    239,268$          299,337$          1,172,545$      

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in 

Fund Balances—Other Governmental Funds 
 

 

Four Five Seven

Cent Cent Cent

Revenues

Taxes 2,186$                ‐$                         648,432$          

License and permits ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Intergovernmental 212,174             104,562             343,494            

Fines and forfeitures ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Grants ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Investment revenues ‐                           ‐                           5                         

Library revenues ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Total revenues 214,360             104,562             991,931            

Expenditures

General government administration ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Public safety ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Public works 214,027             104,408             596,339            

Library ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Debt service ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Capital outlay ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Total expenditures 214,027             104,408             596,339            

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures 333                      154                      395,592            

Other financing sources (uses)

Operating transfers in ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Other financing sources‐capital lease ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Total other financing sources (uses) ‐                           ‐                           ‐                          

Excess of revenues and other sources

  over expenditures and other uses 333                      154                      395,592            

Fund balance, beginning of year 604                      311                      (108,619)           

Fund balance, end of year 937$                   465$                   286,973$          

State Shared Gasoline Tax Funds

Year ended September 30, 2016

 
 
 



 
 
 
 

‐ 48 ‐ 

 
 

Emergency Court & Vehicle

911 Corrections Library Tags Totals

816,559$          ‐$                             ‐$                    ‐$                    1,467,177$         

‐                          ‐                               ‐                      113,021         113,021               

‐                          ‐                               ‐                      ‐                      660,230               

‐                          488,968                  ‐                      ‐                      488,968               

‐                          ‐                               19,004           ‐                      19,004                 

‐                          94                            244                 117                 460                       

‐                          ‐                               102,112         ‐                      102,112               

816,559             489,062                  121,360         113,138         2,850,972           

‐                          411,852                  ‐                      114,597         526,449               

632,535             212,946                  ‐                      ‐                      845,481               

‐                          ‐                               ‐                      ‐                      914,774               

‐                          ‐                               73,067           ‐                      73,067                 

108,446             ‐                               ‐                      ‐                      108,446               

554,671             61,117                    140,923         ‐                      756,711               

1,295,652         685,915                  213,990         114,597         3,224,928           

(479,093)           (196,853)                (92,630)         (1,459)            (373,956)             

‐                          27,128                    ‐                      ‐                      27,128                 

448,305             ‐                               ‐                      ‐                      448,305               

448,305             27,128                    ‐                      ‐                      475,433               

(30,788)             (169,725)                (92,630)         (1,459)            101,477               

308,541             170,743                  330,478         30,128           732,186               

277,753$          1,018$                    237,848$      28,669$         833,663$            

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
July 21, 2017 
 
To the City Council  
Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the aggregate 
discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Vestavia (the “City”) for the year ended September 30, 2016. 
Professional standards require that we provide you with information about our 
responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards (and, if applicable, 
Government Auditing Standards and the Uniform Guidance), as well as certain information 
related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have communicated such 
information in our letter to you dated September 1, 2016. Professional standards also 
require that we communicate to you the following information related to our audit. 
 
Significant Audit Findings  

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. 
The significant accounting policies used by the Board are described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements. No new accounting policies were adopted and the application of 
existing policies was not changed during 2016. We noted no transactions entered into by 
the Board during the year for which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 
All significant transactions have been recognized in the financial statements in the proper 
period. 

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by 
management and are based on management’s knowledge and experience about past and 
current events and assumptions about future events. Certain accounting estimates are 
particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because 
of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the City’s financial statements were: 

The estimate of deferred outflows/inflows of resources, net pension liability, and 
pension expense. These estimates are prepared by the RSA’s actuaries based on the 
information provided by participating employers. 

Management’s estimate of the residual value of capital assets based on the City’s 
depreciation policy and management’s approximation of the remaining useful lives of 
the assets. We evaluated the City’s annual depreciation expense and other key factors 
used to develop the residual value of capital assets in determining that it is reasonable 
in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 

Management’s estimate of the liability to the Jefferson County Personnel Board is 
based on the City’s estimate of actual amount due. We evaluated the key factors and 
assumptions used to develop the balance in determining that it is reasonable in relation 
to the financial statements taken as a whole. 



City Council  
Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
July 21, 2017 
Page 2 
 
 

 

Certain financial statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their 
significance to financial statement users. The most sensitive disclosure affecting the 
financial statements was: 
 

The disclosure of the City’s post-employment benefits other than pensions in Note 9 
to the financial statements. These disclosures contain actuarial assumptions and 
valuations that may differ from actual results. 

 
The financial statement disclosures are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing and 
completing our audit.  
 
Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements 
identified during the audit, other than those that are clearly trivial, and communicate them to 
the appropriate level of management. Management has corrected all such misstatements. 
In addition, none of the misstatements detected as a result of audit procedures and 
corrected by management were material, either individually or in the aggregate, to each 
opinion unit’s financial statements taken as a whole. 
  
Disagreements with Managements 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management 
as a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our 
satisfaction, that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditor's report. We 
are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
Management Representations 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated July 21, 2017. 
 
Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing 
and accounting matters, similar to obtaining a "second opinion" on certain situations. If a 
consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the City's financial statements 
or a determination of the type of auditor's opinion that may be expressed on those 
statements, our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us 
to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no 
such consultations with other accountants. 
 
Other Audit Findings or Issues 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles 
and auditing standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City's 
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional 
relationship and our responses were not a condition to our retention. 
 
 
 



City Council  
Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
July 21, 2017 
Page 3 
 
 

 

Other Matters 

We applied certain limited procedures to the budgetary comparison schedule, the schedule 
of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, and the schedule of City 
contributions, which is required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the basic 
financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other 
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We did not audit 
the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the RSI. 

We were engaged to report on the supplementary information, which accompany the 
financial statements but are not RSI. With respect to this supplementary information, we 
made certain inquiries of management and evaluated the form, content, and methods of 
preparing the information to determine that the information complies with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of preparing it 
has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in 
relation to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the 
supplementary information to the underlying accounting records used to prepare the 
financial statements or to the financial statements themselves. 

 
Restriction on Use 
 

This information is intended solely for the use of the City Council and management of the 
City and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

 
Very truly yours, 
 

 
Carr, Riggs & Ingram, L.L.C. 
Birmingham, Alabama 



 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial  
Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an  

Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance  
with Government Auditing Standards 

 

To the City Council 
City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

We have  audited,  in  accordance with  the  auditing  standards  generally  accepted  in  the United  States of 
America  and  the  standards  applicable  to  financial  audits  contained  in  Government  Auditing  Standards 
issued  by  the  Comptroller  General  of  the United  States,  the  financial  statements  of  the  governmental 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 
(the  City),  as  of  and  for  the  year  ended  September  30,  2016,  and  the  related  notes  to  the  financial 
statements, which  collectively  comprise  the City’s basic  financial  statements and have  issued our  report 
thereon dated July 21, 2017. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City’s internal control 
over  financial  reporting  (internal  control)  to determine  the audit procedures  that are appropriate  in  the 
circumstances  for  the  purpose  of  expressing  our  opinions  on  the  financial  statements,  but  not  for  the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not 
express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or  employees,  in  the  normal  course  of  performing  their  assigned  functions,  to  prevent,  or  detect  and 
correct,  misstatements  on  a  timely  basis.  A  material  weakness  is  a  deficiency,  or  a  combination  of 
deficiencies,  in  internal control such that there  is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of 
the  entity’s  financial  statements will  not  be  prevented,  or  detected  and  corrected  on  a  timely  basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of  internal control was  for  the  limited purpose described  in  the  first paragraph of  this 
section  and  was  not  designed  to  identify  all  deficiencies  in  internal  control  that  might  be  material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and  therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that were not identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies 
in  internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist 
that have not been identified.  

Compliance and Other Matters 

As  part  of  obtaining  reasonable  assurance  about whether  the  City’s  financial  statements  are  free  from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of  its compliance with certain provisions of  laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of  financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with  those 



 

 

provisions was not  an objective of our  audit,  and  accordingly, we do not  express  such  an opinion.  The 
results  of  our  tests  disclosed  no  instances  of  noncompliance  or  other matters  that  are  required  to  be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards.  

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s  internal 
control  or  on  compliance.  This  report  is  an  integral  part  of  an  audit  performed  in  accordance  with 
Government Auditing Standards  in  considering  the entity’s  internal  control and  compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

Birmingham, Alabama 
July 21, 2017 
 



Resolution Number 4972 

Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4972 
 

 A RESOLUTION DETERMINING THAT CERTAIN 

PERSONAL PROPERTY IS NOT NEEDED FOR 

PUBLIC OR MUNICIPAL PURPOSES AND 

DIRECTING THE SALE/DISPOSAL OF SAID 

SURPLUS PROPERTY 

 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, is the owner of personal 

property detailed in the attached “Exhibit A”; and 

 WHEREAS, the City has determined that it would be in the best public interest to 

sell or dispose of said property. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to sell or dispose of the above-

referenced surplus personal property; and 

2. This Resolution Number 4972 shall become effective immediately upon 

adoption and approval. 

DONE, ORDERED, APPROVED and ADOPTED on this the 14
th

 day of 

August, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Resolution Number 4972 

Page 2 

 

“EXHIBIT A” 

 

 

From: Keith Blanton <kblanton@vhal.org> 

Date: August 1, 2017 at 7:39:05 AM CDT 

To: Mark Salter <msalter@vhal.org>, Rebecca Leavings <rleavings@vhal.org> 

Subject: RE: Surplus Vehicle 

Sounds great to me. 

  

 
  
KEITH BLANTON, CBO, MCP 

Building Official 

P 205 978 0125 | vhal.org 

City of Vestavia Hills 

  

  
From: Mark Salter  

Sent: Tuesday, August 01, 2017 7:24 AM 

To: Rebecca Leavings 
Cc: Keith Blanton 

Subject: Surplus Vehicle 
  

I would like to have declared surplus the following vehicle for sale on govdeals.com; 

2009 Dodge Nitro SE, VIN# 1D8GT28K19W518279, 129215 current miles. Thanks  

  
 

mailto:kblanton@vhal.org
mailto:msalter@vhal.org
mailto:rleavings@vhal.org
http://www.vhal.org/
http://govdeals.com/
http://www.twitter.com/VestaviaHillsAL
http://www.facebook.com/CityofVestaviaHills
http://www.alifeabove.org/


RESOLUTION NUMBER 4973 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING ALCOHOL LICENSE FOR 

MD ALABAMA, LLC, D/B/A METRO DINER; TRAVIS 

ANTHONY GRAPPO, CARL WALTER SAHLSTEN, JR. 

AND CHRIS THOMAS SULLIVAN, EXECUTIVES 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

approves the alcohol license for MD Alabama, LLC, D/B/A Metro Diner, located 

at 1088 Montgomery Highway, Vestavia Hills, Alabama, for the sale of 040 - 

Restuarant Beer (On or Off Premises) and 060 - Retail Table Wine (On or Off 

Premises); Travis Anthony Grappo, Carl Walter Sahlsten, Jr. and Chris Thomas 

Sullivan, executives. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 14th day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 





<2£l

STATE OF ALABAMA
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION

Confirmation Number: 20170803141242471

Type License: 040 - RETAIL BEER (ON OR OFF PREMISES) State: $150.00 County: $75.00

Type License: 060 - RETAIL TABLE WINE (ON OR OFF PREMISES) State: $150.00 County: $75.00

Trade Name: METRO DINER FilingFee:$100.00

Applicant: MD ALABAMA LLC Transfer Fee:

Location Address: 1088 MONTGOMERY HWY VESTAVIA HILLS, AL 35216

Mailing Address: 1511 N WESTSHORE BLVD ; SUITE 750 TAMPA, FL 33607

County: JEFFERSON Tobacco sales: NO Tobacco Vending Machines:

Type Ownership: LLC

Book, Page, or Document info: 379-920

Date Incorporated: 04/05/2016 State incorporated: FL County Incorporated: HILLSBOROUGH

Date of Authority: 01/10/2017 Alabama State Sales Tax ID: R009577853

Federal Tax ID: 37-1824642

Name: Title: Date and Place of Birth: Residence Address:
MEMBERAJVPTRAVIS ANTHONY GRAPPO

8387772 - AL
01/31/1971

ORLANDO, FL
75 MT LAUREL AVE

BIRMINGHAM, AL 35242

CARL WALTER SAHLSTEN JR

S423139623730-FL

MEfvlGER/CEO 10/13/1962

MIAMI, FL
12302 MARBLEHEAD DR

TAMPA, FL 33626

CHRIS THOMAS SULLIVAN

S415118480550-FL

MEMBER/CO-CHAIRMAN 02/15/1948

LAKE CITY, FL
3507 BAYSHORE BLVD

TAMPA, FL 33629

Has applicant complied with financial responsibility ABC RR 20-X-5-.14? YES
Does ABC have any actions pending against the current licensee? NO
Has anyone, including manager or applicant, had a Federal/State permit or license suspended or revoked? NO
Has a liquor, wine, malt or brewed license for these premises ever been denied, suspended, or revoked? NO
Are the applicant(s) named above, the only person(s), inany manner interested inthe business sought to be
licensed? NO

Areany of the applicants, whether individual, member of a partnership or association, or officers and
directors of a corporation itself, inany manner monetarily interested, either directly or indirectly, in the
profits of any other class of business regulated under authority of this act? NO
Does applicant own orcontrol, directly or indirectly, hold lien against any real or personal property which is
rented, leased or used inthe conduct of business by the holder ofany vinous, malt or brewed beverage, or
distilled liquors permit or license issued under authority of this act? NO
Is applicant receiving, eitherdirectly or indirectly, any loan, credit, money, or the equivalent thereoffrom or
through a subsidiary or affiliate or other licensee, or from any firm, association or corporation operating
under or regulated by the authority of this act? NO

Contact Person: TRAVIS GRAPPO

Business Phone: 205-919-8757
Fax:

PREVIOUS LICENSE INFORMATION:

Trade Name:

Applicant:

Home Phone: 205-919-8757

Cell Phone: 205-919-8757

E-mail: TGRAPPO@METRODINER.COM

Previous License Number(s)
License 1:

License 2:



CO:

STATE OF ALABAMA
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION

Confirmation Number: 20170803141242471

If applicant is leasing the property, is a copy of the lease agreement attached? YES
Name of Property owner/lessor and phone number: VESTAVIA PLAZA LLC 205-939-4440
What is lessors primary business? REAL ESTATE
Is lessor involved in any way with the alcoholic beverage business? NO
Is thereany further interest, or connection with, the licensee's business by the lessor? NO

Does the premise have a fully equipped kitchen? YES
Is the business used to habitually and principally provide food to the public? YES
Does the establishment have restroom facilities? YES

Is the premise equipped with services and facilities for on premises consumption of alcoholic beverages? YES

Will the business be operated primarily as a package store? NO
Building Dimensions Square Footage: 4800 Display Square Footage:
Building seating capacity: 126 Does Licensed premises include a patio area? YES
License Structure: SHOPPING CENTER License covers: PORTION OF
Location is within: CITY LIMITS Police protection: CITY

Has any person(s) with any interest, including manager, whether as sole applicant, officer, member, or
partner been charged (whether convicted or not) of any law violation(s)?
Name: Violation & Date: Arresting Agency: Disposition:



y^^ "*),.---trie-application.

/

-y

£
y

/}

STATE OF ALABAMA
ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE CONTROL BOARD

ALCOHOL LICENSE APPLICATION

Confirmation Number: 20170803141242471

InitfaJ ggch_ Signature page
") | In reference to law violations, Iattest tothetruthfulness of the responses given within theapplication,

iffreference to the Lease/property ownership, Iattest to the truthfulness ofthe responses given within

In reference to ACT No. 80-529, I understand that if my application is denied or discontinued, I will not be

refunded the filing fee required by this application.

In reference to Special Retail or Special Events retail license, I agree to comply with all applicable laws and

regulations concerning this class of license, and to observe the special terms and conditions as indicated

within the application.

In reference to the Club Application information, I attest to the truthfulness of the responses given

within the application.

In reference to the transfer of license/location, I attest to the truthfulness of the information listed on the

•^.-•-attached transfer agreement.

n accordance with Alabama Rules & Regulations 20-X-5-.01(4), any social security number disclosed

under this regulation shall be used for the purpose of investigation or verification by the ABC Board

and shall not be a matter of public record.

The undersigned agree, ifa license is issued as herein applied for, to comply at all times with and to fully

observe all the provisions of the Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Control Act, as appears in Code of Alabama,

Title 28, and all laws of the State of Alabama relative to the handling of alcoholic beverages.

The undersigned, if issued a license as herein requested, further agrees to obey all rules and regulations

promulgated by the board relative to all alcoholic beverages received in this State. The undersigned,

if issued a license as herein requested, also agrees to allowand hereby invites duly authorized agents of

the Alabama Alcoholic Beverage Control Board and any duly commissioned law enforcement officer of

the State, County or Municipality in which the license premises are located to enter and search without

a warrant the licensed premises or any building owned or occupied by him or her in connection with

said licensed premises. The undersigned hereby understands that he or she violate any provisions of the

aforementioned laws his or her license shall be subject to revocation and no license can be again issued

to said licensee for a period of one year. The undersigned further understands and agrees that no changes

in the manner of operation and no deletion or discontinuance of any services or facilities as described in this

application will be allowed without written approval of the proper governing body and the Alabama

.•Alcoholic Beverage Control Board.

I hereby swear and affirm that I have read the application and all statements therein and facts set forth are true

and correct, and that the applicant is the only person interested in the business for which the license

is required. -^Zj) / TT"^, ^ .\^> //g/ y is required. —-TT h lj /—._._ v.-> //-»Applicant Name (print): /^U^-^n^J/O

Signature of Applicant

Notary Name (print

Notary Signature: jftijh yi IL '•'['r' iy ' ' Commission expires: I *> /
Application Taken: App. Inv. Completed:
Submitted to Local Government:

Received in District Office: Reviewed by Supervisor:

Forwarded to District Office:

Received from Local Government:

Forwarded to Central Office:



Ordinance Number 2725 

Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2725 
 

 ANNEXING CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 

 

 WHEREAS, on the 24th day of April, 2017, a petition was presented to the City 

Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, proposing the annexation of certain 

property to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, under the provisions of Act 32 of the 

Special Session on the Alabama Legislature of 1964; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, at the time and place 

of its regular meeting on said date, made a determination that the matters contained in the 

Petition were true and that it was in the public interest that said property be annexed to 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the following property which was described in said petition be annexed to 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

3308 Misty Lane 

Lot 1, The Woods at Rocky Ridge 

Will and Jill Smith, Owner(s) 

 

 2.  That this Annexation shall become effective upon the adoption and approval of 

this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of law, after which the heretofore 

described property shall become a part of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 3.  That the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to publish this Ordinance in 

accordance with the requirements of the law and to file a copy hereof with the Probate 

Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama. 



Ordinance Number 2725 

Page 2 

 

 ADOPTING and APPROVED this the 28th day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

 

 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATION: 
 

 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2725 is a true and 

correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills on the 28th day of August, 2017, as same appears in the official records of 

said City. 

 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 

Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 

______ day of ______________, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Rebecca Leavings 

      City Clerk 

 



Jefferson County

^_?
rj»?giecfe.-ck C;t

B^FFE

Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



Untitled Page Page 1 of 1

PARCEL #: 28 00 20 4 002 012.000 [ 111-A+ ] Bath s: 3.5 H/C Sqft: 4,460
OWNER: SMITH JILL R 18-011.0 Bed Rooms: 4 Land Sen A414

ADDRESS: 3308 MISTY LN BIRMINGHAM AL 35243 Land: 214,500 Imp: 560,700 Total: 775,200
LOCATION: 3308 MISTY LN AL 35243

Arrpc • n nnn
Sales Info: 08/13/2014

>> [1/0 Records ] Processing... Tax Y

SUMMARY LAND BUILDINGS

$425,000

POGRAPHS

<< Prev Next sar : 2016 v

SALES PI iO MAPS

SUMMARY

ASSESSMENT VALUE

PROPERTY

CLASS:
3 OVER 65 CODE:

LAND VALUE 10%

LAND VALUE 20%

$214,500
$0

EXEMPT CODE : 2-2 DISABILITY CODE CURRENT USE VALUE [DEACTIVATED] SO

MUN CODE: 01 COUNTY HS YEAR: 2016

SCHOOL DIST
EXM OVERRIDE

AMT:
$0.00 CLASS 2

OVR ASD

VALUE:
$0.00 TOTAL MILLAGE: 50.1

CLASS 3

UTILITY WOOD OR

TENNIS COURT CO

26WCCEX

46TCCON

$9,100

$38,300
CLASS USE:

FOREST ACRES: 0 TAX SALE:

w»f^JEAR $214,500.00BOE VALUE:
VALUE:

0

POOL GUNITE 30

BLDG 001

29G0300

111

$12,600

$500,700

TOTAL MARKET VALUE [APPR. VALUE: $775,200]: $775,200

Assesment Override:

MARKET VALUE:

CU VALUE:

PENALTY:

ASSESSED VALUE:

TAX INFO

CLASS MUNCODE ASSD. VALUE TAX EXEMPTION

STATE 3 1 $77,520 $503.88 $4,000

COUNTY 3 1 $77,520 $1,046.52 $2,000

SCHOOL 3 1 $77,520 $635.66 $0

DIST SCHOOL 3 1 $77,520 $0.00 $0

CITY 3 1 $77,520 $0.00 $0

FOREST 3 1 $0 $0.00 $0

SPC SCHOOL1 3 1 $77,520 $395.35 $0

SPC SCHOOL2 3 1 $77,520 $ 1,302.34 $0

$26.00 $477.88

$27.00 $1,019.52

$0.00 $635.66

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $0.00

$0.00 $395.35

$0.00 $1,302.34

ASSD. VALUE: $77,520.00

TOTAL FEE & INTEREST: (Detail) $5.00

$3,883.75 GRAND TOTAL: $3,835.75

FULLY PAID

DEEDS

INSTRUMENT NUMBER

201416-3509

9809-4585

DATE

8/13/2014

06/30/1998

PAYMENT INFO

TAX
PAY DATE
KA YEAR

12/8/2016 2016

11/20/2015 2015

12/30/2014 2014

1/15/2014 2013

PAID BY

LERETA

LERETA

DAVID P CONDON, PC

BRUNO CAPITAL

MANAGEMENT CORP

• niiMA rAniTM

AMOUNT

$3,835.75

$2,149.29

$1,050.09

$1,050.09

http://eringcapture.jccal.org/caportal/CA_PropertyTaxParcelInfo.aspx?ParcelNo=28 00 2... 12/13/2016

Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



 

 

Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



STATE OF ALABAMA

COUNTY.Wr-ffgttaJ

PETITION FOR ANNEXATION TO THE

Resolution Number 3824

Page 6

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA

Date ofPetition: Og,(Hr. 1 i 2*Q 1k

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama.

We, the undersigned owners of the properties set out in red outline in Exhibit "A"
attached hereto, which properties are contiguous to the City limits of the City of Vestavia Hills,
Alabama, under the authority of Act No. 32 of the Special Session of the Alabama Legislature of
1964, do hereby petition the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, that the properties set out in red
outline in Exhibit "A" attached, situated in ^frJpV £ftSfl/J County, Alabama, be annexed
to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. The metes and bounds description of the boundary of the
property of the undersigned proposed to be annexed is also set out on said Exhibit "A" and a map
showing in red the property proposed for annexation by this petition is also attached and made a
part hereof.

The undersigned petitioners do further petition that the Honorable Mayor and City
Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, set a date for the hearing of this petition and any
objections in writing to the petition or protest, on a date certain and that no less than ninety (90)
days before said date certain for said hearing on this petition, that a notice of said hearing along
with this petition be published in a newspaper of general circulation in Jefferson County,
Alabama.

We, the undersigned petitioners do also ask that the Honorable Mayor and City Council
of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, do all things necessary and requisite to comply with the
terms ofAct No. 32 ofthe Special Session of the Alabama Legislature of 1964.

1/v/lU-Sr^rM '5(3 3A*iU Corn

Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



LOT: 1
BLOCK:

EXHIBIT "A"

Resolution Number 3824

Pagel

survey: "Tlte WflOOS AT RsCty fclO<}&

RECORDED IN MAP BOOK ^.7 [ ,PAGE O/ IN THE
PROBATE OFFICE OF J^kf^fpN COUNTY, ALABAMA.

COUNTY ZONING: u
COMPATIBLE CITYZONING: fc, * 2*

LEGAL DESCRIPTION (METES AND BOUNDS):

2 V$S{ Sc4f<ZtSOr* Q^O^ AL*A4a*4.

Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



Resolution Number 3824

PageS

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set their hands and seals, or
caused these presents to be executed by their duly authorized representatives, with full authority.

SIGNATURE(S) DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

Lot \ Block SurveyT^ £ WOOPS ^ favcftlrf
Lot Block

Lot Block

Survey

_Survey_

(Use reverse side hereoffor additional signatures andproperty descriptions, ifneeded).

STATE OF ALABAMA

^ffeftSO/J COUNTY
•4 \\Ay K« prS) f\\ being duly sworn says: Iam one ofthe persons who

signed theabove petition, and I certify that said petition contains the signatures of all the owners
of the described property.

£&^S
Signature ofCertifier

Subscribed and sworn before me this the (^day ofjwi^^ ,20l(p

RITAANNESAIA
Notary Public •State ofAlabama

My Commission Expires
December7,2017

My commission expires: /C*4 III f

Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



Resolution Number 3824

Page 9

EXHIBIT "B"

VESTAVIA HILLS BOARD OF EDUCATION
1204 Montgomery Highway

Vestavia HUlsAL 35216

(To be completed by the City)

Date of Annexation Petition

Resolution: Date:

Overnight Ordinance: Date:
90 Day Final Ordinance: Date:

Action Taken: Grant

Deny_
Number:
Number:
Number:

(To be completed by Homeowner)

Name(s)ofHomeowner(s): »J|LA^ fv « z>ril T^

Address: l^ob KUsfy Ifr^
City: YJK^fr\tc^OMAA State: /[L-

Information on Children;

iJk

Zip: 352>/?

Plan to Enroll In

Vestavia Hills School?

Name(s) Age School Grade Yes No

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

Approximate date for enrolling students in Vestavia Hills City Schools if above response is
'yes".

Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



Fnd.
1"

O
pen

Iron
%

M
ap

Book
224,

Page
99

F
O

U
N

D
A

T
IO

N
S

U
R

V
E

Y
/

P
L

O
T

P
L

A
N

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

T
E

N
N

IS
C

O
U

R
T

D
escription:

LOT
1,

THE
W

OODS
AT

ROCKY
RIDGE,

as
recorded

in
M

ap
Book

239,
Page

57,
in

the
O

ffice
of

the
Judge

of
Probate,

Jefferson
C

ounty
A

la
b

a
m

a
.

T
he

co
rrect

ad
d

ress
is:

3
3

0
8

M
isty

L
one

B
irm

in
g

h
a
m

,
A

L
3

5
2

4
3

NOTE:
IPS

=
Iron

Pin
Set

(#5
R

ebar)
P

P
=

P
o

w
e
r

P
o

le
F

n
d

.
=

F
o

u
n

d

S
T

A
T

E
O

F
A

L
A

B
A

M
A

:
JE

F
F

E
R

S
O

N
C

O
U

N
T

Y
:

I,
Jam

es
R.

B
oatright,

Sr.,
a

Licensed
Land

Surveyor,
do

hereby
certify

that
all

parts
of

this
survey

and
draw

ing
have

been
com

pleted
in

accordance
w

ith
the

current
requirem

ents
of

the
Standards

of
Practice

for
Land

Surveyina
in

the
State

of
A

labam
a,

to
the

best
of

m
y

know
ledge,

inform
ation,

and
belief.

A
ccording

to
m

y
survey

this
the

27th
day

of
M

ay,
2015

Jam
es

R
.

B
oatright,

Sr.,-,
AL

REG
.

N
O

.
17826

704
M

ary
V

ann
Lane,

B
irm

ingham
AL

35215
Phone

(205)
854-3669

Fax
(205)

854-0071
8

0
/7

8
8

2
/1

7
8

2
/7

3

Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



> 0"=^

0*R

" '< «»*!«

Ordinance No. 2725 

Exhibit A



Ordinance Number 2726 

Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2726 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 

ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 

AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 

DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM JEFFERSON 

COUNTY E-2 TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-1 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Jefferson County E-2 (low 

density residential district) to Vestavia Hills R-1 (low density residential district):  

3308 Misty Lane 

Lot 1, The Woods at Rocky Ridge 

Will and Jill Smith, Owner(s) 

 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 28
th

 day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor  

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2726 

Page 2 

 

CERTIFICATION: 
 

 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2726 is a true and 

correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills on the 28
th

 day of August, 2017 as same appears in the official records of 

said City. 

 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New 

Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 

______________, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Rebecca Leavings 

      City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2726 

Page 3 

 

 



 1 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING 

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

Date:     JUNE 8, 2017 
 

• CASE:  P-0617-29 
 

• REQUESTED ACTION: Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-1  
 
• ADDRESS/LOCATION:  3308 Misty Lane 

 
• APPLICANT/OWNER: William & Jill Smith 

 
• REPRESNTING AGENT:  

 
• GENERAL DISCUSSION:  Property is on Misty Lane, adjacent to Rocky Ridge 

Rd. Property began the annexation process by City Council with their approval of the 
overnight annexation (Ord. 3308) on 4/24/17. This is a compatible rezoning. 

 
• VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  The request is consistent with 

the Comprehensive Plan for medium density residential. 
 

• STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 
 

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.    

 
City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation  
 

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and have no issues 
with this request. 

 
3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 

issues with this request.  
 
4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 

issues with this request.  
 
MOTION  Mr. Gilchrist made a motion to recommend rezoning approval of 3308 Misty Ln. 
from Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-1. Second was by Mr. Burrell. Motion was 
carried on a roll call; vote as follows: 

Ordinance No 2726 

Exhibit A



 2 

 
Mr. Goodwin – yes   Mr. Burrell – yes           
Mr. Gilchrist – yes    Mr. House – yes 
Mr. Wolfe – yes    Mrs. Cobb – yes     
Mr. Larson – yes 
Motion carried 

 
 

Ordinance No 2726 

Exhibit A



Ordinance No 2726 

Exhibit A



Ordinance Number 2727 

Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2727 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 

ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 

AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 

DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM VESTAVIA HILLS R-

4 TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-9 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills R-4 (medium 

density residential district) to Vestavia Hills R-9 (planned residential district) with the 

conditions that the covenants/HOA agreements are to be submitted with the final plat and 

that fences will be allowed on lots that have frontages on Sunview Drive and Green 

Valley Road: 

3009 and 3017 Sunview Drive 

DCR Group, LLC, Owner(s) 

 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 28
th

 day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor  

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2727 

Page 2 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATION: 
 

 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2727 is a true and 

correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills on the 28
th

 day of August, 2017 as same appears in the official records of 

said City. 

 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New 

Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 

______________, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Rebecca Leavings 

      City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2727 

Page 3 

 

 

 

 

 



 1 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING 

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

Date:     JULY 13, 2017 
 

• CASE:  P-0717-34 
 

• REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning from Vestavia Hills R-4 to Vestavia Hills R-9 
For The Purpose Of Residential Development 

 
•    ADDRESS/LOCATION:  3009 & 3017 Sunview Dr. 

  
• APPLICANT/OWNER: Phillip J. & Nellie Faye Parker and DCR Group, LLC 

 
• REPRESNTING AGENT: Eric Rogers  

 
• GENERAL DISCUSSION:  Property is Sunview Dr. and adjacent to Christopher 

Dr. and across from Knollwood Trace.  The lots back up against Green Valley Rd. 10 
lots are proposed, averaging around 7053 sq. ft. The proposed setbacks are 12’ front, 
5’ on the side, and 15’ in the rear. There is a 15’ setback with lots that have frontage 
along Sunview Dr. and Green Valley Rd. The proposed street will have a 45’ ROW 
and sidewalks on both sides. The development will be serviced by sewer. 

 
• CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN:  The request is consistent with the 

Community Plan for medium density residential. Additionally, a similar development 
is across Sunview Dr. on Knollwood Trace. The lot to the west is zoned RC-1. There 
are also zero lot line developments within close proximity to these lots. 

 
• STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 

 
1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 

subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.    

 
City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation  
 
2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no 

issues with this request.  
 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request.  

 



 2 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request.  

 
 
MOTION  Mr. House made a motion to recommend rezoning approval 3009 & 3017 
Sunview Dr. from Vestavia Hills R-4 to Vestavia Hills R-9 with the following conditions: 

 
A. Covenants/HOA agreements to be submitted with final plat; 
B. Fences will be allowed on lots that have frontages on Sunview Dr. and Green 

Valley Rd. 
 

Second was by Mr. Burrell. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows: 
 
Mr. Goodwin – yes   Mr. Burrell – yes            
Mr. Wolfe – yes    Mr. Brooks – yes 
Mr. Weaver – yes    Mr. House – yes   
Mrs. Cobb – yes    Mr. Larson – yes   
Motion carried 

 
 

















Sources: Esri, HERE, DeLorme, Intermap, increment P Corp.,
GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL,
Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong),
swisstopo, MapmyIndia, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS
User Community





Ordinance Number 2728 

Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2728 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 

ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 

AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 

DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM VESTAVIA HILLS R-

1 TO VESTAVIA HILLS O-1 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills R-1 (low density 

residential district) to Vestavia Hills O-1 (office park district) based on the renderings 

presented:  

3111 Pine Tree Drive 

June Pryor, Owner(s) 

 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 28
th

 day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor  

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2728 

Page 2 

 

CERTIFICATION: 
 

 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2728 is a true and 

correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills on the 28
th

 day of August, 2017 as same appears in the official records of 

said City. 

 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New 

Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 

______________, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Rebecca Leavings 

      City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2728 

Page 3 

 

 



 1 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING 

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

Date:     JULY 13, 2017 
 

• CASE:  P-0717-34 
 

• REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Vestavia Hills R-1 Vestavia Hills O-1 
 

•    ADDRESS/LOCATION:  3111 Pine Tree Dr. 
 

• APPLICANT/OWNER: June Pryor 
 

• REPRESNTING AGENT: Todd Thompson 
 

• GENERAL DISCUSSION:  Property is on Pine Tree Dr. and adjacent to property 
rezoned at the end of last year for an ENT medical office.  Applicant is seeking 
rezoning to build a second office building (1,600 sq. ft. +/-). The proposed building 
meets all requirements of an O-1 zoning, including parking and buffering. The 
proposed architecture is similar to what was approved at the adjacent lot. Currently, 
the project sits on two lots; however, the lots would be recombined after rezoning is 
approved. A proposed site plan and tree save plan is attached.  

 
• CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN:  The request is consistent with the 

Cahaba Heights Community Plan for limited mixed use/open space. Additionally, the 
property directly south is already zoned O-1 

 
• STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 

 
1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 

subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.    

 
City Planner Recommendation:  Rezoning conditioned on resurvey 
approval/recordation. 
 

2. City Engineer Review:  Approval needed on creek and drainage. 
 
3. City Fire Marshal Review: I will review for possible fire hydrant location 

and driveway/parking access. 
 



 2 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request.  

 
MOTION  Mr. Burrell made a motion to recommend rezoning approval 3111 Pine Tree Dr. 
from Vestavia Hills R-1 to Vestavia Hills O-1 with the following conditions: 

 
A. Based on renderings presented. 
 

Second was by Mr. Weaver. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows: 
 
Mr. Goodwin – yes   Mr. Burrell – yes            
Mr. Wolfe – yes    Mr. Brooks – yes 
Mr. Weaver – yes    Mr. House – yes   
Mrs. Cobb – yes    Mr. Larson – yes   
Motion carried 

 
 
 

























Sources: Esri, HERE, DeLorme, Intermap, increment P Corp.,
GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL,
Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan, METI, Esri China (Hong Kong),
swisstopo, MapmyIndia, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS
User Community





Ordinance Number 2729 

Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2729 
  

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 

ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 

AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 

DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM VESTAVIA HILLS R-

1 TO VESTAVIA HILLS B-3 WITH THE CONDITIONAL USE 

FOR A KENNEL 

 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Vestavia Hills R-1 (low density 

residential district) to Vestavia Hills B-3 (business district) with the conditional use for a 

kennel with the zoning limited to B-2 uses and the Council strongly encourages high STC 

sound rating for exterior walls:  

3118 Pine Tree Drive 

June Pryor, Owner(s) 

 

APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 28
th

 day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor  

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2729 

Page 2 

 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATION: 
 

 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2729 is a true and 

correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills on the 28
th

 day of August, 2017 as same appears in the official records of 

said City. 

 

 Posted at Vestavia Hills City Hall, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, New 

Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 

______________, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Rebecca Leavings 

      City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Ordinance Number 2729 

Page 3 

 

 

 

 

 



 1 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING 

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

Date:     JULY 13, 2017 
 

• CASE:  P-0317-07 
 

• REQUESTED ACTION: from Vestavia Hills R-1 to Vestavia Hills B-3 With A 
Conditional Use For A Kennel 

 
•    ADDRESS/LOCATION:  3118 Pine Tree Dr. 

 
• APPLICANT/OWNER: June Pryor 

 
• REPRESNTING AGENT: Engineering Design Group 

 
• GENERAL DISCUSSION:  Property is on NE corner of Pine Tree Dr. and Pine 

Tree Cir. and consists of two lots.  Applicant is seeking rezoning and Conditional Use 
for a pet boarding facility. The boarding facility would be the Pawms Pet Resort 
which would relocate from their site on Rocky Ridge Rd. The proposed building 
would be 8,115 sq. ft. with 29 parking spaces, exceeding the zoning requirements. 
The owner will also construct a sidewalk along the front. A site plan is attached. 

 
The facility would have no outdoor kennels but instead play in an indoor courtyard in 
the center of the facility. There will be no outdoor kennels. A rendering is attached. 
As required by the zoning ordinance, kennels require conditional use approval. A 
description of the business by the owner/operator is attached. 

 
• CAHABA HEIGHTS COMMUNITY PLAN:  The request is consistent with the 

Cahaba Heights Community Plan for limited mixed use.  
 

• STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 
 

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.    

 
City Planner Recommendation:  Zoning contingent on resurvey being.   
 

2. City Engineer Review:  Will continue to evaluate based on Timberlake Dr. 
improvements. 

 



 2 

3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 
issues with this request.  
 
4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 

issues with this request.  
 

MOTION  Mr. Wolfe made a motion to recommend rezoning approval 3118 Pine Tree Dr. 
from Vestavia Hills R-1 to Vestavia Hills B-3 With A Conditional Use For A Kennel with the 
following conditions: 

 
A. Zoning limited to B-2 uses; 
B. Strongly encourage high STC sound rating for exterior walls. 
 

Second was by Mr. Burrell. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows: 
 
Mr. Goodwin – yes   Mr. Burrell – yes            
Mr. Wolfe – yes    Mr. Brooks – yes 
Mr. Weaver – yes    Mr. House – yes   
Mrs. Cobb – yes    Mr. Larson – yes   
Motion carried 

 
 

















Plot Layout 2.dgn 6/14/2017 2:07:36 PM





Resolution Number 4974 

Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4974 
 

A RESOLUTION FOR APPROVAL OF THE FINAL 10% 

OF THE BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, 

ALABAMA FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2016-2017 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, at its 

regular meeting of August 22, 2016, adopted and approved Resolution Number 4866 to 

adopt 90% of a General Fund budget, 90% of a Special Revenue Fund budget, 90% of a 

Capital Project Fund budget and 90% of a Sidewalk Fund Budget for the fiscal year 

2016-2017; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, wishes to 

adopt the final portion (10%) of aforesaid budgets for the fiscal year 2016-2017. 

 

Total Budget Recap 

 
 General Funds Special Funds Capital Projects 

Funds 

Sidewalk 

Projects Fund 

Total Budget Approved  

$  37,238,529.00 

 

$  2,893,517.00 

 

$     1,194,463.00 

 

$      120,000.00 

Less 90% approved in Res. 

4308 & 4233 

 

$  33,514,676.00 

 

$  2,604,165.00 

 

$     1,075,017.00 

 

$      108,000.00 

 

Final 10% to be approved 

 

$    3,723,853.00 

 

$     289,352.00 

 

$        119,446.00 

 

$        12,000.00 

 
 

 BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

that the final portion of the annual budget amounting to $3,723,853.00 (general funds), 

$289,352.00 (special funds), $119,446 (capital projects funds) and $12,000 (Sidewalk 

Projects Fund) for the fiscal year 2016-2017 is hereby adopted. 

 

 



Resolution Number 4974 

Page 2 

 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 28
th

 day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings  

City Clerk 

 



Resolution Number 4975 

Page 1 

 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4975 
 

 A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ADOPTING 

THE GENERAL FUND BUDGET, A SPECIAL 

REVENUE FUND BUDGET, A CAPITAL PROJECT 

FUND BUDGET, AND A SIDEWALK PROJECT 

FUND BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF VESTAVIA 

HILLS FOR THE PERIOD BEGINNING OCTOBER 

1, 2017 UNTIL SEPTEMBER 30, 2018. 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared and presented a “general fund 

budget” which has been reviewed and amended by the City Council for said period 

reflecting anticipated expenditures in the amount of $38,696,171 including transfers out, 

to be effective for the period beginning October 1, 2017, through September 30, 2018; 

and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared a “special fund budget” for said 

period reflecting anticipated expenditures in the amount of $3,969,049 including transfers 

from the General Fund, to be effective for the period beginning October 1, 2017, through 

September 30, 2018; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared a “capital projects fund budget” for 

said period reflecting expenditures in the amount of $2,408,956 to be effective for the 

period beginning October 1, 2017, through September 30, 2018. 

 WHEREAS, the City Manager has prepared a “community spaces fund budget” 

for said period reflecting expenditures in the amount of $582,420 to be effective for the 

period beginning October 1, 2017, through September 30, 2018. 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43-57, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides as follows: 

 Annual appropriation of funds for expenditures of all 

departments and interest on indebtedness:  In all cities, the 

Council shall appropriate the sums necessary for the 

expenditures of the several City departments and for the 

interest on its bonded and other indebtedness, not 

exceeding in the aggregate within ten (10) percent of its 



Resolution Number 4975 

Page 2 

 

estimated expenses, and such City Council shall not 

appropriate in the aggregate an amount in excess of its 

annual legally authorized revenue.  But, nothing in this 

section shall prevent such cities from anticipating their 

revenues for the year for which such appropriation was 

made, or from contracting for temporary loans as provided 

in the applicable provision of this title, or from bonding or 

refunding their outstanding indebtedness or from 

appropriating anticipated revenue at any time for the 

current expenses of the City and interest on the bonded and 

other indebtedness of the City; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$34,826,554, of the municipal “general fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills for 

fiscal year 2017-2018 upon the terms, conditions, and provisions set forth below; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$3,572,144, of the municipal “special revenue fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills 

for fiscal year 2017-2018 upon the terms, conditions and provisions set forth below; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$2,168,060, of the “capital project fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills for fiscal 

year 2017-2018 upon the terms, conditions and provisions set forth below. 

 WHEREAS, the City Council agrees to approve and adopt ninety (90) percent, or 

$524,178, of the “sidewalk project fund budget” for the City of Vestavia Hills for fiscal 

year 2017-2018 upon the terms, conditions and provisions set forth below. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

   1.  The municipal “general fund budget” for the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City Council is 

hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $34,826,554, which said 

amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated expenses: 



Resolution Number 4975 

Page 3 

 

$38,696,171 multiplied by 90% equals 

$34,826,554; and 

 

   2.  The municipal “special revenue fund budget” for the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City 

Council is hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $3,572,144 

which said amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated 

expenses: 

$3,969,049 multiplied by 90% equals 

$3,572,144; and 

 

   3.  The “capital projects fund budget” for the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City Council is 

hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $2,168,060 which said 

amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated expenses: 

$2,408,956 multiplied by 90% equals 

$2,168,060; and 

 

   4.  The “community spaces fund budget” for the City of Vestavia 

Hills, Alabama, prepared by the City Manager and submitted to the City Council is 

hereby approved and adopted to the extent of expenditures of $524,178 which said 

amount is not exceeding the aggregate within ten (10) percent of the estimated expenses: 

$582,420 multiplied by 90% equals 

$524,178; and 

 

   5.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to expend the sum of 

$34,826,554 from the General Fund, $3,572,144 from the Special Revenue Fund, 

$2,168,060 from the Capital Projects Fund, and $524,178 from the Community Spaces 



Resolution Number 4975 

Page 4 

 

Fund for municipal expenses for the period beginning October 1, 2017, and ending 

September 30, 2018. 

   6.  Copies of the budget outlines are attached hereto, marked as 

Exhibit “A” and incorporated into this Resolution by reference as though set out fully 

herein. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, this Resolution shall become effective 

immediately upon its approval and adoption. 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 11
th

 day of September, 2017. 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor  

 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 









RESOLUTION NUMBER 4976 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE AND 

DELIVER AN ADDENDUM TO THE EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT FOR 

THE CITY MANAGER 

 

 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Mayor is hereby authorized to execute and deliver a Third Addendum to 

Employment Contract for Jeffrey D. Downes as City Manager; and 

2. Copy of said contract is attached to this Resolution Number 4976 marked as “Exhibit A” 

and is incorporated by reference as though written fully therein; and 

3. This Resolution Number 4976 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 16
th

 day of August, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

      Ashley C. Curry 

      Mayor 

ATTESTED BY: 

 

 

 

 

Rebecca Leavings 

City Clerk 



STATE OF ALABAMA 

                  

JEFFERSON COUNTY 

                  

THIRD ADDENDUM TO 

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT FOR CITY MANAGER 
                  

 WITNESSETH THIS THIRD ADDENDUM TO EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT 

FOR CITY MANAGER, made and entered into on this the _______ day of August, 2017, by 

and between the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as employer, (“City”) and Jeffrey D. Downes, 

as employee, (“City Manager”). 

WITNESSETH THESE RECITALS: 

 WHEREAS, on May 31, 2013, the City, as employer, and City Manager, as employee, 

entered into a written Employment Contract (“contract”) wherein the City employed the City 

Manager for a two (2) year term beginning July 15, 2013 and ending July 15, 2015 for and in 

consideration of an annual salary of One Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($150,000.00) plus 

other benefits pursuant to the Council-Manager Act of 1982 as amended by Act Number 2010-

544; and 

 WHEREAS, on May 29, 2015, the City and City Manager executed and delivered a First 

Addendum to Employment Contract for City Manager, which extended the term of said 

Employment Contract to September 30, 2015 and further provided that the City Manager is in 

fact an employee of the City and shall receive increases in compensation when the City Council 

approves and authorizes cost of living increases in wages for all employees; and 

 WHEREAS, on May 29, 2015, the City and City Manager executed and delivered a 

Second Addendum to Employment Contract for City Manager, which extended the term of said 

Employment Contract so that said term would end on September 30, 2018; and  

 WHEREAS, the City presently pays to the City Manager an annual salary in the amount 

of One Hundred Sixty-one Thousand Five Hundred Sixty-nine Dollars ($161,569.00); and 

 WHEREAS, Title 11-43A-18, Code of Alabama, 1975, provides among other things that 

the City and City Manager may enter into a contract for an indefinite term; and 

 WHEREAS, the City and City Manager wish to further amend the Employment Contract 

and have agreed that it is in the best interest to both parties that this agreement be reduced to 

writing and duly executed and delivered. 

Exhibit A 



Third Addendum to 

Employment Contract for City Manager 

page 2 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  That the City 

and City Manager expressly and mutually covenant and agree as follows: 

 1. EXTENSION OF CONTRACT TERM:  Effective October 1, 2017, the term of 

this Employment Contract shall be for a period of three (3) years beginning on October 1, 2017 

and ending on September 30, 2020. 

 2. AUTOMATIC RENEWAL:  The City and City Manager mutually agree and 

understand that as of October 1, 2018, and each following October 1
st
, another year will be added 

to the Employment Contract so as to provide for a continuing three (3) year term; provided, 

however, that on or before June 1, 2018 and on or before every other June 1
st
 thereafter: 

  (a) the City may provide City Manager with written notice that the automatic 

extension of one (1) additional year will not occur, for any reason or no reason; and 

  (b) the City Manager may provide City with written notice that the automatic 

extension of one (1) additional year will not occur, for any reason or no reason. 

 3. INCREASE IN ANNUAL SALARY:  The annual base salary shall be increased 

to One Hundred Ninety Thousand Dollars ($190,000.00) per year payable at the times and in 

accordance with payroll procedures of the City beginning on the date of execution and delivery 

of this Third Addendum to Employment Contract by City and City Manager. 

 4. STEP INCREASES IN COMPENSATION:  All merit employees receive a five 

percent (5%) annual merit increase in salary until maximum step is attained.  Therefore, 

beginning October 1, 2018, the City shall pay to City Manager a five percent (5%) annual merit 

increase in salary based upon evaluation during the term of this contract and any extension 

thereof; provided, however, the City shall not be obligated to pay more than a total of six annual 

merit increases.  Stated another way, in no event shall the City be required to pay such an annual 

merit increase after September 30, 2024. 

 5. DEFERRED COMPENSATION:   Pursuant to the authority of Title 11-91-1, et 

seq., Code of Alabama, 1975, the City Manager, at any time during the term of this Employment 

Contract, or any extension thereof, shall have the right to defer a portion of his compensation 

utilizing a Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan or other financial planning tool as 

requested by him. 



Third Addendum to 

Employment Contract for City Manager 

page 3 

 

 

 6. CONFIRMATION AND RATIFICATION OF CONTRACT AS 

AMENDED:  The City and City Manager further agree that any and all terms, provisions and 

conditions of the Employment Contract, dated May 31, 2013, as amended twice on May 29, 

2015, that are not amended by this Third Addendum, are hereby ratified, approved and confirmed 

by the parties so that the same shall remain in full force and effect. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama has caused this Third 

Addendum to Employment Contract of City Manager to be executed by its duly authorized 

officers and its seal to be hereunder affixed; and Jeffrey D. Downes has hereunto set his hand and 

seal, all being done in duplicate originals with one (1) original being delivered to each party on 

this the __________ day of August, 2017. 

 

      CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

                   

 

      By_______________________________________ 

       Ashley C. Curry 

       Its Mayor 

ATTESTED: 

                  

 

By___________________________________ 

 Rebecca Leavings 

 City Clerk 

 

 

 

                      __________________________________________ 

       Jeffrey D. Downes 

WITNESSED: 

                  

 

By___________________________________ 

 



Third Addendum to 

Employment Contract for City Manager 

page 4 

 

 

STATE OF ALABAMA 

JEFFERSON COUNTY 

                  

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

                  

 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 

certify that Ashley C. Curry, whose name as Mayor of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama is 

signed to the foregoing Third Addendum to Employment Contract for City Manager, and who is 

known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that being informed of the contents of the 

agreement, he in his capacity as such and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for 

and as the act of said City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama on the day the same bears date. 

                  

 Given under my hand and official seal, this the __________ day of August, 2017. 

 

 

      __________________________________________ 

       Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

____________________ 

SEAL 

 

STATE OF ALABAMA 

JEFFERSON COUNTY 

                  

GENERAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

                  

 I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public, in and for said County, in said State, hereby 

certify that Jeffrey D. Downes, whose name is signed to the foregoing Third Addendum to 

Employment Contract for City Manager and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on 

this day that being informed of the contents of the agreement, he executed the same voluntarily 

on the day the same bears date. 

                  

 Given under my hand and official seal, this the __________ day of August, 2017. 

                  

                  

      __________________________________________ 

       Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

____________________ 

SEAL 


	2017_0814CC_A
	2017_0619CC_work session
	2017_0717CC_work session
	2017_0724CC_M
	Resolution 4964
	Annexation_Packet_2017_June.pdf
	Tax_Information
	Subject_Property_1644_Shades_Crest_Rd

	Annex_Letter
	Annexation_Resolution
	Fire_Dues_Letter
	Final_survey
	GIS_topo
	05_11_17_CONCEPT PLAN
	zoning_certificate_Jeff_Co
	VH_Zoning_For_Area

	VH_R-2

	VH_Conservation_Subdivsion



	Resolution 4968
	2600_Kingswood_Rd_Packet.pdf
	DSC_0003
	DSC_0004
	DSC_0006
	DSC_0007
	DSC_0009
	DSC_0010


	Resolution 4969
	1600_Gentilly Drive_Packet.pdf
	1600 _Gentilly_Dr_Report
	DSC_0011
	DSC_0012
	DSC_0013
	DSC_0014
	DSC_0015
	DSC_0016
	DSC_0017
	IMG_1943
	IMG_1944


	Ordinance 2724
	Resolution 4971
	Resolution 4972
	Resolution 4973
	Ordinance 2725
	Ordinance 2726
	Ordinance 2727
	P-0717-36_Final_Packet.pdf
	P-0717-36
	Date:     JULY 13, 2017

	App
	Sunview pricing plan 06122017
	Sunview zoning exhibit 06082017
	Vicinity Map
	Zoning
	App


	Ordinance 2728
	P-0717-34_Final_Packet.pdf
	P-0717-34
	Date:     JULY 13, 2017

	App1
	Zoning
	Comp


	Ordinance 2729
	P-0717-33_Final_Packet.pdf
	P-0717-33
	Date:     JULY 13, 2017

	App
	Plot Layout 2
	Rendering


	Resolution 4974
	Resolution 4975
	Resolution 4976

	Text1: EXHIBIT A


